SARJA - SER. D OSA - TOM. 952 MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

QUANTIFICATION OF PROTEINS AND CELLS

Luminometric Nonspecific Particle-Based Methods

by

Sari Pihlasalo

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2011 From the Laboratory of Biophysics, Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy, University of Turku; Medicity Research Laboratories; and the Graduate School of Chemical Sensors and Microanalytical Systems, Finland

Supervised by

Docent Harri Härmä, PhD Laboratory of Biophysics Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy University of Turku Turku, Finland

and

Professor Pekka Hänninen, PhD Laboratory of Biophysics Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy University of Turku Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Dmitri B. Papkovsky, PhD Laboratory of Biophysics and Bioanalysis Department of Biochemistry University College Cork Cork, Ireland

and

Professor Matti Vuento, PhD Nanoscience Center and Department of Biological and Environmental Science University of Jyväskylä Jyväskylä, Finland

Opponent

Professor Ari Ivaska, PhD Laboratory of Analytical Chemistry Department of Chemical Engineering Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland

ISBN 978-951-29-4553-5 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-4554-2 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland, 2011

"In the field of observation, chance favors only the prepared mind." Louis Pasteur

ABSTRACT

Author:	Sari Pihlasalo
Title of thesis:	Quantification of Proteins and Cells:
	Luminometric Nonspecific
	Particle-Based Methods
Place:	Laboratory of Biophysics
	Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy
Publication series:	Annales Universitatis Turkuensis
	Turku, Finland, 2011

University of Turku, Faculty of Medicine

New luminometric particle-based methods were developed to quantify protein and to count cells. The developed methods rely on the interaction of the sample with nano- or microparticles and different principles of detection. In fluorescence quenching, timeresolved luminescence resonance energy transfer (TR-LRET), and two-photon excitation fluorescence (TPX) methods, the sample prevents the adsorption of labeled protein to the particles. Depending on the system, the addition of the analyte increases or decreases the luminescence. In the dissociation method, the adsorbed protein protects the Eu(III) chelate on the surface of the particles from dissociation at a low pH. The experimental setups are user-friendly and rapid and do not require hazardous test compounds and elevated temperatures. The sensitivity of the quantification of protein (from 40 to 500 pg bovine serum albumin in a sample) was 20-500-fold better than in most sensitive commercial methods. The quenching method exhibited low protein-to-protein variability and the dissociation method insensitivity to the assay contaminants commonly found in biological samples. Less than ten eukaryotic cells were detected and quantified with all the developed methods under optimized assay conditions. Furthermore, two applications, the method for detection of the aggregation of protein and the cell viability test, were developed by utilizing the TR-LRET method. The detection of the aggregation of protein was allowed at a more than 10,000 times lower concentration, 30 μ g/L, compared to the known methods of UV240 absorbance and dynamic light scattering. The TR-LRET method was combined with a nucleic acid assay with cell-impermeable dye to measure the percentage of dead cells in a single tube test with cell counts below 1000 cells/tube.

Keywords: adsorption of proteins, cell counting, energy transfer, fluorescence, luminescence, quantification of proteins

TIIVISTELMÄ

Sari Pihlasalo
Proteiini- ja solupitoisuuden määrittäminen:
Luminometriset epäspesifiset
partikkeliperusteiset menetelmät
Biofysiikan laboratorio
Solubiologian ja anatomian laitos
Annales Universitatis Turkuensis
Turku, 2011

Turun yliopisto, Lääketieteellinen tiedekunta

Väitöskirjatyössä kehitettiin uusia luminometrisia partikkeliperusteisia menetelmiä proteiini- ja solupitoisuuden määrittämiseen. Kehitetyt menetelmät hyödyntävät näytteen ja nano- tai mikropartikkelien välistä vuorovaikutusta ja erilaisia detektioperiaatteita. Fluoresenssin sammutukseen, aikaerotteiseen luminesenssin resonanssienergiansiirtoon (TR-LRET) ja kaksoisfotoniviritteiseen fluoresenssiin (TPX) perustuvissa menetelmissä näyte estää leimatun proteiinin adsorption partikkelien pinnalle. Analyytin läsnäolon vuoksi luminesenssi joko kasvaa tai laskee systeemistä riippuen. Dissosiaatioon perustuvassa menetelmässä adsorboitunut proteiini suojaa partikkelien pinnalla sijaitsevaa Eu(III)-kelaattia dissosioivalta matalalta pH:lta. Kehitetyt menetelmät ovat käyttäjäystävällisiä ja nopeita, eivätkä vaadi vaarallisia reagensseja ja korkeaa lämpötilaa. Proteiinin kvantitoinnin herkkyydet (40-500 pg härän seerumin albumiinia näytteessä) olivat 20-500-kertaisesti paremmat herkimpään kaupalliseen menetelmään nähden. Sammutusmenetelmässä eri proteiinien aikaansaaman vasteen vaihtelu oli pieni ja dissosiaatiomenetelmä sieti biologisissa näytteissä yleisesti esiintyviä häiritseviä aineita. Alle kymmenen eukaryoottisolua näytteessä voitiin havaita ja kvantitoida kaikilla kehitetyillä menetelmillä optimoiduissa määritysolosuhteissa. Lisäksi kehitettiin kaksi TR-LRET-menetelmää hyödyntävää sovellutusta: proteiinin aggregaation havaitseminen ja soluviabiliteettitesti. Proteiiniaggregaatio voitiin havaita pitoisuudella 30 µg/L, joka on yli 10 000 kertaa pienempi kuin tunnettujen UV240-absorbanssi- ja fotonikorrelaatiospektroskopiamenetelmien vaatima näytteen pitoisuus. TR-LRET-menetelmä yhdistettiin solumembraania läpäisemätöntä nukleiinihappoväriä hyödyntävän menetelmän kanssa, jotta pystyttiin mittaamaan kuolleiden solujen osuus ainoastaan yhden koeputken vaativassa testissä alle 1000 solun näytemäärällä.

Avainsanat: energiansiirto, fluoresenssi, luminesenssi, proteiiniadsorptio, proteiinipitoisuuden määrittäminen, solulaskenta

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
TIIVISTELMÄ	5
CONTENTS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	8
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	10
1 INTRODUCTION	11
2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE	13
2.1 Absorbance	13
2.2 Luminescence	15
2.2.1 Conventional Fluorometry	16
2.2.2 Time-Resolved Luminometry	18
2.2.3 Applications of Luminescence	19
2.3 Assay Formats	22
2.4 ADSORPTION OF PROTEINS	23
2.5 METHODS FOR QUANTIFICATION OF PROTEINS	28
2.5.1 Kjeldahl Method	28
2.5.2 Absorbance-Based Methods	29
2.5.3 Fluorescence-Based Methods	35
2.5.4 Exploitation of Adsorption of Proteins for Quantification of Proteins	38
2.5.5 Summary of Methods for Quantification of Proteins	40
2.6 COUNTING OF CELLS	44
2.6.1 Methods for Counting of Total Cell Numbers	44
2.6.2 Methods for Counting of Viable Cell Numbers	52
2.6.3 Summary of Methods for Counting of Cells	62
2.7 VIABILITY TESTS	66
3 AIMS	72
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	73
4.1 LABELING OF PROTEINS AND PARTICLES WITH LUMINESCENT DYES	73
4.2 PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES OF DEVELOPED METHODS	73
4.2.1 Quantification of Proteins and Counting of Cells with Quenching and	
TR-LRET Nanoparticle Assays (I-III, unpublished) and Viability Test (II)	73
4.2.2 Detection of Aggregation of Protein (III)	76
4.2.3 Quantification of Proteins and Counting of Cells with Microparticle Assay	
Exploiting Two-Photon Excitation (unpublished)	76
4.2.4 Quantification of Proteins with Nanoparticle Assay Based on Dissociation	
of Chelated Eu ³⁺ (IV)	77
4.3 INSTRUMENTS AND MEASUREMENT OF LUMINESCENCE	78
5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	80
5.1 METHODS FOR QUANTIFICATION OF TOTAL PROTEIN (I,III,IV,UNPUBLISHED)	80
5.2 METHODS FOR COUNTING OF TOTAL CELL NUMBERS (II, UNPUBLISHED)	84
5.3 Cell Viability Test (II)	88
5.4 METHOD FOR DETECTION OF AGGREGATION OF PROTEIN (III)	90

6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	93
7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	96
8 REFERENCES	97
APPENDIX 1: REFERENCES FOR TABLE 2	
APPENDIX 2: REFERENCES FOR TABLE 3	
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	

ABBREVIATIONS

2PE	two-photon excitation			
Α	acceptor			
Alexa532	Alexa Fluor 532			
Alexa680	Alexa Fluor 680			
AM	amino-modified			
AMP	adenosine monophosphate			
ATP	adenosine triphosphate			
ATPase	adenosine triphosphate degrading enzyme			
BCA	bicinchoninic acid			
BF530	dipyrrylmethene-BF ₂ 530			
BrdU	5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine			
BSA	albumin from bovine serum			
CBQCA	3-(4-carboxybenzoyl)quinoline-2-carboxaldehyde			
CFDA-SE	carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester			
CFU	colony forming unit			
СНО	Chinese Hamster Ovarian			
СМ	carboxylate-modified			
CMC	critical micelle concentration			
CV	coefficient of variation			
D	donor			
DELFIA	dissociation enhanced lanthanide fluorescence immunoassay			
DLS	dynamic light scattering			
DMF	dimethylformamide			
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid			
DNase	deoxyribonucleic acid degrading enzyme			
dsDNA	double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid			
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid			
FBS	fetal bovine serum			
FRET	fluorescence resonance energy transfer			
γG	γ-globulin			
HEK	Human Embryonic Kidney			
INT	2-p-iodophenyl-3-p-nitrophenyltetrazolium chloride			
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase			
LOD	limit of detection			
LRET	luminescence resonance energy transfer			
LTS	low-throughput screening			
LYS	lysozyme			
MTS	3-(4,5-dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-			
	(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium			
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2 <i>H</i> -tetrazolium			
	bromide			
NAD^+	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide			
NADP ⁺	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate			
OPA	o-phthaldialdehyde			
PEG	polyethylene glycol			
PBS	phosphate buffered saline			
PCV	packed cell volume			

pI	isoelectric point
PS	polystyrene
RT	room temperature
TPX	two-photon excitation technique
TR	time-resolved
Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
TRL	time-resolved luminescence
UV	ultraviolet
UV205	absorbance measurement at 205 nm
UV240	absorbance measurement at 240 nm
UV280	absorbance measurement at 280 nm
VIS	visible

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Sari Pihlasalo, Jonna Kirjavainen, Pekka Hänninen & Harri Härmä (2009) An Ultrasensitive Protein Concentration Measurement Based on Particle Adsorption and Fluorescence Quenching. *Analytical Chemistry*, 81: 4995–5000.
- II Sari Pihlasalo, Lotta Pellonperä, Eija Martikkala, Pekka Hänninen & Harri Härmä (2010)
 Sensitive Fluorometric Nanoparticle Assays for Cell Counting and Viability. *Analytical Chemistry*, 82: 9282–9288.
- III Sari Pihlasalo, Jonna Kirjavainen, Pekka Hänninen & Harri Härmä (2011) High Sensitivity Luminescence Nanoparticle Assay for the Detection of Protein Aggregation. *Analytical Chemistry*, 83: 1163–1166.
- IV Sari Pihlasalo, Antti Kulmala, Pekka Hänninen & Harri Härmä (2011) Sensitive Luminometric Method for Quantification of Proteins Based on Particle Adsorption and Dissociation of Chelated Europium. Submitted to Analytical Chemistry.

In addition, unpublished data is presented.

The original publications have been reproduced with the permission of the copyright holders.

The quantification of total protein and counting of cells are important and basic measurements in biological laboratories on a daily basis. Several methods have been developed to accomplish the task. Generally, the strive for the bioassays has been in developing simple, rapid, sensitive, and versatile systems that are capable of handling high numbers of samples. Thus, an effort has been made towards developing sensitive homogeneous assays, as separation-free assays are typically easier for the end-users than heterogeneous assays. First cuvette and microtiter plate methods for the quantification of proteins emerged from the 1940's to the 1960's. Although the assay sensitivities and experimental techniques have been improved, they still are limiting factors.

Recently, the most commonly used techniques to determine protein concentration utilize absorbance or fluorescence detection. Bradford (Bradford, 1976), Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951), and BCA (Smith et al., 1985) are popular absorbance-based methods. However, they have limited sensitivity and dynamic range, and contaminants commonly found in biological samples interfere with all methods, and both Lowry and BCA methods require an impractical heating step. The Bradford method has high protein-to-protein variability, which prevents the precise quantification of unknown proteins or protein mixtures. Fluorescence-based methods, such as OPA (Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993; Roth, 1971), CBQCA (You et al., 1997), and NanoOrange (Jones et al., 2003), are generally more sensitive than absorbance-based methods. However, even higher sensitivities and more user-friendly setups are desired, as these methods contain heating steps, long incubations, and/or toxic reagents. Furthermore, the methods are sensitive to contaminants. All commercially available methods are based on the specific identification of protein chemical groups (Liu et al., 1991; You et al., 1997), or the interaction of the protein surface with dye (Bradford, 1976; Lowry et al., 1951; Peterson, 1977; Smith et al., 1985) and/or detergent molecules (Jones et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2003), making them susceptible to protein-to-protein variability. Relatively sensitive absorbance methods utilizing the adsorption of protein to particles have been developed and reported in the literature (Ciesiolka & Gabius, 1988; Stoscheck, 1987). The adsorption is rather independent from the number of the functional groups in proteins and thus, it suggests that the development of the luminometric adsorption-based method could provide high sensitivity and low protein-to-protein variability.

Cells are generally counted using a light microscope in a manual counting chamber, which is a laborious, subjective, and inaccurate method. Automated cell counters improve reliability, precision, and speed, but a relatively high number of cells and costly instruments are required. A number of microtiter plate methods, such as the detection of cellular metabolic activity (Corey et al., 1997; Karmazsin et al., 1979; Kwah, 2001; Yang et al., 1996) and total nucleic acid (Gillies et al., 1986; Jones et al., 2001; Stewart et al., 2000), are also available. However, they have limitations in sensitivity, experimental setup, and responses to different cells. Due to the increasing need for cell biology research at very low cell concentrations, the sensitive counting of cells is essential. The adenosine triphosphate (ATP) assay is the only commercially available method detecting less than 10 cells (Van Lune & Ter, 2003). However, this assay has disadvantages: ATP content varies between cells, only viable cells are quantified, and the assay components are contaminated easily.

New methods are needed for both the quantification of proteins and counting of cells. This thesis reports on the development of several simple and sensitive luminometric particle-based methods. All developed methods are based on the nonspecific interaction between nano- or microparticles and the analyte. Fluorescence quenching, two-photon excitation fluorescence, time-resolved luminescence, and time-resolved luminescence resonance energy transfer are exploited in the detection.

2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE

This chapter gives an overview on absorbance and luminescence phenomena, their use in the detection of molecules and development of different methods, a short theory on the factors affecting adsorption of proteins, and a review of the available methods for the quantification of proteins, counting of cells, and assessment of viability.

2.1 ABSORBANCE

In biological and biochemical research, absorbance measurements are typically made in buffer solutions, in which, besides water and buffer components, biological and organic compounds absorb light. The energies of the photons in ultraviolet (UV) and visible (VIS) regions are sufficiently high for transferring the electrons to the higher electron levels of the molecules. Due to the quantized energy states of electrons in molecules, the distribution of the energies of absorbed photons is discrete. As each electronic transition has a defined energy and a specific wavelength, the corresponding wavelength spectrum is characteristic of the structure of the compound and may be obtained from quantummechanics. Due to arduous exact calculations, the interpretation of the absorption spectra of the complex structures has been simplified by explaining the observed bands by the substructures or fragments of the entire molecule. The type of the valence electrons involved in chemical bonds and corresponding molecular orbitals (σ , π , and n) are responsible for the features of the UV-VIS spectra. The different positions, orbital shapes, and energy levels of the orbitals and the atoms present affect the absorption of light (Albani, 2004; Harris & Bashford, 1987; Thomas & Burgess, 2007; Woźniak & Dera, 2007).

In the ground state of a molecule, the relative energies of the valence electrons are determined by their participation in the chemical bond (Figure 1). The energy of nelectron is the highest (zero), as it does not participate in the chemical bond. The energy of σ electron is lower than the energy of π electron, as mobile π electrons form less stable bonds than σ electrons. Upon the absorption of light, the molecular orbitals split and form excited antibonding orbitals (σ^* or π^*), whose energies are higher than the energy of the nonbonding state *n*. Possible transitions of electrons are shown in Figure 1. The transition energies correspond to the wavelengths of light in the order: $\lambda(\sigma \to \sigma^*) < \lambda(n \to \sigma^*) < \lambda(n \to \sigma^*)$ $\lambda(\pi \to \pi^*) < \lambda(n \to \pi^*)$. This order may be seen in the absorption spectra of different molecules. The $\sigma \rightarrow \sigma^*$ transitions occur typically in the far UV region (~100-150 nm) and are characteristic of saturated organic compounds (single bonds). The $n \to \sigma^*$ and π $\rightarrow \pi^*$ transitions occur in the middle UV region (~150-250 nm). The $n \rightarrow \sigma^*$ transitions are characteristic of compounds containing atoms with lone electron pairs (e.g. oxygen, nitrogen, and sulfur) and the $\pi \to \pi^*$ transitions of unsaturated organic compounds (double or triple bonds). The $n \to \pi^*$ transitions occur in the near UV and VIS regions (> 250 nm) and are characteristic of compounds containing both atoms with lone electron pairs and double or triple bonds. The $\pi \to \pi^*$ transitions dominate in the middle and near UV regions, as the absorption bands are the most intense (Thomas & Burgess, 2007; Woźniak & Dera, 2007).



Figure 1. Energy states for σ , π , and *n* electrons and transitions between molecular orbitals. Only the lowest excited σ^* and π^* energy states are shown. Modified and redrawn from Woźniak & Dera, 2007.

The conjugation of double bonds enhances the delocalization of the π -electrons. The π electrons can be transferred along the whole conjugated chain. Due to the conjugation, the π and π^* energy levels are split and adjacent π and π^* levels approach each other. For the linear molecules, the increasing conjugation increases the wavelength of the longest-wave and the probability of the transition. There is also an increased probability of the transition for shorter-wave bands in addition to the longest-wave band. For cyclic molecules, similar observations can be made in the series of polyaromatic rings, e.g. from benzene to tetracene. Furthermore, the addition of a hetero-atom with nonbonding *n* electrons to the structure of conjugated π bonds increases the wavelength of the longestwave. The spectra of cyclic polyenes may be even more complicated and extinction coefficients higher compared to linear polyenes. As aromatic hydrocarbons absorb UV and VIS light strongly, they can be detected at low concentrations by the absorption of light (Thomas & Burgess, 2007; Woźniak & Dera, 2007).

The properties of the surrounding medium of the molecule affect its absorption spectrum. Changes in temperature, pH, ionic strength, solvent purity and polarity, and concentration of the molecule, and the interaction with another molecule are possible reasons for observed perturbations. The electronic transitions discussed above should be observed as single lines in spectra. However, more or less wide bands at specified wavelengths are observed. The maximum of the band corresponds to the electronic transition and the rest of the band is the result of the rotational and vibrational transitions. An increase in the number of electrons in the higher rotational and vibrational levels upon a rise in the temperature, widens the absorption band. In polar solvents, the absorption peak is typically shifted towards shorter wavelengths due to the electrostatic interactions requiring high energy for the absorption. Instead, in nonpolar solvents the absorption band is situated at longer wavelengths. The binding of an absorbing molecule to another molecule changes also the environment of the absorbing molecule. For instance, in proteins, the binding sites are typically more hydrophobic than the solvent (water) and the molecules interact due to hydrophobic interaction. This interaction may shift the

absorption maximum towards a longer wavelength compared to the free molecule. Molecules, which change color upon a change in the pH, upon reduction/oxidation, or upon the binding of metal ions, are useful as pH, redox, and complexometry indicators (Albani, 2004; Thomas & Burgess, 2007).

Absorbance is exploited in different quantitative methods for the measurement of the concentration of the analyte molecule in a sample. The quantification is based on the use of the well-known Beer-Lambert law, which describes the linear relation between the concentration of the absorbing molecule, the absorbance coefficient of the absorbing molecule, optical path length, and absorbance. Absorbance measurements require no specific skills, are quite simple and fast. However, the quantification from absorbance may have several drawbacks. Scattering or reflection causes deviations from the Beer-Lambert law. The linearity between absorbance and the concentration of the absorbing molecule may be lost at high concentrations due to the saturation of the photomultiplier, stray light, and the aggregation of the absorbing molecule. At high analyte concentrations, the absorbance can alternatively be read, for instance, in the shoulder of the band, but it will lead to imprecision in positioning the wavelength. The interaction of the absorbent with other molecules may also change the spectrum. Perturbations may also be observed, if the temperature does not remain constant between the measurements, the matrix of the samples is different from the one of the standards, or the light beam does not hit at a normal incidence (Albani, 2004; Harris & Bashford, 1987; Thomas & Burgess, 2007).

2.2 LUMINESCENCE

Luminescence has become an important research tool in clinical chemistry, biochemistry, biophysics, medicine, and biology. Luminescence is widely used, since it is versatile and sensitive, as well as (environmentally) safe. Especially in clinical diagnostics, several assays have been developed for ions and molecules in the blood and immunochemical detection of antigens and drugs (Lakowicz, 2006).

Luminescence detection enables the quantification of different analytes at low concentrations. Luminescent analytes may be quantified directly by detecting inherent luminescence. On the other hand, non-luminescent analytes are quantified indirectly with luminescent compounds. Advanced techniques, such as luminescence resonance energy transfer (LRET), luminescence polarization, and two-photon excitation (TPX), are suitable for the detection of analytes with specific and nonspecific interactions. The sensitivity of absorbance-based assays is typically in the micromolar concentration range, while luminescence-based assays reach sensitivity at a nanomolar range or even at a picomolar range. The reason for this is the different measurement geometries and therefore, the relative change of the signal is larger in the luminescence than in absorbance measurement. The change in luminescence at a low luminescence background level is relatively larger than the small change in transmittance at a high transmittance level (Valeur, 2002).

Luminescence is divided into fluorescence and phosphorescence. In fluorescence, the return of the excited electron from a singlet excited state to the ground state is spin allowed. Thus, the fluorescence lifetime is short, typically near 10 ns. In phosphorescence, the return occurs from the triplet excited state and is forbidden transition. Thus, the phosphorescence lifetime is relatively long, typically 1-1000 ms (Albani, 2004; Hemmilä, 1991; Lakowicz, 2006).

2.2.1 Conventional Fluorometry

Fluorescence is the emission of light, which involves the singlet–singlet transition of an electron in a molecule (Figure 2). The generation of fluorescence begins from the excitation, in which the molecule absorbs light and one of its electrons is raised from the lowest ground level S_0 to one of the excited levels S_1 - S_n . The absorption of light is mostly followed by rapid internal conversion, in which the electron relaxes to the lowest vibrational level of S_1 and the excess vibrational energy is dissipated in the surrounding environment. Fluorescence is a process, where the electron returns initially to a higher vibrational ground level and the absorbed energy is dissipated as light. Fluorescence has different competitive processes: the energy absorbed can be dissipated in the solvent as heat, the energy absorbed can be given to the nearby molecules (collisional quenching or energy transfer processes), or the excited electron passes to the excited triplet state. In the final step, the electron returns quickly back to the lowest vibrational ground level. Due to the internal conversion, the fluorescence emission maximum locates at a longer wavelength than the absorbance maximum in the spectra of a fluorescent molecule (Albani, 2004; Harris & Bashford, 1987; Lakowicz, 2006; Stokes, 1852; Valeur, 2002).



Figure 2. Simplified Jabłoński diagram for the processes: absorption, emission (fluorescence or phosphorescence), time-resolved luminescence (lanthanide), and energy transfer (Albani, 2004; Diamandis, 1988; Lakowicz, 2006).

In fluorescence, the electron in the excited state has an opposite spin to the electron in the ground state. Thus, the return of the electron is spin-allowed and typically fast with fluorescence lifetimes of approximately 1-10 ns in conventional fluorometry. Only few organic dyes, like pyrene and coronene, have a fluorescence lifetime longer than 100 ns. Organic compounds, such as coumarin, fluorescein, Nile red, BODIPY, resazurin, and DNA intercalators, containing aromatic ring structures are typical extrinsic dyes that are coupled to a molecule. Intrinsic dyes, which are part of a molecule, also exist. In proteins, usually the fluorescence of the amino acid tryptophan dominates, while the fluorescence of tyrosine and phenylalanine is weaker due to the quenching by the surrounding structure. In nucleic acids, puric and pyrymidic bases are weakly fluorescent.

The dyes are especially characterized not only with a fluorescence lifetime, which is an average of the time for the excited state, but also with a quantum yield, which is the ratio

between the number of photons emitted and the number absorbed. The fluorescence lifetime determines the average time at an excited state to gather information on the interaction between the dye molecule and the environment. Instead, the quantum yield specifies the brightness of the fluorescence (Albani, 2004; Harris, & Bashford, 1987; Lakowicz, 2006).

Fluorescent compounds have their own specific fluorescence properties. Thus, they can be identified from their fluorescence emission spectra. The fluorescence of the dyes depends on their environment, polarity of the solvent, ions, pH, and other physical and chemical properties. Thus, the fluorescent dyes may be suitable for instance in pH and ion sensing or investigating the biological systems via the surrounding environment of the dye. The fluorescence of the dye may also change upon binding to a biomolecule. This property has been used in assays for the quantification of proteins and DNA. The merocyanine dye in the NanoOrange method has weak fluorescence in the absence of protein, but the fluorescence signal is increased, when the dye interacts with detergent-coated protein. Similarly, the fluorescence of DNA intercalating dyes, such as ethidium bromide, increases upon binding to DNA (Albani, 2004; Lakowicz, 2006; Valeur, 2002).

Organic dye molecules have several advantages over many of the available labels. They are smaller in size than enzyme labels and do not require any substrate. Thus, the interference with the performance of the assay and nonspecific binding are assumed to be lower with organic dye molecules than enzyme labels (Hemmilä, 1991). Radioactive probes have waste, storage, and safety concerns. Moreover, the application of electronic paramagnetic resonance probes is limited mainly to molecular mobility studies. Instead, the field of application of fluorescent dyes is wider (Valeur, 2002).

Generally, the disadvantage of organic dyes is generally short Stokes' shifts, which is the energy or wavelength difference between the band maxima of the absorbed and emitted light (Albani, 2004; Lakowicz, 2006). If the absorption or emission spectra possess more than one band, the Stokes' shift is the difference between the most intense bands (Albani, 2004). A short Stokes' shift may cause self-quenching, i.e. fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) between chemically identical molecules (Albani, 2004; Lakowicz, 2006). Self-quenching occurs for instance at high dye concentrations and in highly labeled target molecules. Therefore, for example fluorescein-labeled antibodies with a labeling degree of four, have the most intense fluorescence (Lakowicz, 2006). The excitation and emission maxima at the UV region of the dyes may cause problems in different applications due to personnel safety, interfering autofluorescence, and photobleaching (Kasten, 1993). Other factors reducing the use of conventional fluorescence relates to the detection of short fluorescence lifetime emissions, as the signal is affected by different processes or sources: Rayleigh and Raman scattering, luminescence originating from the instrument and the microtiter plates, and luminescent impurities and biological species in a sample may increase the fluorescence background and decrease the sensitivity of the detection (Hemmilä & Harju, 1994; Valeur, 2002). In conventional fluorometry, the sensitivity is at least 1000-fold lower than in time-resolved luminometry, in which the background signal is largely eliminated (Diamandis, 1991). Moreover, the hydrophobicity of the dye interferes with the quenching assays or the labeling, in which solubility in water is required (Qu et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2007). Although the label compared to the protein is generally small, the label may change the chemical, binding, and adsorption characteristics of the protein (Ball et al., 2003; Hemmilä, 1991).

2.2.2 Time-Resolved Luminometry

In time-resolved luminometry (TRL), the sample is exposed to a light pulse and the decay of the emission is followed. The TRL measurement provides information about the occurring processes or interaction of the dye with its environment during fluorescence emission lifetimes as short as 1 ns. In addition, the TRL measurement is encountered in developing assays with long-luminescence lifetime probes. They enable high sensitivity due to the elimination of the background autofluorescence (Figure 3). Autofluorescence originates from biological material in samples and decays usually in nanoseconds. The long luminescence lifetime enables the measurement after a time delay when the autofluorescence has decreased significantly and long-luminescence lifetime probes continue to emit. The detection is time-gated: the emission is measured over a time window after the delay and integrated (Lakowicz, 2006).



Figure 3. The principle of time-resolved luminometry. Modified and redrawn from Hemmilä & Harju, 1994.

Transition metal-ligand complexes have luminescence lifetimes of 0.01-10 μ s. The transition from a metal-to-ligand charge-transfer state is partially forbidden prolonging the luminescence lifetime (Lakowicz, 2006). Phosphorescent compounds, such as tryptophan and alkaline phosphatase, have luminescence lifetimes typically from milliseconds to seconds due to the intersystem crossing to the triplet excited state. For practical work, the luminescence lifetimes of microseconds are not sufficiently long and the phosphorescence is deactivated quickly in liquids (Hemmilä & Harju, 1994; Lakowicz, 2006).

Lanthanide metals, such as europium and terbium, are popularly used in longluminescence lifetime probes. The luminescence lifetimes are typically 0.5-3 ms (Lakowicz, 2006). Due to the weak absorption of the lanthanide ions, the metals are chelated to easily excitable organic ligands, transferring their excitation energy to the lanthanide ion (Figure 2) (Selvin, 2002). The long luminescence emission lifetime is the consequence of forbidden transitions to 4f orbitals shielded from the solvent by higher filled orbitals (Lakowicz, 2006; Selvin, 2002). Due to the shielding, the lanthanide chelates have narrow emission bands. The lanthanide chelates exhibit also long Stokes' shifts, which decreases the propensity for self-quenching (Hemmilä & Harju, 1994; Selvin, 2002).

The criteria for choosing a suitable lanthanide chelate for assays are mainly universal, but the specific research application may determine the more specific property requirements for the chelate. High luminescence, high stability, and easy labeling are required. A high signal is gained if the chelate protects the ion from quenching by water, absorbs light, and transfers the energy efficiently to the ion. The chelate should be stable, but in certain applications and conditions the release of the ion is desired. The coupling of a chelate to proteins, such as enzymes or antibodies, should be simple and stable and should not affect significantly the binding, adsorption, and other functional properties. The hydrophilicity of the chelates, like organic labels, is needed to avoid the precipitation of the protein–chelate conjugate in water. The chelates consist of mainly three parts: the amine reactive functional group, the excitation energy absorbing part, and ion chelating groups. Examples of the stable chelating and energy directing groups are pyridine, polycarboxylate, and polycyclic structures (Hemmilä & Harju, 1994).

The lanthanides as luminescent labels have also drawbacks. Applications usually require both stable and highly luminescent chelates in assay conditions. If both requirements are not achievable for a single chelate, two-step assays may be needed. In two step setups, the ions are dissociated from the protein conjugates with the essentially non-luminescent complexes, such as Eu^{3+} -EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid). The Eu^{3+} ion is chelated again with a large excess of 1,1,1-trifluoro-4-(2-naphthyl)-butane-2,4-dione and trioctylphosphine oxide chelates in the presence of detergent micelles and an acidic buffer (Hemmilä & Harju, 1994; Lakowicz, 2006). For instance, dissociation enhanced lanthanide luminescence immunoassay (DELFIA) technology utilizes this principle (Hemmilä & Harju, 1994). However, due to the long synthesis, both stable and highly luminescent chelates, such as terpyridine-bis(methylenamine)tetraacetic acid (TMT) and 4-[2-(4-isothiocyanatophenyl)ethynyl]-2,6,-bis{[N,N-bis(carboxyisothiocyanate methyl)amino]methyl}pyridine (TEKES), are costly. In developing commercial assays, the requirement for TRL detection is important to be considered, as the fluorometers with the time-gating mode are not widely available for researchers. Instead, conventional fluorometers are more commonly in use.

2.2.3 Applications of Luminescence

Luminescence Resonance Energy Transfer

Luminescence resonance energy transfer (LRET) is a process between two molecules, a donor and an acceptor (Figure 2). It is a non-radiative process and does not include the absorption of a donor-emitted photon by the acceptor. The excited donor transfers its energy to the acceptor and typically, the emission spectrum of the donor and the absorption spectrum of the acceptor overlap (Förster, 1948; Selvin & Hearst, 1994). In the energy transfer by resonance, the electron of the donor induces an oscillating electric field that excites an electron of the acceptor (Albani, 2004). LRET can occur with two different mechanisms: Förster's or Dexter's mechanism. Förster's mechanism requires Coulombic interactions, which involve long-range dipole–dipole and short-range multipolar interactions. Instead, Dexter's mechanism requires an intermolecular orbital overlap between the donor and acceptor and consists of short-range electron exchange and charge resonance interactions. LRET with Dexter's mechanism occurs at

donor-acceptor distances shorter than 1 nm (Albani, 2004; Valeur, 2002). Thus, LRET with Förster's mechanism may be longer range than LRET with Dexter's mechanism (Albani, 2004; Förster, 1948; Lakowicz, 2006).

Due to the interaction requirements, LRET efficiency is strongly distance-dependent (Figure 4) and inversely proportional to the distance between the donor and the acceptor raised to the power of six. The distance of 50% efficiency is called the Förster distance. Förster distances are usually 2-9 nm, which are similar to the dimensions of proteins. The efficiency approaches 100%, when the distance between the donor and acceptor approaches 0 nm and at the distance of twice the Förster distance, the efficiency is already only 2%. Alternatively, a non-luminescent acceptor can be paired with a donor leading to a detection scheme, where the energy transfer is detected as a decrease of the donor emission. The relative orientation of the dipoles of acceptor and of donor also affects the efficiency of LRET (Albani, 2004; Förster, 1948; Lakowicz, 2006).



Figure 4. The dependence of luminescence resonance energy transfer (LRET) efficiency on the distance between the donor (D) and acceptor (A): a) short distances approximately Förster distance and b) long distances much longer than Förster distance (Förster, 1948; Lakowicz, 2006).

Due to the dependence of the signal on the donor-acceptor distance, the common application of LRET is to measure short distances between different sites on a macromolecule (Cheung, 1991; Lakowicz, 2006). Other applications include the study of receptor-ligand interactions, protein folding, aggregation, conformational changes, association, flexibility of DNA, and the location of different lipids in membranes (Cheung, 1991; Valeur, 2002). A more complete list of the LRET applications is given in Valeur, 2002. Moreover, the distance dependency enables the development of competitive and noncompetitive assays to measure the concentration of analytes. For instance, in LRET immunoassays the sample antigen brings the donor- and acceptor-labeled antibodies together, and the LRET signal is related to the formed complexes and the concentration of the antigen. Another typical example is the measurement of enzyme activity, in which the enzyme cleaves the substrate labeled with LRET pair and separates the donor-acceptor pair.

Luminescence Quenching

Luminescence quenching is a group of processes, in which the luminescence of a substance decreases and can occur by several different mechanisms. The quenching mechanism is determined especially by the concentration of the quencher, the interaction

between the quencher and dye, and the excited-state luminescence lifetime. At high quencher concentrations, the probability is adequately high that the quencher and dye are close enough during the luminescence lifetime for efficient interaction. This typically leads to static quenching. Moreover, static quenching occurs, if non-luminescent ground state complexes are formed between quenchers and dyes or the quencher stays at an effective distance from the dye (the sphere of effective quenching). At lower quencher concentrations, the extent of quenching and the mechanism depends on the diffusion rate during the excited-state luminescence lifetime. If the dye and quencher can get close to each other during the luminescence lifetime and they collide, the mechanism is called dynamic (also called collisional in the literature) quenching. If the dye and quencher cannot approach during the luminescence lifetime, the emission of the dye is decreased only due to long-range LRET (Albani, 2004; Valeur, 2002). For instance, heavy atoms quench with this mechanism and cause spin-orbit coupling and intersystem crossing to the triplet state. The emission is slowed down due to the spin forbidden triplet-singlet transition. Excluding high quencher concentrations, collisional quenching or long-range LRET generally occurs, when there is no specific interaction between the dye and quencher in the solution, but the specific binding interactions between them can lead to static quenching. The emission of the dye may decrease also due to the attenuation of the incident light by dyes or absorbing molecules. In collisional quenching and long-range LRET, the luminescence lifetime is dependent on the quencher concentration. Whereas in static quenching, the addition of the quencher does not change the luminescence lifetime. Moreover, collisional quenching and long-range LRET do not affect the absorption spectrum of the dye, but in static quenching the spectrum is shifted (Albani, 2004; Lakowicz, 2006).

Two-Photon Excitation Fluorescence

In two-photon excitation (2PE), two photons are absorbed simultaneously by a fluorescent dye molecule. An intensive light source provides a high density of photons required to excite the same dye molecule with two photons. The energy absorbed is two times the energy of a single photon. The probability for the absorption of two photons is a square of the probability for the absorption of a single photon, and thus more restricted than for a single photon. Therefore, the fluorescence occurs only in the immediate vicinity of the focal point, whose volume is in the order of 1 fl (Soini et al., 2000; Soini et al., 2002; Tirri et al., 2005). A homogeneous TPX assay technique and instrumentation utilizing 2PE fluorescence has been described in the literature (Hänninen et al., 2000; Soini et al., 2002; Waris et al., 2002). 2PE fluorescence is measured from the surface of individual microparticles moving in and out of the focal volume due to diffusion or the movement of liquid. These microparticles have typically been coated with antibodies (or antigens) and the binding of the analyte (antibody or antigen) has been traced with a labeled antibody or antigen (Koskinen et al., 2004; Koskinen et al., 2006; Waris et al., 2002). A high intensity laser with a 1064-nm wavelength of light in the instrument is suitable to excite dye molecules having an absorption band at a wavelength of approximately half of the one of the laser. After the excitation, the instrument can detect 2PE fluorescence at 540-700 nm (Waris et al., 2002). The fluorescence from the microparticle surface is related to the degree of binding and the concentration of the analyte in the sample. The fluorescence from the microparticle with a high number of bound labeled molecules can be significantly stronger than from the background reaction solution with single labeled molecules (Soini et al., 2002).

2.3 ASSAY FORMATS

The absorbance or luminescence assays are classified for instance according to the analyte type, detection instrument, separation requirement (heterogeneous or homogeneous), separation technique (for instance washing, filtration, centrifugation, or precipitation), assay technique (for instance luminescence polarization, LRET, or TPX), and assay principle (reagent limited or reagent excess). The basic concepts of separation requirements and assay principles are briefly clarified below, as the assays are simply chategorized into heterogeneous or homogeneous and reagent limited or reagent excess assays, which provide for the simple evaluation of the assays.

Heterogeneous and Homogeneous Assays

Assays requiring a physical separation step, such as washing or centrifugation, are called heterogeneous. The unbound labeled reagent is separated from the bound one before the absorbance or luminescence measurement (Burtis & Geary, 1994). The separation is typically carried on solid-phase, for example particles or a microtiter well surface. Whereas, the homogeneous assays do not require separation. These assays are developed to give a luminescence signal only from the bound labeled reagents or the signal is decreased upon binding. Sometimes homogeneous assays are refered to as assays with single step and molecular size labels, but in this thesis the term homogeneous refers to all separation free techniques. The homogeneous assays are easier to perform and automate than heterogeneous assays have robust procedures, which are not prone to small variations unlike the experimental setups in heterogeneous assays. Heterogeneous assays are usually suitable for a wide variety of analytes, have higher sensitivities, long dynamic ranges, and interfere less with the different sample matrixes than homogeneous assays (Hemmilä, 1991).

Reagent Limited and Reagent Excess Assays

In reagent limited (also called competitive in the literature) assays, the analyte in the sample competes with the labeled analyte or its analog from the same binding sites or assay reagents. The number of binding sites is limited: At low analyte concentrations, the labeled analyte can bind, but at high analyte concentrations, the analyte occupies all available sites blocking the labeled analyte from binding (Van Grieken & De Bruin, 1994). In reagent excess (also called noncompetitive in the literature) assays, the assay components are added in excess compared to the analyte concentrations. These assays are designed so that the bound analyte creates the change in the signal and the unbound reagent is washed away (heterogeneous) or does not produce a signal (homogeneous) (Demchenko, 2009; Wild et al., 1994). An assay, in which the luminescence of the dye is enhanced, when it binds to the analyte, is one example of a reagent excess assay. The quantification of DNA with intercalating dyes and the quantification of proteins with fluorescamine dye are performed with reagent excess. Sandwich type assays, in which the analyte forms a three layer complex with binding sites, is another example (Demchenko, 2009). This type is typical for immunoassays with large analytes: Sample antigen is bound from one epitope to an antibody attached to a solid surface and a second (labeled) analyte is bound to another epitope (Burtis & Geary, 1994). These types of assays, in which the zero concentration signals are low, are regarded as more sensitive than corresponding reagent limited assays, in which the zero concentration signals are high. This is due to the larger relative change in the signal (Wild et al., 1994).

2.4 Adsorption of Proteins

The adsorption of proteins on solid surfaces is a complex phenomenon. Due to the polymeric structure of proteins, commonly consisting of 20 different amino acids affecting the hydrophobicity and charge, the interaction between protein and solid surfaces is generally strong. The interaction is more varied than for the polysaccharides or nucleic acids with less structural diversity and difficult to interpret solely from the interaction of ions or small rigid molecules with surfaces (Quiquampoix, 2000). Amino acids linked to each other by amide or disulfide bonds (polypeptide chains) form the primary structure of protein, which is thus a complete description of the covalent connections of a protein. A secondary structure refers to the spatial arrangement of nearby amino acid residues of the sequence. It typically results from hydrogen bonds between NH and CO groups, in the same polypeptide chain for α helices and in different polypeptide chains for β pleated sheets. Furthermore, β -turn structures enable the polypeptide chains to reverse direction. A tertiary structure refers to the spatial arrangement of distant amino acid residues of the sequence and is stabilized by several intramolecular interactions, such as hydrogen bonding, ionic interactions, hydrophobic interactions, and covalent disulfide bonds. Finally, a quaternary structure refers to the spatial arrangement of subunits in proteins containing two or more polypeptide chains (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Stryer, 1988).

Proteins adsorb practically on any surface, hydrophilic and hydrophobic and neutral and charged (Andrade & Hlady, 1986), but the extent of adsorption is affected by many factors, such as protein concentration, pH, and ionic strength of the solution and the properties of a protein. According to the second law of thermodynamics, at a constant pressure and temperature, the change in the Gibbs free energy of the system for spontaneous adsorption must be negative. Both enthalpic and entropic effects acting simultaneously are involved in the adsorption process. The changes in enthalpy are related to intermolecular forces and in entropy to the spatial arrangements of molecules (Quiquampoix, 2000).

Enthalpic Effects

(*i*) *Coulombic interactions*. Coulombic forces, that take place between charged molecules or functional groups of macromolecules, are strong and long range forces and the electrical energy is inversely proportional to the distance, *r*, between charges. The binding energies of Coulombic interactions are typically similar to or stronger than hydrogen bonds. Proteins and usually solid surfaces carry electrical charges. The total charge depends on the salt type, pH, and ionic strength in the surrounding solution. For instance, the carboxylic groups are ionized and amino groups deionized, when pH is increased and thus, the amino acid sequence determines the isoelectric point (pI) characteristic for each protein, and the adsorbed ions change the total charge of the protein. Coulombic interactions affect the stability of the proteins, since the electrostatic interactions are stronger in the interior of the protein than in water due to the low conductivity of the protein medium compared to water. However, Coulombic interactions between proteins and the surface are largely decreased by the screening effect of the counterions. Namely, the charged entities are surrounded by an equal number of electrical charges with

opposite signs from the surrounding solution. As a diffuse double layer of ions is formed on proteins and surfaces, the interactions between proteins and surfaces related to the charges could be treated as the overlap of these double layers (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Höök, 1997; Quiquampoix, 2000; Roth & Lenhoff, 2003).

(*ii*) Charge–dipole and dipole–dipole interactions. The interaction energies between charged molecules and permanent dipoles are lower and shorter range (decaying as $1/r^2$ without taking thermal averaging into account) than for Coulombic interactions and depend on the orientation between the charge and dipole. However, the charge–dipole interaction is important in water solutions. As strong dipoles, water molecules dissociate the negative and positive ions of the salts and form a hydration shell around charged species, effectively screening the charges. The interaction energy between two dipoles is also dependent on the orientation of the dipoles with respect to each other, are shorter range (decaying as $1/r^3$ without taking thermal averaging into account) than for Coulombic interactions, and generally low. Hydrogen bonding is an exeption since it occurs between an electropositive hydrogen atom bound to a strongly electronegative atom and the lone pairs of the electronegative atom on adjacent molecules. Hydrogen bonding is an important interaction between, for instance, the NH₂ and C=O groups of the protein and water molecules, specific chemical groups of the surface, or the same groups of another or inside the same protein (Höök, 1997; Roth & Lenhoff, 2003).

(*iii*) Van der Waals interactions. Dipole–dipole interactions can take place, even if one or both molecules do not have a permanent dipole. Such interactions are called van der Waals interactions. These interactions arise from the instantaneous changes in the dipole of atoms, which are caused by the movement of the electrons in the atomic orbitals. These interactions cause brief electrostatic attractions between two molecules. Van der Waals interactions consist of three different types according to the interacting molecules. Dispersion or London forces act between nonpolar molecules, induction or Debye forces between polar and nonpolar molecules, and orientation or Keesom forces between two polar molecules (see above dipole–dipole interaction between permanent dipoles). Each interaction decays as $1/r^6$ in the presence of thermal averaging. Single van der Waals interactions are of short range and generally weak, but can still contribute significantly in macromolecules and solid surfaces (Höök, 1997; Quiquampoix, 2000; Roth & Lenhoff, 2003).

(*iv*) *Steric forces.* At short distances, generally below 0.3 nm, the Pauli repulsion inhibits the outer electron clouds of the atom pairs from overlapping. This concept of repulsive interactions can be widened to larger moieties, molecules, or parts of macromolecules and the interaction energy has usually an exponential or power-law (r^{12}) dependence on separation distance. The immediate consequence of the steric forces is that two species of matter cannot be in the same place at the same time (Höök, 1997; Roth & Lenhoff, 2003).

Entropic Effects

(v) Hydrophobic interactions. Hydrophobic hydration forces arise from perturbations in the structure of water in the presence of nonpolar molecules or entities. In the vicinity of hydrophobic molecules or entities of surfaces and macromolecules, water molecules reorganize and form an ordered network structure, which results in a loss of the entropy and therefore an increase in the Gibbs free energy. The most nonpolar amino acids of proteins are actually shielded from water in the core of the protein during the folding

process to minimize the Gibbs energy. The strengths of hydrophobic interactions vary and can be comparable to hydrogen bonds. These interactions are important and sometimes stated even as the primary driving force for protein interaction (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Höök, 1997; Israelachvili & Pashley, 1982; Quiquampoix, 2000; Rick & Berne, 1997; Roth & Lenhoff, 2003; Subramaniam et al., 1994).

(vi) Modifications in molecular structure. Proteins may change their conformation, essentially observed as increased rotational freedom in the secondary structure of protein, i.e. α -helix and β -sheet content, when they interact strongly with a solid surface. Especially the strong interaction of the protein with hydrophobic or charged surfaces can induce conformational changes in the molecular structure of the protein. These changes are more profound for proteins with low internal stability than for proteins with high internal stability. These conformational changes contribute positively to the entropy as well as enthalpy of adsorption (decreased Gibbs energy), since hydrogen bonds maintaining the amino acid chain in an original conformation are broken due to the rotation and the order in the secondary structure is decreased. The conformational changes enable a stronger interaction of the protein with the hydrophobic surface, as the internal hydrophobic amino acids can reach the surface and the outer more hydrophilic amino acids still shield the core from contact with water (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Lassen, 1995; Quiquampoix, 2000).

Factors Affecting Adsorption of Proteins

From various types of interactions, both enthalpic and entropic, it can be qualitatively predicted the conditions, in which the adsorption is supposed to and not supposed to take place (Table 1) (Norde et al., 2008). For general predictions, the net charge of the solid surface and the protein, the stability of the protein, and surface hydrophobicity are key factors, when considering the kind of interaction and the extent of adsorption.

Table 1. Prediction of adsorption of proteins in varied conditions. Modified and redrawn from Norde et al., 2008.

			Solid surface			
			Hydrophobic Hydrophilic			ophilic
	Structural	Electrical	Electrical charge			
stability	charge	+	_	+	-	
Protein	Stable, "hard" Unstable,	+	yes	yes	no	yes
		-	yes	yes	yes	no
		+	yes	yes	yes	yes
	"soft"	-	yes	yes	yes	yes
			Hydrophobic interactions dominate adsorption		Electrostatic interactions or structural changes dominate adsorption	

Predictions: presence of adsorption, yes, and absence of adsorption, no.

The adsorption of proteins onto hydrophobic surfaces is a favored process due to its entropic effects. The entropy of the system is increased upon adsorption due to the decreased contact of water with the hydrophobic surface. The structure of water is less disrupted near the adsorbed protein leaving more hydrophilic entities in the vicinity of water molecules than the bare solid surface. Even if the protein is highly hydrophobic and cannot undergo large conformational changes, the entropy is increased upon adsorption, as the total surface area exposed to water is reduced. The adsorption of a protein onto the hydrophilic surface is more difficult, as both protein and the solid surface tend to retain a hydrated layer between them (Quiquampoix, 2000).

Proteins can be divided into hard, being more stable, and soft, being less stable according to their structural stability. Hard proteins, such as ribonuclease, lysozyme (LYS), αchymotrypsin, and β -lactoglobulin, have low adiabatic compressibility and are less susceptible to conformational changes upon adsorption. Soft proteins, such as bovine serum albumin (BSA), γ -globulin (γ G), hemoglobin, and catalase, having low internal stability, can unfold upon adsorption. Thus, the electrostatic interactions are usually more important for the adsorption of hard proteins, while the adsorption of soft proteins is generally entropically driven. Hard proteins typically do not adsorb onto hydrophilic surfaces, unless there are electrostatic or specific interactions. On the other hand, soft proteins can relatively easily adsorb even on an electrostatically repelling surface. Generally, small proteins are structurally more stable and have a higher proportion of their nonpolar amino acids on the surface of the protein, due to the higher surface-tovolume ratio compared to large proteins. Conversely, large proteins can change their structure more easily. Although this rearrangement is an entropically unfavorable process, the nonpolar amino acids in the core of large proteins are hidden to minimize their contact with water (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Nakanishi et al., 2001; Quiquampoix, 2000).

The pH of the solution and the pI of the protein affect the adsorption. The maximum adsorbed amount on an electrically charged surface has frequently been found around the pI of the protein. At least three different explanations for this observation have been given in the literature. According to the first one, the lateral electrostatic repulsive interactions between the proteins are minimized at pI due to neutral net charges. Above and below pI, the repulsive lateral interactions are increased, due to the like-charged adsorbed proteins leading to the decreased adsorbed amount. This explanation assumes that the lateral interactions between proteins are more important than the interactions between the protein and surface and that the conformational changes upon adsorption are very limited (Duinhoven et al., 1995a; Duinhoven et al., 1995b). The second explanation considers the structural stability of the protein as a function of pH. At the pI, the structure of the protein is more compact than above or below pI, since the net positive or negative charge leads to repulsion between the like-charged moieties and the decreased stability of the protein. The protein with a net charge is more susceptible to the unfolding upon adsorption than the protein at its pI (Norde & Lyklema, 1978a; Norde & Lyklema, 1978b). The third explanation is related to the significant effect of the interactions between the protein and a solid surface. The reasons for decreased adsorbed amounts are different below and above the pI. Below pI, the positively charged protein unfolds when it adsorbs on a negatively charged surface, due to the strong electrostatic interaction. Above pI, the interaction between the negatively charged protein and the surface is repulsive. The adsorption of proteins is less efficient than at pI in both cases (Quiquampoix & Ratcliffe, 1992).

The ionic strength of the solution has a greater effect on the adsorbed amount, especially when proteins and surfaces are charged. The charges result in a significant screening effect by forming an ion cloud around charged species. The effect is typically negative for systems with oppositely charged surfaces. However, the increase of the ionic strength can enable the adsorption of hard proteins on electrostatically repelling surfaces. Even if the net charge of the protein is neutral, the counterions are incorporated from the solution to the adsorbed protein layer to reduce the repulsion between the like-charged parts of the protein and the surface by an electrostatic bridging mechanism (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Quiquampoix, 2000; Andrade, 1985).

The high adsorbed protein mass does not necessarily mean high affinity between the proteins and the surface. One reason is that a strong electrostatic or hydrophobic interaction may result in an unfolding and spreading of the protein on the surface and actually lower the adsorbed amount of protein (Quiquampoix, 2000). Another reason is the configuration of the protein. Considering the shapes of the proteins as rectangles, the proteins may approach the surface with their long axis (end-on configuration) or short axis (side-on configuration) perpendicular to the surface. The configuration reflects on the adsorbed mass, as in the end-on configuration a higher number of protein molecules can fit on the surface than in the side-on configuration. Depending on the protein and the solid surface, mostly proteins may adsorb only with an end-on or side-on configuration, but for instance, fibrinogen may take many different configurations. The protein concentration may also affect the configuration type (Figure 5a). For example, BSA maximizes the number of binding interactions at low concentrations by optimally adapting to the surface by taking a side-on configuration. At high concentrations, the proteins finally take the end-on configuration to maximize the adsorbed amount and minimize the Gibbs energy of the system. Several protein molecular layers have also been observed in certain systems like lysozyme on methylated silica (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Nakanishi et al., 2001).



Figure 5. a) The configuration of adsorbed bovine serum albumin (BSA) at high and low BSA concentration (Nakanishi et al., 2001). b) The exchange mechanism for the displacement of the adsorbed protein with a new protein (*) from the solution (Andrade, 1985; Andrade & Hlady, 1986).

The adsorption of proteins is usually an irreversible process, i.e. the desorbed amount of protein after dilution or washing is insignificant. Irreversibility is explained by the high number of interacting points with the surface (Figure 5) or the possible positive change in entropy due to the structural modifications. Few interacting points can detach, but desorption of the protein is statistically improbable, as all interacting points should be lost at the same time. However, exceptions to the irreversible adsorption of proteins have been

observed in the literature. For instance, the adsorption of highly hydrophobic proteins onto highly hydrophilic surfaces is known to be reversible. Another possibility for the detachment of the protein is the exchange of the protein to another protein (Figure 5b). This exchange process for the adsorbed protein is more profound from a hydrophilic than hydrophobic surface (Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Ball et al., 2003; Jennissen, 1981; Nakanishi et al., 2001; Quiquampoix, 2000).

The lateral electrostatic repulsion at a higher degree of coverages, especially for likecharged proteins, decreases the surface coverage from the expected value. Even though there was no repulsion between adsorbed proteins, the coverage is always less than 100%. Assuming the proteins are hard spheres and arrange into the hexagonal close packed structure, the surface coverage is theoretically $\sqrt{3\pi}/6 \approx 91\%$ (Steinhaus, 1999). According to the different semi-empirical models, the proteins leave even more void space between each other upon adsorption than the hexagonal close packing predicts. In the random sequential model applied for the adsorption process, the protein stays near the surface and makes repeated attempts to find a vacant space to adsorb. The solution of the model gives the highest degree of surface coverage, the jamming limit, which is 55% for irreversible adsorption and 82% for equilibrium adsorption (Ramsden, 2003).

2.5 METHODS FOR QUANTIFICATION OF PROTEINS

Sensitive analytical methods for the quantification of protein concentration in solution are important in biological laboratories (You et al., 1997). However, the available methods have limitations in many respects, such as sensitivity, protein-to-protein variability, and dynamic range. Thus, the aim is to develop user-friendly, sensitive, and inexpensive methods to fulfill the needs of the end-users. Well-known or commercially available methods for the quantification of proteins are reviewed in the next sections. The Kjeldahl method is described as a golden standard for validating new methods in the biopharmaceutical and food industries (Wong et al.), but it is not practical and generally avoided nowadays. More current methods are divided into two categories according to detection: absorbance or fluorescence. The available literature methods that are related to the use of the adsorption of proteins for the quantification, or justify the development of new nanoparticle methods, are discussed in Section 2.5.4. To my knowledge, no commercial kits, which exploit adsorption for the quantification of proteins, are available. If possible the sensitivity, dynamic range, incubation time, and sample volumes informed in the text are obtained from the original publications of the methods for the standard protocols. The specifications of the corresponding microtiter plate protocols and commercial modifications are listed in Table 2 in Section 2.5.5.

2.5.1 Kjeldahl Method

The Kjeldahl method (Kjeldahl, 1883; Mann & Saunders, 1975), developed by Johan Kjeldahl in 1883, determines quantitatively the nitrogen content in chemical substances. Proteins contain nitrogen as amino acids and the nitrogen content can be related to the mass of the protein in the sample. Therefore, the Kjeldahl method is applied as the standard method for the quantification of proteins. It is also a universal method in the food industry, as the solid samples require very little sample preparation and the method is regarded as precise and reproducible (McClements, 2003). The nitrogen of the protein is converted into ammonium sulphate by heating with concentrated sulphuric acid and catalysts, such as selenium or mercuric sulphate for approximately 1 h (Figure 6).

Ammonium sulphate is distilled with sodium hydroxide for approximately 5-10 min in a special steam-distillation apparatus to liberate the ammonia. The ammonia is directed into a saturated boric acid solution, in which the ammonia reacts with the acid and ammonium borate is formed. The borate ion is titrated with a hydrochloric acid standard. The pH indicator, with color change near the pH of the saturated boric acid solution (mixed methyl-red/methylene-blue), enables an accurate indication of the end-point of the titration and quantification. The method requires several milligrams of sample. It measures both non-protein and protein nitrogen and thus, all compounds containing nitrogen interfere with the method. The nitrogen content between proteins varies due to the different amino acid sequences and increases protein-to-protein variability. This makes the quantification of unknown proteins or protein mixtures difficult. The concentrated sulphuric acid at high temperatures, large steam-distillation apparatus in a fume hood, and the relatively long testing time are unfavourable for end-users.

a) $(NH_4)_2SO_4 + 2 NaOH \longrightarrow Na_2SO_4 + 2 H_2O + 2 NH_3$ b) $H_3BO_3 + H_2O + NH_3 \longrightarrow NH_4^+ + B(OH)_4^$ c) $B(OH)_4^- + HCl \longrightarrow H_3BO_3 + H_2O + Cl^-$

Figure 6. The reactions in the Kjeldahl method: a) the liberation of ammonia from ammonium sulphate with sodium hydroxide, b) the capture of ammonia with boric acid, and c) the titration of the borate ion with hydrochloric acid (Mann & Saunders, 1975).

2.5.2 Absorbance-Based Methods

Ultraviolet Absorbance Methods

The ultraviolet absorbance methods are based on the absorption of ultraviolet (UV) light by proteins in solution. The peak at, approximately 280 nm, results from the amino acids phenylalanine, tryptophan, histidine, tyrosine, cysteine, and cystine containing aromatic rings, and at approximately 200 nm, primarily from peptide bonds and secondarily from tryptophan and tyrosine (Albani, 2004; Pace et al., 1995). The absorbance reading at 280 nm is usually unsuitable in the presence of high contamination with nucleic acid, but a low concentration of nucleic acid is usually corrected by an absorbance reading at 260 nm. The absorbance (assay buffer as a blank) increases linearly for the detection range from 0.02 to 3, when the protein concentration increases. This absorbance range corresponds to 0.03-4 g/L of BSA, calculated by using an absorbance coefficient of 0.667 L g^{-1} cm⁻¹ and a 1 cm path length of the quartz cuvette. The reading at 205 nm, where the absorption of nucleic acids is low, is preferred for samples containing excessive contamination by nucleic acids. The measurement at 205 nm is more difficult than at 280 nm, since the 205 nm peak is right on the shoulder of the protein peak. Furthermore, more chemicals, especially compounds containing carbon double bonds, absorb at shorter wavelengths than 280 nm and thus, the measurement is more prone to interference. The methods are fast and convenient, directly from the sample without the addition of any reagents or time-consuming incubations. As the method is nondestructive, the measured protein sample may be used for further experiments. The assays require only a widely used spectrophotometer with a UV lamp. Although these methods are technically simple, they have many disadvantages. The sensitivity is relatively low and the dynamic range

only one order of magnitude. The measurements are commonly performed in quartz or disposable polymer UV cuvettes having lower throughput than microtiter plate measurements (Harris & Bashford, 1987; Stoscheck, 1990).

In the microtiter plate format, expensive quartz microtiter plates can be replaced with polymer plates. However, the optical pathlength varies among samples depending on the curvature of the meniscus and the results obtained with plate readers and spectrophotometers are difficult to compare. Assuming a flat meniscus for dilute samples and a curved meniscus for concentrated samples, the pathlength is 0.32 cm and 0.25 cm for a 100 μ L sample in a 96-well microtiter plate, respectively. Thus, the detectable absorbance range of 0.02-3 corresponds to 0.09-20 g/L of BSA (McGown, 1999). Commercially available cuvette-free spectrophotometers need only a 1-2 μ L sample volume, but the applicable sample protein concentrations are still as high as for the measurements in cuvettes (NanoDrop, 2009). The operation has low costs, as no plates or cuvettes are used, but an investment in the instrument is required.

Due to the linear relationship of absorbance to protein concentration in cuvette measurements, no protein standards need to be prepared, if the absorbance coefficient is given. However, the protein-to-protein variability is high, i.e. absorbance coefficients vary between proteins and considerable error in concentration can be caused for unknown proteins or mixtures, if the estimate of the coefficient is used. The proteins, which have residues containing only a few aromatic rings, have low absorbance at 280 nm. Therefore, such proteins like gelatin, cannot be quantified sensitively. At 205 nm, the variability between proteins is lower than at longer wavelengths. The substances, such as free aromatic amino acids, nucleic acids, phenolic compounds, and pigments that absorb ultraviolet light, interfere with the assay. Insoluble or colored components left in cell and tissue fractionation samples absorb often in the UV region. Due to the different effect of the secondary, tertiary, and quaternary structure on the absorbance of the protein, other environmental factors, such as pH, ionic strength, detergents, and reducing agents, can alter the absorbance spectrum. However, the ultraviolet absorbance method is commonly used, when a quick estimation is needed and error in protein concentration is not a concern.

Biuret Method

Biuret (Gornall et al., 1949; Robinson & Hogden, 1940) is the oldest method for the quantification of proteins and is still commercially available. It involves only one reagent addition and a single incubation of 20 min. The divalent copper ion in the reagent forms a complex with the amide groups of the protein and is reduced to a monovalent ion under alkaline conditions (Figure 7). The purple complex formed absorbs at 550 nm and the absorbance is directly proportional to the quantity of proteins. Thus, there is no high interference from such compounds as nucleic acids absorbing at short wavelengths (McClements, 2003). The complex is formed between one copper ion and four to six peptide bonds close to each other (Mehl et al., 1949; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009; Rising & Yang, 1933). Thus, small peptides do not react, instead tripeptides and larger polypeptides or proteins are required to form the complex (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). The method has a low sensitivity and short dynamic range of 1-10 g/L in 1 mL sample volume measured in a cuvette with a VIS light spectrophotometer. Biuret is rather insensitive to protein type, as the absorption involves peptide bonds common to all proteins (McClements, 2003). However, proteins with an abnormally high or low

percentage of amino acids with aromatic side groups will give high or low readings, respectively (Layne, 1957). The biological samples contain practically no chemicals, which would interfere with the method significantly (Gornall et al., 1949). Only tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane (Tris) (Robson et al., 1968), ammonium salts (Gornall et al., 1949; Harris & Bashford, 1987; Robinson & Hogden, 1940), copper reducing agents (Harris & Bashford, 1987; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009), and glycerol (Zishka & Nishimura, 1970) have been listed in the literature as agents, which may cause error to the absorbance measurement. The reagent contains sodium hydroxide, since the Biuret reaction is performed in an alkaline media. The corrosive liquid is not practical for endusers. In spite of the disadvantages, the simplicity and accuracy of the method increases the usability, if the required large quantity of protein is not a concern.



Figure 7. The complex between Cu^{2+} and the nitrogens of the peptide bonds causing the reduction of Cu^{2+} to Cu^{+} in an alkaline solution (Gornall et al., 1949; Harris & Bashford, 1987; Mehl et al., 1949; Rising & Yang, 1933; Robinson & Hogden, 1940).

Lowry Method

Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951), first described in 1951, is the most widely cited colorimetric method. It consists of two steps (Figure 8). The first step is the biuret reaction. In the second step, phosphotungstic and phosphomolybdic acid in a Folin-Ciocalteu reagent react with the radical groups of tyrosine, tryptophan, histidine, cystine, and cysteine in protein and reduce them to molybdenum and tungsten blue (Peterson, 1979). The monovalent copper ion catalyzes the latter reaction (Harris & Bashford, 1987; Legler et al., 1985; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009; Stonehart et al., 1968). The absorbance proportional to protein concentration is measured near the peak at 750 nm in a cuvette with a VIS light spectrophotometer. The addition of the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent enhances the sensitivity of the biuret reaction. However, the method is cumbersome, as there are two additions of reagents in addition to the preparation of the reagents. The overall incubation time of 40 min is rather long. Furthermore, the vortexing must follow immediately after the addition of the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent to obtain accurate results, due to the instability of this reagent in alkaline conditions. The prepared reagents are stable only for a few weeks or months. Thus, the continual preparation or purchase of new reagents is laborious and expensive. The copper reagent contains corrosive sodium hydroxide like in the Biuret method. It affects the laboratory safety in routine measurements.

Step 1.

$$Cu^{2+}$$
 _____ Cu^{+} ____ Cu^{+}

Step 2.



Figure 8. The simplified reaction chemistry of the Lowry method for the quantification of proteins consisting of the biuret reaction (step 1) and the reduction of the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (step 2) (Harris & Bashford, 1987; Legler et al., 1985; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009; Stonehart et al., 1968).

The measurable range of protein concentrations for the original method is 25-500 mg/L in a 200 μ L sample volume, but different suppliers have been able to extend it in the developed modifications (Bio-Rad DC; Bio-Rad RC DC; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). In one modification, the incubation time has also been decreased to 15 min (Bio-Rad DC). A wide variety of contaminants, such as detergents, reducing and chelating agents, ammonium compounds, and strong acids or buffers, interfere with the original Lowry method, since they precipitate with the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent. The response of the assay is affected by the tyrosine and tryptophan content of the protein and the proteinto-protein variability is rather large at room temperature (RT). Heating the protein during the assay is required to equalize the response of different proteins (Dorsey et al., 1977).

Bradford Method

The colorimetric Bradford method (Bradford, 1976) is easy to use, as it has only one reagent addition. It exploits the deprotonation of Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 dye upon binding to protein and the increase in absorbance at 595 nm (Figure 9). The protonated form of the dye is stable in solution under strongly acidic conditions and absorbs at 470 nm. Upon the formation of the complex between dye and protein, the deprotonated form of the dye is stabilized and the absorbance maximum shifts to a longer wavelength. The dye interacts with the protein via van der Waals forces between the hydrophobic regions of the protein and the nonpolar region of the dye, and the electrostatic interaction between the negatively charged dye and positively charged amino groups of protein (Georgiou et al., 2008). Mainly arginine, histidine, and lysine residues (electrostatic attraction) and to a lesser extent tyrosine, tryptophan, and phenylalanine residues (hydrophobic interaction) are responsible for the interaction (Compton & Jones, 1985). The amount of formed complex depends on the sample protein concentration and is detected as an increase of absorbance at 595 nm. The protein concentrations of 0.25-1.5 g/L in a 100 μ L sample volume can be quantified with a standard protocol, in which 5 mL color reagent is mixed with the sample, incubated for 2 min and the absorbance at 595 nm is read in a 3 mL cuvette with a VIS light spectrophotometer. Aggregates may form and

lead to a loss of signal over time (Held, 2006b). At high protein concentrations, the free dye depletes significantly and the standard curve becomes nonlinear. Taking into account the depletion of the dye by using the ratio of absorbance at 595 and 465 nm improves the linearity (Bearden, 1978).



Figure 9. The chemistry of the Bradford method for the quantification of proteins. The deprotonated form of Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 dye is stabilized by protein (Georgiou et al., 2008).

The measurement does not require UV light and quartz cuvettes. However, the colored reagent stains the cuvettes and disposable cuvettes are recommended. The method is fast and simple with only one reagent addition at RT. The saturation of the absorbance is complete in two minutes and stable for one hour. The inaccuracy, poor sensitivity, and short dynamic range over a 10-fold concentration range are the limitations for the method. Dilutions or concentrations of the sample are often necessary before measurement. The method is compatible with salts, reducing, chaotropic, and chelating agents, and nucleic acids. As a disadvantage the response is prone to the interference of detergents found in protein extract samples from cell lysates. The detergent binds on protein and covers the binding sites for the dye. The reagent contains also toxic methanol and corrosive phosphoric acid, which increases the risks for a hazard (Pierce Coomassie, 2010). The binding of the Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 dye on the protein depends on the amino group content of the protein, and the response can vary even 38% between different proteins (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). Free amino acids, peptides, and proteins with low molecular weights do not interact with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 dye. The proteins or peptides below 3 kDa cannot be assayed with the Bradford method (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). This can be taken as a disadvantage from the proteinto-protein variability point of view. However, it is an advantage, if interfering substances are concerned.

BCA Method

The BCA (Smith et al., 1985) method combines the biuret reaction with the colorimetric detection of the monovalent copper ion by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) with the intention of improving the sensitivity of the biuret method. After the reduction of the divalent copper ion, Cu^+ reacts with BCA and forms a complex with two BCA molecules (Figure 10). The complex is colored and absorbs at 562 nm. The absorbance increases linearly with increasing protein concentration. Although the method consists of two reactions, only single reagent addition is required, which is in contrast to the Lowry method. A one-step analysis is enabled due to the stability of the bicinchoninate reagent in basic media and it would allow for an easy-to-use method. However, due to the greater reactivity between the peptide bonds and copper at high temperatures, heating is required to increase absorbance in the presence of protein, improve sensitivity, lower protein-to-protein variability, and shorten incubation times. Although the saturation of the signal takes longer at RT, the absorbance can be measured before the end-point within 2 h. At 37 or 60 °C the samples are incubated for 30 min and after the incubation the samples are cooled to RT before reading. Because the end-point is not reached in a reasonable time frame, all readings must be performed within a short time interval, so that the absorbance results for standards and samples are comparable. Due to heating, a long incubation time, and the measurement before saturation, the usability of the method decreases. Furthermore, the method has the same disadvantage as Biuret and Lowry method: the reagent contains a corrosive agent and is not safe. BSA concentrations of 0.1-1.2 g/L can be assayed with a standard procedure in a 100 μ L sample volume using a cuvette. The method tolerates contaminants, especially detergents, better than the Lowry method, as the BCA reagent does not precipitate as easily as the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent in the presence of both non-ionic and ionic detergents. Substances that reduce copper and ammonium compounds interfere with the biuret reaction (first step) in the Lowry method. The formation of Cu^+ -BCA complex (second step) in the BCA method is influenced by the presence of the same reactive amino acids in the protein as the Lowry method. Thus, the protein-to-protein variability is similar to the Lowry method (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). The protein-to-protein variability of 30% for the BCA method is deduced from the literature (Smith et al., 1985).



Cu⁺–BCA complex

Figure 10. The chemistry of the BCA method for the quantification of proteins consisting of a biuret reaction (step 1) and the formation of the complex between bicinchoninic acid (BCA) and monovalent copper ion (step 2) (Smith et al., 1985).

2.5.3 Fluorescence-Based Methods

Fluorescamine Method

The fluorometric fluorescamine method (Böhlen et al., 1973; Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993; Udenfriend et al., 1972) utilizes the reaction of the 4-phenylspiro[furan-2(3H),1'phthalan]-3,3'-dione (fluorescamine) dye with the primary amines, ε -amino groups of lysine and terminal amino groups, at a slightly alkaline pH (Böhlen et al., 1973). The dye is non-fluorescent in an aqueous solution, but it conjugates with the primary amino groups of the proteins and a fluorescent derivative is formed (Figure 11). Thus, the method has only one reagent addition, if the pH of the sample buffer is optimal for the reaction. No incubation is required, as the reaction is complete almost instantly at RT (Udenfriend et al., 1972). However, the fluorescence increases slowly during the first 30 min of reaction, and all the measurements are recommended to be performed at a fixed time after the reaction (Böhlen et al., 1973). The fluorescence emission is measured at 475 nm with excitation at 390 nm (Udenfriend et al., 1972). The fluorescence is stable for over several hours (Held, 2006a; Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993; Udenfriend et al., 1972). The dynamic range is from 10 to over 1000 mg/L in a sample volume of 50 μ L measured in a microtiter plate (Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993). Although the reacted reagent is stable, as a disadvantage, the fluorescamine molecule itself is not stable and is hydrolyzed fast in water (Böhlen et al., 1973; Udenfriend et al., 1972). Therefore, the reagent should be kept free of moisture and be added to the plate while it is being mixed, which further complicates the use of this method (Böhlen et al., 1973; Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993). The variation between proteins is significant (Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993), as proteins contain different numbers of amine groups and fluorescamine substituted amino groups may exhibit different quantum yields (Böhlen et al., 1973). This suggests that the quantification of unknown proteins or protein mixtures is not really reliable and BSA is not suitable as a standard (Böhlen et al., 1973). Chemicals, such as Tris or glycine buffer containing primary amines and large amounts of secondary amines containing primary amines as impurities, are contaminants for the assay, as the reagent react with all amines and not only with the amines of the proteins (Böhlen et al., 1973; Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993). Glycerol may also interfere with the method (Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993).



Figure 11. The reaction between 4-phenylspiro[furan-2(3H),1'-phthalan]-3,3'-dione (fluorescamine) dye and the primary amino group (Harris & Bashford, 1987; Udenfriend et al., 1972).

OPA Method

The fluorometric OPA (Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993; Roth, 1971) method is based on the detection of amino groups. o-Phthaldialdehyde (OPA) is added to the sample and it reacts with the primary amines in an alkaline medium in the presence of 2-mercaptoethanol as a reducing agent and a fluorescent compound is formed (Figure 12). The method has only one reagent addition. OPA and 2-mercaptoethanol are mixed with the sample in a microtiter plate, incubated 5 min, and the fluorescence is measured at 455 nm excited at 340 nm. No heating is required. The signal, as a function of protein concentration, is linear and a broad range of protein concentrations from 50 to 25,000 μ g/L in a sample volume of 200 µL can be quantified (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). OPA has better aqueous solubility than fluorescamine (Benson & Hare, 1975; Goodno et al., 1981) and thus, it does not need nonhydroxylic solvents. OPA exhibits also greater fluorescent quantum yield than fluorescamine (Benson & Hare, 1975). However, poisonous 2mercaptoethanol decreases user-friendliness. Different proteins have varying amounts of lysine residues (Held, 2006b) or the accessibility and availability of lysine residues limit the reactivity and thus, the protein-to-protein variability of the method is not insignificant (Interchim OPA; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). Therefore, unknown proteins or protein mixtures cannot be quantified precisely. The amino groups of peptides and buffers, such as Tris and glycine, containing primary amines undergo also the reaction. Whereas, reducing agents, metal chelators, most detergents, and any common buffers do not interfere with the method (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). The reagent is unstable and sensitive to storage conditions (Interchim OPA; Pierce Fluoraldehyde, 2010), which increases the work and the costs, if the new reagent solution needs to be prepared for each quantification. The fluorescence increases as a function of time and a maximal signal is reached during an incubation of 5 min. After reaching the maximum, the signal starts to decrease. Thus, the reading is recommended to be performed at the same time interval for all samples to avoid differences originating from the variation in incubation times (Interchim OPA; Pierce Fluoraldehyde OPA, 2009). This may make the method relatively difficult for the end-users.



fluorescence emission at 455 nm

Figure 12. The reaction between *o*-phthaldialdehyde (OPA) and the primary amino group in the presence of 2-mercaptoethanol (García Alvarez-Coque et al., 1989).

CBQCA Method

The fluorometric CBQCA (You et al., 1997) method utilizes the reaction of 3-(4carboxybenzoyl)quinoline-2-carboxaldehyde (CBQCA) dye with the primary amines in protein. The dye is virtually non-fluorescent in an aqueous solution. In the presence of cyanide, it conjugates with primary amino groups and forms a highly fluorescent derivative (Figure 13). The conjugate is excited at 430-490 nm and the fluorescence
emission is detected at 525-600 nm. The fluorescence increases linearly as a function of protein concentration for a broad range from 0.1 to 1500 mg/L in a 100 μ L sample volume. The assay can be performed either in a cuvette with a fluorometer or in a microtiter plate with a fluorescence microtiter plate reader (You et al., 1997).

The method contains two reagent additions, potassium cyanide and CBQCA, which can be added in succession. The high toxicity and appropriate waste disposal of cyanide complicates the handling. After the reagent additions, a long 90 min-incubation with shaking at RT is required to reach the saturation of the fluorescence signal and high sensitivity. Heating reduces the incubation time to a few minutes. The reaction takes place at a slightly basic pH, pH 7-10.5 being adequate, and optimally 9.3. The sensitivity decreases at a lower pH, since the amines protonate and CBQCA does not react. Detergents and lipids do not interfere significantly with the method. However, the sample must not contain primary amines, such as Tris and glycine, ammonium salts, or high concentrations of thiols, since they interfere with the reaction between CBQCA and the primary amines of the protein. The response of the assay depends on the relative content of primary amino groups available in the protein. Thus, the proteins with a high number of lysine residues can be assayed more sensitively compared to the proteins with low lysine content. The protein-to-protein variability is 30% as deduced from the literature (You et al., 1997).



Figure 13. The reaction between 3-(4-carboxybenzoyl)quinoline-2-carboxaldehyde (CBQCA) dye and the primary amino group (You et al., 1997).

NanoOrange Method

The NanoOrange method (Jones et al., 2003) exploits a merocyanine dye, which binds to detergent-coated proteins. The fluorescence of this environmentally sensitive dye is enhanced upon interaction with proteins. The dependence of the fluorescence signal on the protein concentration creates the grounds for the quantification. The protein assay includes only one reagent addition and measurements can be performed in microtiter wells. However, it requires the heating of the sample at 96 °C for ten minutes and subsequent cooling for 20 min to RT. Therefore, the method needs extra equipment for heating, and the samples should be transferred from test tubes to microtiter wells after they are heated and before the fluorescence is read. The dynamic range of the NanoOrange method is 0.1-100 mg/L in a 200 μ L sample volume. The limit of detection (LOD) is better than for many commercial methods, such as BCA, Bradford, and Lowry assay, and the linear dynamic range is long. For the NanoOrange method the protein-to-protein variability of 20%, excluding small proteins, is deduced from the literature and is

among the lowest for the commercial methods (Jones et al., 2003). The method has been tested for plenty of possible contaminants commonly found in protein samples and is found to be sensitive to lipids, salts, and detergents.

2.5.4 Exploitation of Adsorption of Proteins for Quantification of Proteins

Methods for the quantification of proteins, insensitive to amino acid composition and precise for unknown proteins and protein mixtures, should be developed. The methods discussed above or presented in the literature are based on the specific identification of protein chemical groups (Liu et al., 1991; Lowry et al., 1951; You et al., 1997), or the interaction of the protein surface (Bradford, 1976; Lowry et al., 1951; Peterson, 1977; Smith et al., 1985), or the protein-detergent complex (Jones et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2003) with dye molecules. Identified protein chemical groups can be peptide bonds, amino groups, total nitrogen content (Mann & Saunders, 1975; Vogel & Svehla, 1979), and amino acids, such as phenylalanine, tryptophan, histidine, and tyrosine, containing aromatic rings. The dyes may also interact with the proteins or protein-detergent complexes by certain sites, such as amino groups, peptide bonds, phenylalanine, arginine, lysine, tyrosine, tryptophan, histidine, cystine, or cysteine groups, and hydrophobic regions of protein. The response of the assay depends on the number of specific groups and thus, leads to high protein-to-protein variability. Instead, the interaction of the protein with a solid surface does not necessarily require the presence of certain groups or their extent in the protein. The total charge of the protein can be altered as optimal for adsorption by changing the pH of the solution and the protein should bear at least slight hydrophobicity. Supposedly, the interaction of the protein, typically having a large size, with the solid surface is stronger than with a small molecule, since the adsorption has the advantage of a multipoint attachment (Andrade, 1985; Andrade & Hlady, 1986; Nakanishi et al., 2001). The strong interaction might be of benefit to the development of a sensitive method for the quantification of proteins. Smaller molecules do not have as high of an association with a solid surface and are not expected to prevent the protein-solid surface interaction at low concentrations. These aspects create good opportunities for developing an assay for the quantification of proteins exploiting adsorption. The next paragraphs review briefly existing quantification methods based on the adsorption of proteins.

Methods Utilizing Adsorption of Proteins

Rohringer and Holden have applied the nonspecific adsorption of proteins to gold particles for detecting proteins (Rohringer & Holden, 1985). The method relies on the adsorption of protein onto the nitrocellulose membrane and the poor affinity of colloidal gold for nitrocellulose. The method is qualitative and the detection is performed visually. The sample is applied to the nitrocellulose membrane in 1 μ L, wetted in water, stained with gold colloid, and washed after a 30 min-incubation. The adsorbed gold particles are observed visually due to their red or blue color. The sensitivity is the highest at a low pH and varies for different proteins from approximately 10 to 100 mg/L. The assay is not user-friendly due to the separation step and quantitative results are not obtained. Moeremans et al. (Moeremans et al., 1985) have reported on a similar approach to Rohringer and Holden's method using either colloidal gold or silver. Nanogram level sensitivity was obtained. However, a long incubation of over 4 h was required to reach the saturation of the staining.

Stoscheck (Stoscheck, 1987) has introduced a method for the quantification of proteins utilizing the adsorption of proteins to the citrate stabilized colloidal gold particles in 1987. The adsorption of protein to the colloidal gold particles at an acidic pH causes a shift in the absorbance maximum of the colloidal gold from 530 nm to 540 nm. The absorbance change is the highest at 595 nm and is proportional to the sample protein concentration. The colloidal gold particles are the only reagent required for this simple method and they may be easily home-made or purchased from manufacturers. The method consists of mixing the sample (10 μ L) with colloidal gold (800 μ L) and a subsequent 30 min-incubation at RT. The dynamic range is 2-20 mg/L measured in a cuvette with a VIS light spectrophotometer. The protein-to-protein variability of the method seems to be relatively high and the same protein should be used as a standard as the protein being measured. The method has only a few contaminants. The proteins interact well with the colloidal gold at a low pH. Thus, the strong bases interfere with the method. Other substances, such as salts at high concentrations, thiol compounds, and detergents are also contaminants, since they affect the adsorption of proteins.

Ciesiolka and Gabius (Ciesiolka & Gabius, 1988) enhanced the sensitivity of Stoscheck's assay (Stoscheck, 1987) by increasing the gold particle concentration, the addition of a stabilizer polyethylene glycol, optimizing the pH, and using a microtiter plate format. The dynamic range of the improved version is 0.1-20 mg/L in a 10- μ L sample. Although the variation between different proteins is improved, it is still high. Furthermore, the method is influenced to a lesser extent by interfering substances than in Stoscheck's assay.

Hunter and Hunter (Hunter & Hunter, 1987) have also presented a method for the quantification of proteins utilizing gold colloid. The method is compatible with a higher number and concentrations of chemicals than the method proposed by Stoscheck (Stoscheck, 1990). However, the method is not equally simple to perform. A sample is dried to nitrocellulose paper in 1 μ L and hydrated and washed for 15 min. Colloidal gold is adsorbed to the sample on the washed paper. After an overnight incubation, the paper is washed again and measured by scanning it with a laser densitometer. The washing steps and overnight incubation require too much effort and time from the end-user. Furthermore, the application of the sample is time-consuming and prone to errors and the method requires many sample replicates. The gold particles adsorbed to the protein, which was dried to the nitrocellulose, and the signal scanned increased as a function of protein quantity in the sample applied. The method is sensitive to quantify down to 1.3 ng of protein. However, low concentrations cannot be quantified, as the sample volume is small. The dynamic range is 1-20 mg/L. Nucleic acids, urea, salts, sodium hydroxide, and sugar polymers are compatible with the assay.

The methods reviewed above have absorbance detection. The sensitivity of light absorption spectroscopy is, however, far less than that of fluorescence methods. Recently, a method based on the covalent binding of thiols to the gold particle and fluorescence resonance energy transfer has been developed to determine the concentration of different small molecule thiols. In this assay, thiols displaced an organic dye molecule, Nile red, adsorbed to the gold surface, thus enhancing the fluorescence intensity of the displaced dye (Chen & Chang, 2004). The method was specific only for thiols and was not applied to measure the concentration of other molecules, such as proteins. Rotello et al. have utilized the ability of differently coated gold nanoparticles to quench the fluorescence of conjugated polyelectrolytes to identify different bacteria, nucleic acids, and proteins (Krovi et al., 2006; Phillips et al., 2008). However, the method was optimized for the

separation of the different proteins and not for the quantification of proteins. Thus, the sensitivity of the method was limited to approximately 0.1 mg/L in the quantification of proteins and varied significantly between different proteins (You et al., 2007).

The response for different proteins has not been extensively studied for the homogeneous literature methods reviewed above, but the absorbance-based homogeneous assays (approximately 1-20 ng BSA in a sample) are relatively sensitive. Existing absorbance-and fluorescence-based literature methods utilizing the adsorption of proteins suggest that sensitive and simple methods for the quantification of proteins could be obtainable, if the fluorescence-based method is developed and optimized for the high adsorption of proteins. The development could assure high sensitivity and equal interactions of different proteins with the solid surface, i.e. low protein-to-protein variability.

2.5.5 Summary of Methods for Quantification of Proteins

The features and principles of the methods for the quantification of proteins discussed above are collected in Table 2. The low LOD and low sample volume required is valuable for limited sample amounts, low sample concentrations, and expensive proteins. Sensitivities of 10 ng for the CBQCA (You et al., 1997) and 20 ng for the NanoOrange (Jones et al., 2003) methods having fluorescence detection are the highest that have been achieved for albumin from bovine serum (BSA) with the commercial methods for the quantification of proteins. The methods that have fluorescence detection are usually more sensitive than the methods measuring the changes in absorbance due to different measurement geometries. As a consequence, the change in fluorescence at a low fluorescence background level is relatively larger than the small change in transmittance at a high transmittance level (You et al., 1997). The long dynamic range enables assaying both dilute and concentrated samples without the need of extra steps, like concentration or dilution of the samples, which may be time-consuming and require a large quantity of protein. Dynamic ranges vary from less than one order of magnitude for the Bradford (Bradford, 1976) and modified Lowry (Bio-Rad DC) methods to more than four orders of magnitude for the CBQCA (You et al., 1997) method. Due to the linearity of the calibration curve for most of the discussed methods, the measurement of the whole calibration curve is not necessary. Thus, the quantification is faster and the analysis of the results becomes easier, which is contrary to the nonlinear calibration curves requiring many standard concentrations.

The methods should be easy to perform for the end-users without highly developed hands-on skills and the need to invest in new and expensive instruments. The assays carried out in microtiter plates are simpler and usually 10 times more sensitive than the assays performed in cuvettes using a spectrophotometer or fluorometer (Stoscheck, 1990). The assays are also the better with the fewer steps the assay protocol contains and the shorter the incubation times are. The relatively sensitive CBQCA (You et al., 1997) method requires a 90 min-incubation of the samples at RT, while the absorbance in the Bradford method saturates within 2 min. Due to the elevated temperatures and subsequent cooling steps required to speed up the reaction and to achieve high accuracy and sensitivity, the NanoOrange (Jones et al., 2003), BCA (Smith et al., 1985), and CBQCA (You et al., 1997) methods are not user-friendly. Methods, such as Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951) and its modification (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009), even require exactly timed reagent additions or the mixing due to the instability of the components participating in the signal development, making the methods impractical.

Furthermore, the instability of the components in the environmental conditions of an assay or storage (Lowry et al., 1951) may decrease the shelf-life of the product, or it becomes laborious if the end-user has to mix the different components before their use. The inexpensive and easily available reagents for the method provide a competitive price for the commercialized kit for the quantification of proteins. The quantification of proteins is a routine determination in biological laboratories. Therefore, the use of the toxic and corrosive chemicals would add to the cost of the waste disposal and risk laboratory safety. For instance, the Biuret (Gornall et al., 1949), Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951), BCA (Smith et al., 1985), and CBQCA (You et al., 1997) methods contain hazardous reagents.

The methods that are insensitive to contaminants commonly found in protein samples are favored, as the removal of the interfering reagents or dilution of the sample is not required. Generally, methods like CBQCA (You et al., 1997), fluorescamine (Böhlen et al., 1973; Lorenzen & Kennedy, 1993; Udenfriend et al., 1972), and OPA (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009), based on the detection of protein amino groups do not tolerate salts containing amines. The reagent reducing methods, such as Biuret (Gornall et al., 1949; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009), Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951), and BCA (Smith et al., 1985), do not tolerate reducing agents. Moreover, detergents may reduce the binding of the dye in, for instance, the Bradford (Bradford, 1976) and NanoOrange (Jones et al., 2003) methods.

Unknown proteins or protein mixtures can be quantified by using BSA as a calibrator, only if different proteins give a rather similar response to the measured signal, i.e. protein-to-protein variability is low. The commercially available methods are based on, e.g., the specific identification of protein chemical groups (Liu et al., 1991; Lowry et al., 1951; You et al., 1997), or the interaction of the protein surface (Bradford, 1976; Lowry et al., 1951; Peterson, 1977; Smith et al., 1985), or the protein–detergent complex (Jones et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2003) with dye molecules. Thus, the diverse properties of the proteins cause varying responses.

•	•		•			•					
Method	Interacting protein sites	Principle	Detection	Incub. time	No. of steps ^a	Temp.	Dyn. range ^b (mg/L)	LOD ^b (µg)	Vol. (µL)	Format	Interferences
Kjeldahl ¹	nitrogen	quantification of nitrogen	acid/base titration	~1.5 h	4	189 °C + 100 °C + RT	ı	1000°	р-	apparatus/ titration	compounds containing nitrogen
UV280 ^{2,3}	aromatic amino acids	absorption of sample	absorbance	0 min	1	RT	30-4000 90-20 000	3	100	quartz cuvette 96-well	nucleic acids, aromatic amino acids
UV205 ²	peptide bonds	absorption of sample	absorbance	0 min	1	RT	1-100	0.1	100	quartz cuvette	carbon double bonds
Biuret ⁴⁻⁹	peptide bonds	reduction of copper	absorbance	20 min	2	RT	1000-10 000	1000	1000	cuvette	red. agents, Tris, NH4 ⁺ salts, glycerol
r	peptide bonds/	reduction		40 min	6	RT or 100 °C	25-500	5	200	cuvette	NH4 ⁺ comp., detergents, red. & chelating agents, strong acids & buffers
LOWIY	usuue and tryptophan	& Mo ⁶⁴ /W ⁶⁴	ausol Dallee	15 min	n N	RT	200-1500/ 5-250	1/0.1	5/20	96-well	chelating agents, thiols, salts, strong acids & buffers
Bradford ¹⁴⁻¹⁷	hydrophobic regions and amino groups	dye-protein complex	absorbance	2 min 10 min	5	RT	250-1500 1-25	25 0.15	100 150	cuvette/ 96-well 96-well	detergents
BCA ^{18,19}	peptide bonds	of copper	absorbance	30 min	4	37 or 60 °C + RT	100-1200	10	100	cuvette/ 96-well	red. agents, NH4 ⁺ comp.
		complex		2 h		37 °C + RT	2-40	0.3	150	96-well	red. & chelating agents, $\mathrm{NH_4^+ comp.}$, lipids
Fluorescamine ²⁰⁻²²	primary amino groups	dye-amino group conj.	fluorescence	< 1 s	2	RT	$10-1000^{\circ}$	0.5	50	96-well	prim. amines, high conc. of sec. & tert. amines, acidic buffers
OPA ²³	primary amino groups	dye-amino group coni.	fluorescence	5 min	2	RT	0.05-25	0.01	200	96-well	prim. amines

Table 2. The properties and principles of methods for the quantification of proteins. (See Appendix 1 for reference information.)

<u>42</u>

Method	Interacting protein sites	Principle	Detection	Incub. time	No. of steps ^a	Temp.	Dyn. range ^b (mg/L)	LOD ^b (µg)	Vol. (µL)	Format	Interferences
CBQCA ²⁴	primary amino groups	dye–amino group conj.	fluorescence	1.5 h	3	RT	0.1-1500	0.01	100	cuvette/ 96-well	prim. amines, strong acids, thiols
NanoOrange ²⁵	not available	dye-detergent- protein complex	fluorescence	30 min	3	96 °C + RT	0.1-100	0.02	200	96-well	lipids, salts, detergents
Rohringer & Holden Au ²⁶	many	protein adsorption	visual	30 min	4	RT	- f	0.08^g	1	nitro- cellulose	not available
Stoscheck Au ²⁷	many	protein ads. & abs. max. shift of coll. Au	absorbance	30 min	2	RT	2-20	0.02	10	cuvette	salts, thiols, detergents, strong bases
Ciesiolka & Gabius Au ²⁸	many	protein ads. & abs. max. shift of coll. Au	absorbance	2 min	2	RT	0.1-20	0.001	10	96-well	thiols, detergents, nucleic acids
Hunter & Hunter Au ²⁹	many	protein adsorption	absorbance	24 h	4	\mathbf{RT}	1-20	0.001	1	nitro- cellulose	detergents
Quenching ³⁰	many	competitive protein adsorption	fluorescence	10 min	3	RT	0.007-2	0.0005	70	96-well	not available
TR-LRET ^{31,32}	many	competitive protein adsorption	time-resolved luminescence	20 min	3	RT	0.001-1	0.00007	70	96-well	not available
TPX ³³	many	competitive protein adsorption	2PE fluorescence	40 min	3	RT	0.002-9	0.00004	20	384-well	not available
Dissociation ³⁴	many	competitive protein adsorption	time-resolved luminescence	30 min	3	RT	0.002-0.6	0.0001	70	96-well	ionic detergents strong acids & buffers
^a includes heating, cooling, and ^b for bovine serum albumin, if J ^c estimated as three times the n ^d solid sample ^d he largest tested concentratio ^f qualitative ^s sensitivity average for 8 prote	l sample and reagent add possible itrogen content measure n 1 g/L in reference 27 ins	dition steps (reagent and sd for the blank	sample preparations a	ınd signal det	tection not co	ounted)	abbrev 2PE = - LOD = RT = n Tris = 1 Vol. =	iations: two-photon ex i limit of detec com temperati tris(hydroxym sample volum	citation tion tre sthyl)amin e	methane	

2.6 COUNTING OF CELLS

The counting of cells follows frequently culturing and harvesting cells, since the cell concentration is important for experimentation in biology and biomedicine and in various medical and research applications, for instance, discovering, developing, and testing drugs. Generally, cells are directly counted visually by a hemocytometer. However, it suffers from subjectivity and is unsuitable for low concentrations of cells, is timeconsuming and laborious. A number of methods have also been developed to simplify and reduce the work and improve the reliability, precision, sensitivity, and speed of the counting of the cells. Sensitive assays for the counting of cells would enable the concentration determination of low cell concentrations, which is not possible with traditional hematological methods. Low cell counts may be encountered, for instance, in studies with slowly proliferating cells, such as stem cells, and due to the sensitive counting of cells a time-consuming cell culture is avoided. However, adequate sensitivities (Bacterial Enumeration; BD FACSCalibur, 2009; MIDSCI PCV) are not reached with all commercially available methods and the procedures or principles may be complex (Elliott & Auersperg, 1993; Muir et al., 1990) and require expensive equipment or reagents (Campbell, 1988; Coulter, 1953; Schärfe, 2004). The next sections review well-known or commercially available methods for the counting of cells. In this thesis, the methods are divided into two categories: the methods determining the total number of cells, and viability or proliferation assays measuring the number of healthy or dividing cells. Whereas, Patterson (Patterson, 1979) has divided the methods into four categories: 1. visual hematology methods, 2. chemical methods with analytical biochemical procedures, 3. electronic systems with flow-through cells or apertures measuring incorporated dyes or cell numbers, and 4. arrays of miscellaneous procedures. However, the division presented in this thesis is more practical, as the method is chosen according to the information obtained from the samples and not due to procedures and devices involved.

2.6.1 Methods for Counting of Total Cell Numbers

The counting of total cell number does not take into account whether the cells are dead, quiescent, or dividing. The traditional counting of cells with a hemocytometer is subjective and too tedious to be useful in high-throughput screening. Furthermore, it is inaccurate at cell concentrations below 10⁵ cells/mL (Allen et al., 1994). Electrical techniques for the counting of cells have been developed to eliminate user-to-user variability and improve the precision and speed of counting. Automated or electronic counting chambers are available from several companies (Beckman Coulter Vi-CELL, 2008; Boisen, 2005; ChemoMetec A/S NucleoCounter NC-100; Digital Bio Adam-MC, 2010; Invitrogen Countess 1, 2009; Invitrogen Countess 2, 2009; New Brunswick Scientific NucleoCounter; Nexcelom Cellometer). The principle is the same as with manual counting by hemocytometer except for the automatic brightfield cell image analysis (Invitrogen Countess 1, 2009; Szabo, 2003). Another possibility is the use of fluorescent nucleic acid binding dyes and the fluorescence detection from individual cells (Boisen, 2005). The sophisticated instruments measure even the sizes of the cells and analyze their morphology. Generally, the counters are simple to use and the count is fast to perform, typically in less than one minute. The disposable chamber reduces the risk of exposure to hazardous samples, such as patient blood samples and virus infected cells, compared to the traditional non-disposable Bürker counting chamber. In addition to the

high instrument upfront costs, the costly chambers and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) dyes are constantly used, which increases the amount of waste. Although the typical sample volume of 10 μ L is relatively small and the sample concentration has a wider range than in a traditional hemocytometric count, the counters still require high concentrations of cells from tens of thousands to tens of millions of cells per mL, i.e. number of cells ranging from a few hundred to hundreds of thousands of cells in the sample. The automated counting chambers are able to detect cells with a diameter larger than 5 μ m disabling the quantification of bacterial cells (Innovatis Cedex XS, 2010; Invitrogen Countess 1, 2009).

Coulter Counting

The Coulter counter (Coulter, 1953; Stewart et al., 2000), invented by Wallace H. Coulter, is a versatile and accurate analyzer for sizing and counting cells. It contains two electrodes, between which an electric current flows. The electrodes situate in a smallsized aperture that cells can only pass through one by one. The cells are drawn through the aperture in a weak electrolyte suspension. The cells cause a change in the electrical conductance momentarily by displacing their own volume of electrolyte. Quantification with the Coulter counter requires high cell concentrations in at least 50 µL sample volume (Beckman Coulter Multisizer 3 Coulter Counter; Harmalker & Lai, 1997; Kubitschek & Friske, 1986; Swanton et al., 1962). The sample should contain at least several thousands of cells per mL. On the other hand, samples with hundreds of thousands of cells per mL increases the probability of two or more cells passing through the aperture simultaneously, and being counted as one cell. This suggests that the count is prone to inaccuracy in the presence of cell aggregates or a large number of dead cells. Cell populations of different sizes require the resetting of the instrument (Phelan & Lawler, 1997). The commercial instruments typically measure volumes and count cells with a diameter ranging from below one micrometer to one millimeter.

Flow Cytometry

In flow cytometry (Givan, 2001; Stewart et al., 2000), the cells are optically detected in a narrow stream of the sample. The stream is produced hydrodynamically by injecting the sample into the center of a sheath flow. The sample surrounded by the flow with a higher velocity reduces the diameter and forces the cells into the center of the stream. The cell entering the laser beam scatters the light forming a signal for the counting of cells (Yang et al., 2006). Most flow cytometers are not able to perform the count from an exact sample volume (Perkel, 2010). Therefore, flow cytometric counting of cells is a relative rather than absolute method. The sample is run with a known concentration of fluorescent beads to which the number of analyzed cells is compared and used in the calculation of sample cell concentration. Another choice is to analyze the exact volume of a sample and calculate the number of cells per volume, if the instrument is designed to draw a precise volume of fluid for counting. Furthermore, the fluorescent labelling of the cells utilized in connection with light scattering in flow cytometry enables the sorting of different cells by their certain characteristics into multiple populations. The sensitivity of hundreds of cells per milliliter is attainable, but optimally hundreds of thousands of cells per milliliter are quantified (BD FACSCalibur, 2009; Hammes & Egli, 2005; Huh et al., 2005). The flow cytometric cell count time depends on sample volume and flow rate and may take from few seconds to hours. For instance, the cell count for a sample in 10 μ L volume takes 10 s and in 10 mL 3 h, with a flow rate of 60 μ L/min. Although the flow cytometer is versatile

due to its fast cell sorting feature and high accuracy, the operation requires an experienced user, which does not support the daily needs of the routine counting of cells. Other disadvantages include complicated and expensive devices (Huh et al., 2005), maintenance, experimental setup, and complicated sample pretreatment procedures.

Packed Cell Volume

Packed cell volume (PCV) (Sorokin, 1973) is a rapid method to quantify cells. The cells are centrifuged for only one to five minutes within a glass capillary using a bench top centrifuge. The volume of the pelleted cells is related to the number of cells. The tubes for measuring packed cell volume are commercially available (Light Lab PCV; MIDSCI PCV; Sartorius Stedim PCV; Sigma-Aldrich PCV). The method requires a high number of cultured cells and the calibration of the different cells for the relationship between the volume and cell number, since the cell sizes for the cell types vary. The method is easyto-use compared to a traditional manual or even automated hemocytometric count and offers several distinct advantages. Packed cell volume reduces labor-intensivity and subjectivity, shortens the counting time, and allows the count of multiple samples at once. No special training or expensive instruments are needed compared to the electronic devices for the counting of cells. The presicion is higher, since statistical error is low due to the high number of cells in the pellet and cell aggregates do not influence it. However, a PCV lower than 0.1%, which translates to 200,000 cells in a 500 µL sample, cannot be considered as visually detectable (Light Lab PCV). The sensitivity of approximately ten times lower number of cells in a 100 μ L sample is achieved, if PCV is detected with the reader (MIDSCI PCV).

Turbidity

The turbidimetric measurement is a quick method to estimate the concentration of bacteria. The optical density at 600 nm measured with the spectrophotometer is correlated with the cell number, as cells interfere with the passage of the light through the sample. However, millions of bacterial cells are required for the measurement in a cuvette and different cells do not have similar turbidity (Bacterial Enumeration).

CASY Counting

CASY technology (Schärfe, 2004) is an electronic method for the counting of cells. Cell concentrations of less than 100 cells/mL can be detected in a measurement time of 10 seconds with the method. The cell quantification is performed from a 5-100 μ L sample (Roche Innovatis CASY TT, 2010; Roche Innovatis CASY TTC, 2010), but small sample volumes would require higher cell concentrations than 100 cells/mL to achieve accurate results. In addition to the counting of cells, the measuring principle enables the determination of the viability and size of the cells. The counting requires investment in the expensive instrument. The cells suspended in an electrolyte solution are exposed to a low voltage field between two platinum electrodes. The sample is scanned with a frequency of 1 MHz in a precision measuring capillary. The cells generate electrical signals, which are analyzed by amplitude, pulse width, course of time, and resulting pulse area, which differs from the Coulter counter, which only measures amplitudes. The aggregation of the cells does not inhibit accurate counting in contrast to the Coulter counter, as the cells do not have to pass through any aperture.

Methylene Blue Assay

Methylene blue dye (Figure 14), which stains negatively charged compounds, such as nucleic acids and proteins, at an alkaline pH (Oliver et al., 1989), has been used in the counting of cells performed in a microtiter plate format (Elliott & Auersperg, 1993). The dynamic range is from a few hundred to more than 3000 cells in a 100 μ L sample volume. However, the heterogeneous assay setup containing several steps and incubations of one hour in total is not simple. The cells are fixed onto the microtiter plate surface for at least 30 min. The fixative is washed away and the methylene blue dye is added and incubated for 30 min. After incubation, the plate is washed three times to remove unbound dye and the dye is released from the cells with a mixture of alcohol and hydrochloric acid solution. The absorbance is measured at 630 nm with the microtiter plate reader.



Figure 14. The structure of methylene blue dye.

Total Cellular Protein Assay

Measurement of total cellular protein concentration has been related to the cell count (Patterson, 1979). The methods may be simple, as they do not require any washing steps. However, the total protein concentration varies due to different culture conditions, the age of the culture, and harvesting methods. The protein concentration does not always have a linear relationship to the cell number either as, for example, some cell types like fibroblasts secrete matrix proteins (Laughton, 1984). The assay response varies widely among cell types, as the cells contain different amounts of total protein (Patterson, 1979). The sensitivities of the methods are low. A detection limit of only approximately 1000 cells was reached by Laughton with the Bradford method applied for cell quantification. Furthermore, staining for at least three hours at 37 °C was required to reach this sensitivity (Laughton, 1984).

Acid Phosphatase Assay

The acid phosphatase assay (Connolly et al., 1986; Yang et al., 1996) is based on the hydrolysis of the *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate by intracellular acid phosphatase found in living cells to *p*-nitrophenol. *p*-Nitrophenol is released outside by lysing the cells. The phenolic OH group of *p*-nitrophenol is deprotonated under alkaline conditions and *p*-nitrophenolate is formed (Figure 15). *p*-Nitrophenolate absorbs at 410 nm and the absorbance is proportional to the number of living cells in the sample. The dynamic range of the method is from 1000 to over 100,000 (Yang et al., 1996) or from 100 to 10,000 (Connolly et al., 1986) cells in a 100 μ L sample volume, depending on the cell type and the endogenous level of acid phosphatase. The *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate solution is prepared freshly and equilibrated at RT or 37 °C before use (BioVision Acid Phosphatase, 2009; Cayman Acid Phosphatase, 2010; Luchter-Wasylewska, 1996; Sigma-Aldrich Acid Phosphatase, 2009). In the first step, the assay requires incubation at

37 °C for 2 h in the presence of *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate to achieve adequate sensitivity. In the second step, the addition of the sodium hydroxide solution follows in the end of the incubation to stop the reaction. The incubation time is shorter than for assays exploiting the activity of mitochondrial reductase enzyme (see Section 2.6.2), but it is still long and the assay is cumbersome. In fact, the absorbance does not level out even in four hours, which may lead to erroneous results, if all the reactions are not stopped simultaneously. Furthermore, the assay is not suitable or the sensitivity is low for cells, such as human foreskin fibroblasts and mouse hybridoma cells, which have low acid phosphatase activity. The acid phosphatase level of some cell types, for instance canine prostatic epithelial (Connolly et al., 1986) and WI-38 (Vorbrodt et al., 1979) cells, has also been shown to vary during the culture, and the presence of certain chemicals in the culture medium (Bivic & Arsanto, 1987) has altered the phosphatase activity of the cells, causing limitations for the applicability of the method. Fluorometric assays have also been developed for measuring the acid or alkaline phosphatase activity (Abcam Acid Phosphatase; AnaSpec SensoLyte Acid Phosphatase; Huschtscha et al., 1989). They exploit a non-fluorescent reagent, e.g. monofluorophosphate or methylumbelliferyl phosphate disodium salt, whose fluorescence is enhanced upon dephosphorylation by phosphatase. Fluorometric assays are more sensitive than the colorimetric assay, but otherwise they bear the same disadvantages as the colorimetric assay (Abcam Acid Phosphatase).



Figure 15. The principle of the acid phosphatase assay. The hydrolysis of the *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate by intracellular acid phosphatase to *p*-nitrophenol (step 1) and the deprotonation of the phenolic OH group under alkaline conditions (step 2).

LDH Assay

The lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay (Allen et al., 1994; Guilbault, 1975; Korzeniewski & Callewaert, 1983), used for many years (Nachlas et al., 1960), relates the activity of the lactate dehydrogenase enzyme to the cell number. LDH is ubiquitously present in plant and animal cells, as it is important for a cell, due to the capacity to turn lactate into pyruvate, which again could be transformed into glucose (Caviedes-Bucheli et al., 2006). LDH is released from the cells with a lysis reagent to enable the determinination of the total number of cells in a sample. LDH catalyzes the conversion of lactate to pyruvate (Figure 16). This reaction leads to the concomitant reduction of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) to NADH. NADH again interacts with a specific probe to produce a signal. There are two different ways for detection, as a change in fluorescence or absorbance. In the first one, NADH drives the reduction of resazurin (7-hydroxy-10-oxide-3*H*-phenoxazin-3-one) to the fluorescent resorufin product in the

presence of diaphorase as a catalyst (Guilbault, 1975). This reaction is used in CytoTox-ONE (Promega CytoTox-ONE, 2009) and DHL Express (Interchim Cell Biology) kits. In the second one, the NADH reduction is coupled to the reduction of different tetrazolium salts to produce formazans. Tetrazolium salts are used in the method described by Korzeniewski & Callewaert (Korzeniewski & Callewaert, 1983), and in QuantiChrom DLDH-100 (BioAssay Systems QuantiChrom DLDH-100, 2007), CytoTox 96 (Moravec, 1994; Promega CytoTox 96, 2009), and BRSC LDH assay (BRSC LDH) kits as absorbance-based indicators of LDH activity.



Figure 16. a) The conversion of lactate to pyruvate with the concomitant conversion of NAD⁺ to NADH catalyzed by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) (reaction 1) (Guilbault, 1964). b) The reduction of resazurin (reaction 2A) or tetrazolium salt (reaction 2B) by NADH (Guilbault, 1964; Korzeniewski & Callewaert, 1983; Mosmann, 1983; Scudiero et al., 1988).

The fluorescence-based assay (CytoTox-ONE and DHL Express kits) requires three reagent additions (Promega CytoTox-ONE, 2009; Interchim Cell Biology). The lysis solution is first added to the samples. The plate is incubated, typically for 20-30 min, to reach RT, when the analyte cells were cultured at 37 °C. The reagent containing lactate, NAD⁺, diaphorase, and resazurin is added and the plate is incubated, typically 10 min at RT. Lastly, the stop solution is added and the fluorescence emission is recorded at 590 nm using excitation at approximately 540 nm. The method is relatively user-friendly, as it does not contain any heating steps and is not time-consuming. However, it has as many as three steps, making the method laborious. The extra step for the addition of the stop solution is recorded, as the signal does not level out. The assay is based on a kinetic reaction and originally the change in fluorescence with time has been recorded as a function of analyte concentration (Guilbault, 1975). If kinetic mesurements are not performed, identical incubation of each sample must be ensured by the quick addition of the reagents and a brief and efficient mixing. Both ways limit the usefulness and the time-

dependent signal decreases the accuracy of the method. Typically a few hundred cells can be detected in a sample of 100 µL measured in a microtiter plate. At high cell concentrations the substrate becomes rate-limiting, which restricts the dynamic range to hundreds of thousands of cells (Allen et al., 1994). Animal serums that are added into the culture media, are probable interfering agents, as the serum containing LDH can limit the sensitivity (Promega CytoTox-ONE, 2009). Another disadvantage of the method is the dissimilar LHD activity and response for different cell types (Allen et al., 1994; Promega CytoTox 96, 2009). The LDH content of the cell is determined by the size and oxidative activity of the cell (Allen et al., 1994). However, the LDH activity is thought to be similar within the same cell line and a standard curve should be measured for each cell type. Due to the varying LDH activities, the cell mixture samples cannot be quantified either (Allen et al., 1994). The half-life of LDH released from cells into the surrounding medium is approximately 9 h, avoiding the underestimation of the total cell number relatively well (Promega Cell Viability, 2006). However, the addition of lysis solution at the beginning of an experimental exposure period may lead to the decrease of active LDH and result in an erroneous counting result (Promega Cell Viability, 2006).

The colorimetric LDH assays (Allen et al., 1994; Korzeniewski & Callewaert, 1983; Moravec, 1994) use different tetrazolium salts, such as 3-(4,5-dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) (BioAssay Systems QuantiChrom DLDH-100, 2007) and 2-p-iodophenyl-3-p-nitrophenyltetrazolium chloride (INT) (BRSC LDH; Promega CytoTox 96, 2009). The reduced forms exhibit absorption maxima at different wavelengths (approximately 570 nm for MTT and approximately 490 nm for INT). The absorbance is directly proportional to the enzyme activity. The method has a simple mixand-measure protocol, although it contains three reagent additions. The cells are first lysed with Triton X-100 and incubated at 37 °C for 30-60 min. The reagent containing NAD^+ , lactate, and diaphorase is mixed with the lysed cell sample in a microtiter plate, incubated generally for approximately 30 min at RT or at an elevated temperature 30 or 37 °C. After the incubation, the assay is stopped (optionally) by adding the stop solution and the plate is measured with a plate reader (Allen et al., 1994; Promega CytoTox 96, 2009). As for a fluorescence-based assay, the activity of the enzyme can alternatively be determined from the change in the signal (absorbance) as a function of time without the addition of the stop solution (Korzeniewski & Callewaert, 1983). According to Allen et al. (Allen et al., 1994), the linear dynamic range of the absorbance-based method is from 50 to 5000 cells in a sample of 50 μ L measured in a microtiter plate, but may be affected by the cell type.

Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate Dehydrogenase Assay

The luminometric glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Corey et al., 1997) assay measures the activity of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase enzyme released from dead or damaged cells. The cell lysis reagent enables the determinination of the total number of cells in a population. The glycolytic pathway is exploited in the detection. The glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase enzyme catalyzes the reaction of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate with NAD⁺ in an oxidative phosphorylation reaction, where 1,3diphosphoglycerate is formed (Figure 17). Another enzyme, phosphoglycerate kinase, enables the transfer of the phosphate group of the phosphoanhydride bond at carbon 1 of 1,3-diphosphoglycerate to adenosine diphosphate (ADP) to obtain 3-phosphoglycerate and adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Formed ATP is detected by means of firefly luciferase in the light-producing reaction. The method is fast, sensitive, and relatively independent of the cell type studied. The total incubation time is only approximately 10 min and even less than a single cell can be detected in a 5 μ L sample volume in a microtiter plate. The dynamic range of the method is at least three orders of magnitude. However, the method requires several reagents and has two steps: the incubation of the sample in the presence of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate, ADP, and phosphoglycerate kinase to yield ATP, and the addition of luciferase to detect the produced ATP.



Figure 17. The principle of the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase method. The oxidative phosphorylation reaction of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate (reaction 1) and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) formation (reaction 2) (Corey et al., 1997).

DNA Detection Assay

Fluorescent dyes, such as Hoechst, SYTOX, CyQUANT, SYBR green, diaminophenylindole, and propidium iodide, intercalate DNA and are useful in the counting of cells (Benech et al., 2004; Blaheta et al., 1991; Jansen et al., 2009). The fluorescence of the dyes is enhanced upon binding to DNA and the fluorescence signal is directly proportional to cell number. The cell-impermeable dyes require sample pretreatment, in which the cell membrane is lysed with detergent, ultrasound, papain, or by a freezing-thawing process (Blaheta et al., 1991; Cell Proliferation). Whereas, the assessment with cell-permeable dye does not require any sample pretreatment. The process of cell quantification using DNA dyes is fast and convenient. The assays performed in a microtiter plate format have short incubations of less than 5 min at RT, low cost, and require no washing steps (Adams & Storrie, 1981; Invitrogen CyQUANT, 2006). The method is capable of detecting tens or hundreds of picograms of DNA in a sample, depending on the intrinsic background fluorescence, extinction coefficient, and quantum yield of the dye (Adams & Storrie, 1981; BioTek Hoechst 33258, 2001; Life Technologies DNA Quantitation, 2010). The DNA content is typically pigograms per eukaryotic and femtograms per bacterial cell (Bisseling et al., 1977; Button & Robertson, 2001; Mirsky & Ris, 1951; Rasch et al., 1971). Thus, in a typical sample of 10-200 μL, the sensitivity of the counting of cells is a few tens of eukaryotic cells and approximately a thousand times lower count for bacterial cells. The signal levels out at a concentration of several thousands of eukaryotic cells per a sample (Adams & Storrie, 1981; Gillies et al., 1986; Jansen et al., 2009; Jones et al., 2001; Stewart et al., 2000). The total DNA content per cell is usually independent of cellular metabolism, making the assays relatively accurate. However, the DNA content depends on the cell type and size and, thus, calibration is required for each eukaryotic cell type. Another drawback is the detection of contaminating DNA outside the cells, giving an erroneous high cell count.

2.6.2 Methods for Counting of Viable Cell Numbers

Cell proliferation assays measure the number of dividing cells in a culture and dead cells are not enumerated. Fundamentally, the cell number capable of dividing is quantified by plating the cells or establishing growth curves. Both methods are time-consuming and laborious, as the enumeration by plating the cells consists of growing the cells on the appropriate matrix and counting the colonies formed (colony forming unit, CFU). The cells may divide only a few times and the colonies are not necessarily large enough to be counted. It is not practical for a high number of samples either and suitable only for microbes. A hemacytometric count with Trypan Blue staining enables the quantification of viable cells, since live cells exclude the dye. This method has similar limitations to the counted soon after the staining, due to the toxicity of the dye and uptake of the dye by viable cells during long-term exposure. Trypan Blue stains also serum proteins in a medium and generates a dark background interfering with the counting (Beit-Haemek Trypan Blue Stain).

The microtiter plate assays quantifying viable cell numbers have been developed to speed up the quantification. The proliferating cells have been counted with radioactive methods, such as ³H-thymidine incorporation (Hellman & Ullberg, 1986). The dynamic range of the method is from approximately 1000 to 10,000 cells measured in a microtiter plate (Roche Proliferation/Viability 1). However, radioisotopes bring several disadvantages including toxicity and the dangerous nature of the isotopes for the environment and health, disposal of waste, insufficient labeling of the cells, uptake of radiolabels released from dead cells, and a requirement for sophisticated instrumentation for sample analysis (Cook & Mitchell, 1989; Stewart et al., 2000). These problems have led to the development of nonradioactive methods measuring, for instance, different cellular metabolic activities, ATP content, or the uptake of vital dyes.

Cellular metabolic activity has been related to cell numbers in various fluorescence- or absorbance-based measurements performed in microtiter plates: the detection of mitochondrial enzyme (Kwah, 2001; Morgan, 1998; Mosmann, 1983; Sieuwerts et al., 1995; Twentyman & Luscombe, 1987), intracellular esterase (Karmazsin et al., 1979), the reducing conditions of the cytosol (Page et al., 1993; Voytik-Harbin et al., 1998), or the above mentioned intracellular acid/alkaline phosphatase (Connolly et al., 1986; Huschtscha et al., 1989; Yang et al., 1996) and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Corey et al., 1997) activities used for the counting of total cell numbers. The most sensitive methods relying on phosphatase activity can detect cell counts down to a hundred cells (Connolly et al., 1986). However, the methods are not always very accurate and fast, as cellular metabolic activities vary from cell to cell, may depend on the environment, and take a long time to produce detectable amounts of the metabolic products (Zhang & Cox, 1996).

BrdU Assay

The traditional method for detecting cell proliferation has long been based on the ³Hthymidine incorporation (Maurer, 1981; Zolnai et al., 1998) into the cell DNA during the synthesis phase of the cell cycle (Dover & Patel, 1994; De Fries & Mitsuhashi, 1995). This method has several limitations, such as the handling and disposal of radioisotopes and the requirement for expensive equipment. Colorimetric, fluorescent, and chemiluminescent methods, in which 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU) is incorporated as an alternative to ³H-thymidine, have been developed and are commercially available (CHEMICON BrdU, 2005; EMD BrdU, 2009; LABGEN BrdU; Roche Proliferation/Viability 1). The BrdU assay (Hawker, 2003; Maghni et al., 1999; Muir et al., 1990) obviates the requirement for radioisotopes and liquid scintillation counters. The method evaluates cell cycle progression, as proliferating cells incorporate BrdU into the synthesized DNA strands. DNA is denatured, which exposes the incorporated BrdU to immunodetection and the counting of the number of actively DNA synthesizing cells is allowed. The measurement is either colorimetric (Hawker, 2003; Maghni et al., 1999), fluorometric (Savage et al., 1998a; Savage et al., 1998b), or chemiluminescent (Hawker, 2003) depending on the label of the substrate.

The lengthy experimental microtiter plate procedure takes typically 2-3 h (+ BrdU cell labeling) and contains fixing and washing steps. BrdU is added to the sample and incubated for 2-24 h in the tissue culture incubator, when BrdU is incorporated into proliferating cells. The cells are fixed and the DNA is denatured to enable antibody binding to the incorporated BrdU by adding a fixing/denaturing solution (Dinjens et al., 1992). After fixing for 30 min at RT, the wells are washed, anti-BrdU monoclonal antibody is added to locate the incorporated BrdU label, and the plate is incubated for 1 h at RT (Gratzner, 1982). At the end of the incubation, the wells are washed to remove the unbound antibody. The horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody, which binds to the anti-BrdU monoclonal antibody, is added and the plate is incubated for 30 min at RT. The substrate is added and incubated for 30 min at RT. The reaction is stopped with the addition of 1 M H₂SO₄ as a stop solution (CHEMICON BrdU, 2005; EMD BrdU, 2009; LABGEN BrdU; Roche Proliferation/Viability 1). For instance tetramethylbenzidine (Savage et al., 1998a), o-phenylenediamine (Muir et al., 1990; Savage et al., 1998a; Ternynck et al., 1987), or 2,2'-azinobis[3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6sulfonic acid]diammonium salt (Savage et al., 1998a) substrates are suitable for colorimetric detection, a fluorogenic QuantaBlue (Savage et al., 1998a; Savage et al., 1998b) substrate for fluorometric detection, and а chemiluminescent 3aminophthalhydrazide/4-iodophenol (Hawker, 2003) substrate for luminescent detection. The horseradish peroxidase catalyzes the conversion of the chromogenic substrate tetramethylbenzidine from a colorless solution to a blue solution, which is again turned to a yellow solution after the addition of the stop solution. The QuantaBlue fluorogenic substrate is converted to a blue fluorescent product by horseradish peroxidase (Savage et al., 1998a; Savage et al., 1998b). In the chemiluminescent substrate, 4-iodophenol radicals are formed from 4-iodophenol in the presence of horseradish peroxidase. 3aminophthalhydrazide then reacts with 4-iodophenol radicals and hydrogen peroxide and dissolved oxygen to yield endoperoxide. The endoperoxide decomposes to an electronically excited 3-aminophthalalate dianion, which relaxes to the ground state and emits light (Kamidate et al., 2009). The absorbance, fluorescence, or luminescence is read with a spectrophotometer or fluorescence or luminescence plate reader and related to the cell number. The higher absorbance/fluorescence/luminescence, the higher number of cells is in the sample.

Two alternative setups have been proposed. In the first one, the addition of the anti-BrdU monoclonal antibody and the horseradish peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody have been replaced with the addition of only one reagent, peroxidase-conjugated anti-BrdU antibody (Roche Proliferation/Viability 1). In the latter one, the anti-BrdU monoclonal antibody, the horseradish peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody,

and the substrate with the stop solution have been replaced with the anti-BrdU fluorescein conjugate.

The detection limit obtained for the colorimetric, fluorometric, or chemiluminescent assay varies according to the reference (EMD BrdU, 2009; LABGEN BrdU; Muir et al., 1990; Roche Proliferation/Viability 1) from below a hundred cells to a few thousand cells in a sample of 100 μ L measured in a microtiter plate, and the signal saturates with 10,000 cells (Roche Proliferation/Viability 1). Higher sensitivity and signal-to-noise ratios are obtained with longer BrdU labeling times. In addition, the sensitivity, dynamic range, and signal-to-noise ratio depend on the substrate and its type (Savage et al., 1998a). Hawker et al. have shown that higher signal-to-noise ratio is obtained with the chemiluminescent detection and 3-aminophthalhydrazide/4-iodophenol substrate compared to the colorimetric detection and tetramethylbenzidine substrate (Hawker, 2003). On the other hand, the fluorogenic QuantaBlue substrate has been shown to give higher signal-to-noise ratio and sensitivity than colorimetric tetramethylbenzidine, *o*-phenylenediamine and 2,2'-azinobis[3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid]diammonium salt and a commercial chemiluminescent substrate (Savage et al., 1998a).

As a disadvantage, BrdU affects the cell proliferation after its incorporation into DNA. This decreases the reliability of the assay and may decrease the sensitivity or increase the incubation time (Morris, 1991). BrdU also creates a potential health hazard, as it is a teratogen and can cause mutations by replacing thymidine in DNA (Ashman & Davidson, 1981; Bruce & Heddle, 1979) and thus, the user-friendliness of the method is decreased. The fixation of the cells is performed in the assay to prevent the detachment of the cells from the microtiter plate wells (Muir et al., 1990). However, a portion of the cells is still lost during the several experimental processes of the method. The acid denaturation of double-stranded DNA may also decrease the retention of cell numbers, if the fixed cells do not withstand acid denaturation. The method has a long incubation, as immunoreagents should penetrate into the cells to attain a high immunolabeling. Consequently, the antibody binding is time dependent and better sensitivities are only achieved with longer incubations (Muir et al., 1990). However, the BrdU has clear advantages compared to the radiolabeling methods, as it can be used at higher concentrations without toxic effects and it has lower costs, higher speed of counting and higher accuracy, and it is safer to use (Muir et al., 1990).

Neutral Red Assay

With neutral red assay (Elliott & Auersperg, 1993), viable cells are counted by using a supravital dye (Figure 18). Neutral red selectively targets the food breaking lysosomes or vacuoles only in living cells (Dierickx & Van De Vyver, 1991; Elliott & Auersperg, 1993; Fischer et al., 1985; Winckler, 1974), as cell injury decreases the permeability and retention of lysosomal membranes to the dye (Hawkins, 1980). However, the uptake of neutral red is strongly influenced by the metabolic state of the cell (Voytik-Harbin et al., 1998). The theoretical principle of the assay is simple, but the experimental setup is long and contains separation steps. A cell sample of 200 μ L in a culture medium is incubated for 3 h in the presence of neutral red in a microtiter plate at 37 °C. After the incubation, two further steps, which require separation, are followed. Firstly, the cells are fixed during 2 min to the wells. Secondly, the neutral red dye is released from the cells during 15 min. The cells are quantified from the absorbance of the dye at 540 nm. The dynamic

range is from approximately 1000 to over 40,000 cells in a sample of 100 μ L (Borenfreund & Puerner, 1984; Elliott & Auersperg, 1993; Löwik et al., 1993).



Figure 18. The structure of neutral red dye.

Mitochondrial Enzyme Activity Assays

Mitochondrial enzyme activity is utilized in the colorimetric MTT assay developed by Mossmann (Mosmann, 1983). The living cells produce a mitochondrial reductase enzyme, which reduces a tetrazolium compound 3-(4,5-dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) to 1-(4,5-dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-3,5-diphenylformazan (Figure 19). Formazan absorbs at 570 nm and the absorbance is proportional to the active cell number. The assay is cost effective, as it allows for a large number of tests to be performed at the same time in the microtiter plate. It requires no washing steps either. However, the method requires prolonged incubation and heating for 4 h at 37 °C. The assay requires the addition of the acidic alcohol solution or organic solvent/detergent at the end of the incubation to dissolve the water insoluble formazan and to negate the interference of the culture medium components with the reading at 570 nm. Thus, this addition increases the number of assay steps and the disposal of organic waste. Furthermore, this last step causes cell debris and protein precipitation, which affects the absorbance reading at 570 nm. The elimination of this effect by reading the absorbance at 630 nm further increases the assay complexity (Chapdelaine). The dynamic range of the method is rather long, from 200 to over 100,000 living cells in a 100 μ L sample volume (Mosmann, 1983) and the signal is stable, when the right stop solution is chosen (Chapdelaine; Promega CellTiter 96, 2009).

Cory et al. (Cory et al., 1991), Scudiero et al. (Scudiero et al., 1988), Barltrop et al. (Barltrop et al., 1991), Roehm et al. (Roehm et al., 1991), and the companies selling cell proliferation assays (Roche Proliferation/Viability 1) have developed new compounds to replace MTT and to reduce the steps of the assay. 3-(4,5-dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-5-(3carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (MTS), 2,3,5-triphenyl-2H-2,3-bis(2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-5-[(phenylamino)carbonyl]-2Htetrazolium. 4-[3-(4-iodophenyl)-2-(4-nitrophenyl)-2H-5-tetrazolio]-1,3-benzene tetrazolium. and disulfonate reduce to water-soluble formazans in the presence of the electron coupling reagent, phenazine metho- or ethosulfate in phosphate-buffered saline and no dissolving step is involved. While the MTT assay is an end-point measurement due to the addition of a stop solution, the water-soluble formazans enable the recording of the data during the progress of the cell culture. The water solubility is provided by the negative charge in the structure of the formazans. Furthermore, the components are reduced more efficiently than MTT and the water soluble product is not as toxic to cells as the water insoluble MTT. The sensitivities and dynamic ranges of the assays with novel compounds are comparable to the MTT assay (Buttke et al., 1993; Roehm et al., 1991). As a disadvantage, the reducing agents such as dithiothreitol, ascorbic acid, coenzyme A, glutathione, NADH, and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) may

interfere with all of these assays (Rhodes, 1996). The activity of some enzymes, such as dehydrogenases, involved can also persist even when cellular growth is no longer possible and the method may give the wrong information on the number of viable cells (Smith et al., 1982). If agents stimulating metabolicity are present, erroneous results are gained, as the cell proliferation is not increased simultaneously to the same extent as the metabolic activity is enhanced.



Figure 19. The reduction of a) MTT and b) MTS to corresponding formazans by mitochondrial reductase in living cells (Barltrop et al., 1991; Mosmann, 1983; Scudiero et al., 1988).

AlamarBlue Assay

AlamarBlue (Page et al., 1993; Voytik-Harbin et al., 1998) is a widely used method for the counting living cells and is based on the detection of the cellular metabolic activity. AlamarBlue reagent consists of a non-toxic, cell-permeable dye resazurin as an active ingredient (Figure 20). Resazurin is reduced to resorufin in the cytosol of the living cells, due to a reducing environment related to the growth of the cell. More specifically reduced forms of flavin mononucleotide and flavin adenine dinucleotides, NADPH, NADH, and cytochromes cause the reduction (Al-Nasiry et al., 2007). Resazurin is indigo blue in color and virtually non-fluorescent, while the reduced form resorufin is pink in color and highly fluorescent (Al-Nasiry et al., 2007). Thus, the viable cell number may be quantified either from an absorbance or fluorescence measurement. Resorufin absorbs at 570 nm and emits at 590 nm (Voytik-Harbin et al., 1998).



Figure 20. a) Absorption and b) emission spectra of oxidazed (resazurin) and reduced (resorufin) forms of the AlamarBlue reagent. Redrawn from Interchim UptiBlue, 2009.

The method has a simple add-and-read format performed in a microtiter plate, as the ready-to-use reagent is added to the sample in a culture media, and no washing or extraction steps are required. However, the method is time-consuming, as the incubation at 37 °C following the reagent addition takes over 8 h to reach high sensitivity. Fluorescence-based quantification has a more than ten times higher sensitivity than absorbance-based one (Page et al., 1993). Quantitative differentiation of cell numbers from 100 to 20,000 is possible, based on fluorescence detection in a sample of 200 μ L in a microtiter plate (Page et al., 1993; Voytik-Harbin et al., 1998). However, the metabolic activity varies between cells affecting the sensitivity and response of the method for different cell types (Riss & Moravec, 2003). Viable cells continuously convert resazurin to resorufin, which results in the change of fluorescence and absorbance as a function of time until the reagent is exhausted. The reaction and signal generation can be stopped by adding sodium dodecyl sulfate when needed. To speed up the counting, shorter incubation times may be used, although the sensitivity is lower than for long incubations. Conversely, as a disadvantage for long incubations, resorufin can further reduce to colorless hydroresorufin, depending on the cell type, and the dynamic range is reduced (Erb & Ehlers, 1950; O'Brien et al., 2000; Promega CellTiter-Blue, 2009).

The non-toxic reagent does not interfere with the normal metabolism of the cells (Larson et al., 1997), the cells are not destroyed in any step of the assay in contrast to, for instance, radioisotope, MTT (Fields & Lancaster, 1993), and dye uptake (Larson et al., 1997) assays and thus, the method can be applied for monitoring cell proliferation or the effect of drugs on metabolism continuously (Ahmed et al., 1994; Fields & Lancaster, 1993). The adequately stable signal and non-toxicity of the reagent allows the application

of the assay even for prolonged periods of several days (Interchim UptiBlue, 2009). Although the resazurin is generally considered as non-toxic to cells during short cultures with an optimized reagent concentration (Ahmed et al., 1994; Promega CellTiter-Blue, 2009), few studies clearly show that the reagent is harmful for certain cells during longer periods or with a higher resazurin concentration (Gloeckner et al., 2001).

Fetal bovine serum, bovine serum albumin (BSA), and phenol red found in cell culture media interfere with the assay by quenching the fluorescence or affecting absorbance values (Goegan et al., 1995). According to the supplier of the kit, chemicals or test compounds may also have an interference with resazurin reduction or assisting reagents and the assay chemistry should be controlled with positive and negative controls (Riss & Moravec, 2003). The advantage of the method is its low price per assay compared to radioactive methods (Larson et al., 1997) and the more sensitive ATP detection method (Invitrogen AlamarBlue, 2008). The method is safe for the end-users, as it does not contain any hazardous solvents and the reagent is disposable without inconvenient waste treatment.

Intracellular Esterase Assay

The intracellular esterase (Karmazsin et al., 1979) assay exploits the ability of the active esterase enzymes to hydrolyze fluorescein diacetate (Huang et al., 1986; Karmazsin et al., 1979; Persidsky & Baillie, 1977), carboxyfluorescein diacetate (Kaneshiro et al., 1991), or calcein acetoxy methyl ester (Kaneshiro et al., 1993; Kasper et al., 2008; Papadopoulos et al., 1994). These nonpolar and non-fluorescent dyes pass readily through the cell membrane. Inside the living cells their ester bonds are hydrolyzed by esterases, yielding highly fluorescent compounds: fluorescein, carboxyfluorescein, and calcein (Figure 21). The hydrolyzed dyes as polar molecules diffuse out much slower than nonpolar dyes, and accumulate intracellularly leaving the viable cells highly fluorescent. In contrast, the dead cells remain non-fluorescent. The principle can be used in visual hemocytometric counting or flow cytometry (Persidsky & Baillie, 1977), but simple microtiter plate procedures have also been developed. The dye is incubated with the samples at RT for 30-45 min (Invitrogen Viability/Cytotoxicity, 2005). The incubation time is rather short and the assay is relatively simple to perform for the end-user. Calcein acetoxy methyl ester has higher fluorescence, lower bleaching and is not as sensitive to pH changes as fluorescein diacetate and carboxyfluorescein (Kaneshiro et al., 1993). Fluorescein, carboxyfluorescein, and calcein are excited at approximately 490 nm and emit at approximately 520 nm near a neutral pH (Baptista et al., 2003; Cheng et al., 2007; Ralston et al., 1981; Siejak & Frackowiak, 2005). An assay with calcein acetoxy methyl ester has a dynamic range from a few hundred cells to a million cells in a 100 µL sample volume (Invitrogen Viability/Cytotoxicity, 2005).



Figure 21. The hydrolyzation of non-fluorescent a) fluorescein diacetate, b) carboxyfluorescein diacetate, and c) calcein acetoxy methyl ester by esterase to highly fluorescent fluorescein, carboxyfluorescein, and calcein, respectively (Huang et al., 1986; Kaneshiro et al., 1991; Karmazsin et al., 1979; Kasper et al., 2008; Papadopoulos et al., 1994; Persidsky & Baillie, 1977; Vitecek et al., 2005).

Conserved Protease Activity Assay

The conserved protease activity as a measure of living cells has been proposed by Niles et al. (Niles et al., 2007). The fluorometric microtiter plate method has only one reagent addition of a fluorogenic and cell-permeable peptide substrate (glycyl-phenylalanyl-

aminofluorocoumarin). The substrate is cleaved by the live-cell protease inside the cell and a fluorescence signal is generated (Figure 22). Dead cells do not contribute to the signal, as this live-cell protease is quickly deactivated upon the breakage of cell membrane and leakage into the surrounding culture medium. After the substrate addition, the plate is incubated at 37 °C for 30 min, or at RT for longer than 30 min, and the fluorescence emission is measured at 505 nm with excitation at 400 nm. As the substrate is enzymatically cleaved, the fluorescence is measured before it levels out. It is impractical for the end-users, as the incubation time should be the same for each sample. The assay sensitivity for HeLa cells is below 50 viable cells in a 100 μ L sample volume. However, animal serums may contain protease and decrease the sensitivity (Promega CellTiter-Fluor, 2009).



Figure 22. The live-cell protease cleaves the derivatized aminofluorocoumarin substrate to produce the fluorescent compound in a protease activity assay (Niles et al., 2007).

ATP Assay

Quantification of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is exploited in the counting of cells in a bioluminescence assay with firefly luciferase and its substrate D-luciferin (Campbell, 1988; Crouch et al., 1993). In the presence of ATP and molecular oxygen from the air, D-luciferin is catalytically oxidized by the luciferase (Figure 23). ATP is not the energy source of the reaction, instead, it converts D-luciferin into a form, which is oxidized by the luciferase (Campbell, 1988). In the reaction, oxyluciferin is produced and ATP is dephosphorylated to adenosine monophosphate (AMP). The reaction leads to a light emission at 560 nm, giving a detectable signal, which increases linearly when the sample ATP concentration increases (Campbell, 1988). The plate is read with a luminometer, which precludes compound fluorescence or autofluorescence interference (Olsen, 2009). ATP is present in all metabolically active cells, as it is needed to remain alive and carry out the specialized functions. Thus, the quantification of ATP released from cells with detergent is related to the cell number. When the cells die, the concentration of ATP degrading enzymes (ATPases), and so only living cells are counted.

The method is commercially available as kits with different small modifications from several companies (Interchim Cell Biology; Invitrogen ATP, 2005; Kikkoman PD-10 and LUCIPAC-W, 2001; Lonza ViaLight HS, 2007; PerkinElmer ATPLite, 2002; Promega CellTiter-Glo, 2009). Generally, the method contains two additions of reagents, lysing solution and luciferase/luciferin substrate solution, and no separation steps. CellTiter-Glo has only one reagent addition, as the lysing and substrate solution are first mixed together and the mixture is added to the cells. The assay requires no heating steps, as it can be performed at RT, in which the activity of the luciferase enzyme is the highest (Campbell,

1988). As few as 0.01-0.1 fmol ATP can be detected (Campbell, 1988). Eukaryotic cells contain generally 0.1-10 fmol, and bacterial cells approximately 0.01 fmol ATP per cell (Campbell, 1988). This enables a sensitivity of less than ten or even single cells, and the dynamic range is up to 10^7 cells in a typical 100 µL sample for microtiter plate protocols. High sensitivity is obtained due to the high quantum yield of the chemiluminescent reaction and long-lived luminescence. Approximately 90% of the energy released in the reaction is converted to light (Seliger & McElroy, 1960). Currently, ATP determination seems to be the only commercially available method gaining such a high sensitivity (Maehara et al., 1987; Petty et al., 1995). The method is rapid, as commercial systems have typically a 5 min-incubation after the addition of lysis solution, followed by a 10-15 min-incubation after the addition of a substrate solution, and before the reading of the luminescence. This sensitive, simple, and fast method has been typically exploited for detecting low-level bacterial contamination in samples, such as blood, milk, food, urine, soil, and sludge (Kricka, 1988; Molin et al., 1983; Newmark, 1988; Schifman et al., 1984).



Figure 23. The luciferase catalyzed reaction in an ATP assay (Campbell, 1988).

The optimization of the assay conditions has enabled an adequately stable signal for 4-6 h, at least in ATPLite, CellTiter-Glo, and ViaLight HS kits. Thus, the ATP method can be used to study the effects of drugs and biological compounds on cell proliferation or cytotoxicity (Cree & Andreotti, 1997; Crouch et al., 1993; Kangas et al., 1984; Petty et al., 1995; Storer et al., 1996). However, the use is not straightforward, as these chemicals may be incompatible with the method and can affect its response (Crouch et al., 1993). There are differencies in commercial ATP assay kits, regarding the ability to affect molecules interfering with the method and probably found in cell samples. ATPases can decrease the ATP concentration of the sample and lead to a low response. Moreover, chaotropic agents or detergents found in lysing solutions would normally decrease the activity of the luciferase isolated from *Photinus pyralis* firefly. The effects of these molecules are eliminated in ATPLite or CellTiter-Glo kits by altering the pH, eliminating chaotropic agents/detergents or developing a stable form of luciferase purified from *Photuris pennsylvanica* firefly.

The susceptibility of the method to ATP contamination is a disadvantage. Namely, ATP as an energy source serving molecule, is found everywhere, and thus, it is a high risk for the assay performance and the storage of the assay components. The easy denaturation of the firefly luciferase enzyme hampers the handling and reduces the exploitability from the end-user's point of view, as the samples should be mixed by inverting the tubes and not simply by vortexing (Invitrogen ATP, 2005). Difficulties also arise in preparing the reagents, providing their high purity and establishing the right storage and assay conditions (Campbell, 1988). The response of the assay varies between cells, since the ATP level varies considerably in different cell types (Andreotti et al., 1995; Beckers et al., 1986; Crouch et al., 1993; Lundin et al., 1986; Stanley, 1986). The culture conditions affecting the cytoplasmic volume or physiology of the cells change also the ATP content. For instance, a decrease of intracellular volume, a change in energy metabolism, a cell injury, a substrate deficiency, or oxygen deficiency leads to the decrease of ATP (Crouch et al., 1993; Lundin et al., 1986).

2.6.3 Summary of Methods for Counting of Cells

The characteristics and principles of the methods for the counting of cells discussed above are collected in Table 3. The features affect the choice of the right method for the experimental needs. Depending on the method, the total numbers of cells or only viable cells are counted. For number of applications, such as cell signaling studies, the cell viability is important and the assay quantifying the number of healthy cells should be chosen (Voytik-Harbin et al., 1998). In proliferation assays, such as ³H-thymidine incorporation and BrdU, cells must reproduce and therefore, slowly proliferating cells are difficult or at least time-consuming to count. To quantify viable cells, for instance an AlamarBlue assay, which does not depend on cell division, could be chosen to speed up the counting (Larson et al., 1997). On the other hand, the applications where viable cells are not needed, the viable cell count is an underestimation of the total cell number. With hemocytometer the number of individual cells is directly counted in a sample and the determined cell concentration cannot differ ten- or hundredfold from the correct one. The methods quantifying, for instance, a cellular process or the activity of an enzyme in a cell or a signal related to the cell concentration can lead to a wrong conclusion, as these processes, activities, or signals may vary between individual cells. However, the aggregation, breakup, or division of the cells may lead to an erroneous result with a hemocytometer. Thus, the lysing agents are not suitable with direct count methods, as the lysed cells are not detected.

Further criteria for choosing a method are the ease-of-use, speed-of-count, and ability for sequential sample analysis. Manual hemocytometric count is time-consuming and laborious for several samples and subjective. Automated hemocytometers are more objective and less time-consuming and less laborious (Connolly et al., 1986). However, automated hemocytometers and other automated counters different from hemocytometers are inaccurate at low cell concentrations, require high cell numbers, upfront costs may be high, and several samples cannot be counted simultaneously (Huschtscha et al., 1989). Methods such as ³H-thymidine incorporation and BrdU assays allow for the processing of several samples at once. Due to the long labeling time, the results are usually not obtained until after 24 h, which may prevent the fast continuation of research. These methods are not able to count the cells at true zero time, since the cells may proliferate during the incubation. For other assays like AlamarBlue, MTT, neutral red, and acid phosphatase assays, the incubation times are shorter, but generally several hours are still needed to

obtain the results. The cells can be counted in less than one hour with a DNA intercalator dye, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, LDH, intracellular esterase, conserved protease, and ATP methods discussed in Sections 2.6.1 and 2.6.2.

It is preferred that the assays have simple mix-and-measure protocols with only one reagent addition, no separation steps, and a short or no incubation at ambient temperature. BrdU assay has one of the most difficult experimental procedures containing six reagent additions, several incubations at RT or 37 °C for 4-24 h in total, and two washing steps. In addition, BrdU and LDH assays require the addition of the stop solution, and the MTT assay an organic solvent to dissolve the formed formazan. As the signals of BrdU, LDH, and conserved protease activity assays are measured before reaching the equilibrium, the incubation time must be controlled carefully before the reading of the plate or the addition of stop solution in the end of the assay. PCV, staining, and dye incorporation methods require a separation step. Homogeneous methods are preferred, since the fixing, washing, and centrifugation steps and the instruments performing these steps are not required. The methods requiring incubations at 37 °C or under culture conditions are performed in separate incubators increasing the need for instruments. There are only a few homogeneous assays, e.g. DNA detection (Benech et al., 2004; Blaheta et al., 1991; Jansen et al., 2009) and ATP (Campbell, 1988; Crouch et al., 1993) assays, having short incubation at RT and only one reagent addition. The choice of the detection is determined, for instance, by the following factors: detection environment, available instrumentation, and sensitivity. Assays are mainly colorimetric, fluorometric, luminometric, or radio-isotopic. Radio-isotopic assays are avoided due to the toxicity, storage-related problems, and specific requirements for waste disposal. Fluorometric detection has an advantage over colorimetric detection due to the higher sensitivity.

If an assay has an ability for multiplexing, several parameters are obtained from a single sample providing cost-effectiveness as sample volume, time, and assay components can be reduced. Assays retaining cell viability enable additional assaying. The cell quantification can be combined with, for instance, a genetic reporter, viability, cytotoxicity, apoptosis, or proteasome assay. On the other hand, for example, the reagents for the ATP and LDH assays lyse the cells and limit multiplexing (Promega Cell Viability, 2006).

The dynamic ranges of the methods are not typically the same for all cell types. For instance, the methods based on the detection of cellular metabolic activity result in a different response for different cells, if the activity of the cell types varies. Due to the limited commercial and literature data, the values in Table 3 are not for the same cell types. However, the collected data suggests that the dynamic range is in the same order of magnitude and comparable at least among similar eukaryotic cells. The automated or electronic counting methods have the theoretical sensitivity of one cell in a sample. In practice, the statistical error is so high, that more than a hundred cells in a sample are counted to obtain a lower coefficient of variation. Therefore, the required cell number is estimated differently in the references and for the instruments. Long dynamic range is important, as it avoids the dilution or concentration steps and cumbersome repetitive assaying. The ³H-thymidine incorporation method, having one of the shortest dynamic ranges, has a dynamic range of only one order of magnitude. On the other hand, intracellular esterase and ATP assays have the longest dynamic ranges of over four and six orders of magnitude, respectively.

-	
q	
.9	
12	
ΰį	
Е	
5	
Ē	
.E.	
8	
ĕ	
ē	
E.	
Ψ	
e	
H	
Ę	
\sim	
_×	
÷5	
ã	
Q	
đ	
ç	
\triangleleft	
0	
ĕ	
Ñ	
-	
Ĩ,	
G	
õ	
ч	
Ö	
50	
ĉ	
·Ξ	
Б	
=	
ō	
õ	
Ð	
Ĕ	
نب .	
H	
Ч	
Ğ	
õ	
Ē.	
ъ	
ŭ	
ц	
e	
ų	
1	
ō	
ő	
Ē	
1	
<u></u>	
Е.	
. <u>च</u>	
р	
q	
Ū.	
а	
ŝ	
<u>1</u>	
Ľ,	
·H	
6	
ž	
Я	
Ľ,	
Ja	
e	
는	
Ë	
3. Th	
e 3. Th	
le 3. Th	
ble 3. Th	

Table 3. The charact	eristics and p	rinciples of	f the method	s for the	e countii	ng of cell:	s. (See Appe	endix 2	tor reference	information.)
Methods for Counting of Tota	d Cell Numbers									
Method	Principle	Detection	Setup	Incub. time	No. of add.	Temp. and cond.	Dyn. range (cells)	Vol. (µL)	Format	Interferences & limitations
Hemocytometry ^{1,2}	direct count	visual	homogeneous		0	RT	> 10 ³ -	20	count chamber + microscope	lysis agents, laborious, subj. counting, LTS
Automated hemocytometry ^{3.6}	direct count/ DNA dye	image anal/ fluorometric	homogeneous		0 or 1	RT	100-10 ⁵	10-20	count chamber + instrument	lysis agents, small cells (diameter $< 5 \ \mu$ m), high upfront costs, LTS
Coulter ⁷⁻¹²	conductance change	conductance	homogeneous	ï	0	RT	$>100-<10^{4}$	> 50	instrument	lysis agents, cell aggregates, instrument resetting for different cells, LTS
Flow cytometry ⁴¹³⁻¹⁶	scattering of light	laser light scattering	homogeneous	,	0	RT	10^{4} - 10^{7}	10-	instrument	experienced user, instrument maintenance, lysis agents, experim. setup, high upfront costs, LTS
PCV ^{17.19}	total volume of cells	volumetric	heterogeneous	ı	0	RT	$2 \times 10^{5} \cdot 2 \times 10^{8} \cdot 10^{4}$	500	centrifuge + tube centrifuge + tube	dependent on cell volume, lvsis agents
Turbidity ²⁰	interference with passage of light	turbidimetric/ colorimetric	homogeneous		0	RT	> 10 ⁶ -	100	+ reader cuvette	difference in turbidity between cells
CASY ^{21,22}	electrical signals generated by cells	change in voltage	homogeneous		0	RT	10-	5-100	instrument	high upfront costs, LTS
Methylene blue ^{23,24}	DNA and protein staining	colorimetric	heterogeneous	1 h	3	RT	> 100-> 3000	100	96-well	laborious
Bradford ²⁵⁻²⁷	total cellular protein quantif.	colorimetric	homogeneous	3 h	1	37 °C	10 ³ -	100	96-well	culture cond., culture age, harvesting, cell type, time-consuming
Acid phosphatase ²⁸⁻³¹	enzyme activity	colorimetric	homogeneous	2 h	2	37 °C	> 100-> 10 ⁴	100	96-well	culture conditions, cell type, culture age
LDH ^{1,32-35}	enzyme	fluorometric	homogeneous	30 min	ς. 	RT RT/30 °C	> 100-10 ⁵	100	96-well	animal serum, cell type
	activity	colorimetric	0	60 min		/37 °C	50-5000	50		cell type
Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase ³⁶	enzyme activity	luminometric	homogeneous	10 min	2	RT	< 1-> 1000	5	96-well	several reagents, reagent impurities
DNA dye ^{8,37,43}	total DNA quantification	fluorometric	homogeneous	5 min	1 or 2	RT	> 10-> 10 ³	10- 200	96-well	DNA outside cells, cell type/size, carcinogenic, mutagenic
Quenching ⁴⁴	nonspecific interaction	fluorometric	homogeneous	10 min	2	RT	4-300	70	96-well	culture conditions
TR-LRET ⁴⁴	nonspecific interaction	luminometric	homogeneous	10 min	2	RT	5-30	70	96-well	culture conditions
TPX^{45}	nonspecific interaction	2PE fluorometric	homogeneous	40 min	2	RT	3-200	20	384-well	not available

Methods for Counting of Via	ble Cell Numbers									
Method	Principle	Detection	Setup	Incub. time	No. of add.	Temp. and cond.	Dyn. range (cells)	Vol. (JLL)	Format	Interferences & limitations
Standard plate count ²⁰	cell culture + counting CFUs	visual	homogeneous	24 h-	0	culture cond. (37 °C)	-		culture dish	culture cond./cell type, small colonies, time-consuming, laborious, only for microbes, LTS
Trypan Blue ⁴⁶	dye exclusion	visual	homogeneous		0	RT	> 10 ³ -	20	count chamber + microscope	subj. counting
³ H-thymidine incorporation ^{47,48}	DNA dye incorp. during cell culture	radio-isotopic	heterogeneous	2-24 h	1	culture cond. (37 °C)	10^{3} - 10^{4}	,	96-well	toxicity, disposal of waste, instrumentation, time-consuming
BrdU ⁴⁸⁻⁵⁶	BrdU incorp. to DNA during cell culture	colorimetric/ fluorometric/ luminometric	heterogeneous	4-24 h	6	culture cond. (37 °C) + RT	> 100-10 ^{4 b}	100	96-well	teratogenic/mutagenic BrdU, change in cell proliferation, detachment of cells, time-consuming, laborious
Neutral red ^{24,57,62}	lysosome & vacuole staining	colorimetric	heterogeneous	3 h	3	37 °C	10^3 -> 4×10 ⁴	100	96-well	uptake affected by cellular metabolic state, time-consuming, laborious
MTT ⁶⁰	mitochondrial reductase enzyme activity	colorimetric	homogeneous	4 h	2	37 °C	200-> 10 ⁵	100	96-well	metabolicity stimulators, red. agents, time-consuming insoluble/toxic formazan, end-point measurement, enzyme activity w/o cell growth,
MTS ⁶⁴	mitochondrial reductase enzyme activity	colorimetric	homogeneous	4 h	1	37 °C	200-> 10 ⁵	100	96-well	metabolicity stimulators, red. agents, enzyme activity w/o cell growth, time-consuming
AlamarBlue ^{57,65,66}	reducing environment in living cells	colorimetric fluorometric	- homogeneous	8-24 h 8 h	1	37 °C	3×10 ³ -10 ⁵ 100-2×10 ⁴	200	96-well	FBS, BSA, phenol red, long-term toxicity, metabolic activity, reduction to hydroresorufin, possible chem. interference, time-consuming
Intracellular esterase ^{67,68}	esterase enzyme activity	fluorometric	homogeneous	30 min	1	RT	> 100-10 ⁶	100	96-well	
Conserved protease ^{69,70}	protease enzyme activity	fluorometric	homogeneous	30 min	1	37 °C	50-10 ⁴ °	100	96-well	animal serum containing protease
ATP ^{n.π}	D-luciferin oxidation and light prod.	luminometric	homogeneous	15-20 min	1 or 2	RT	1-10 ⁷	100	96-well	ATP, ATP prod./degr. enzymes, nucleotides, arsenate, acidic buffers, low/high temperature quat. NH4,* salts, anions, cell type
^a 0.1-100% PCV ^b broader dynamic range for chemilumin ^c the highest number of cells 10 ⁴ in refer	e scent detection ence 69	abbreviations: 2PE = two-photon exci BrdU = 5-bromo-2-dec	BSA : tation CFU : vyuridine FBS =	 albumin from b colony forming fetal bovine seru 	ovine serum unit ım	LTS = low-throug No. of add. = num RT = room tempe	Aput screening ther of reagent addition rature	vol. = :	sample volume	

The sensitivity of the method determines its applicability and suitability for a chosen application. Especially if only few cells, such as slowly proliferating stem cells, are present in a precious sample, only a limited number of methods are applicable. A standard plate count has the sensitivity of one cell in a sample, but only microbes can be counted. The detection of ATP content (Maehara et al., 1987; Petty et al., 1995) seems to be the only commercially available assay reaching nearly a single-cell sensitivity and with the literature method measuring the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase enzyme activity, less than single cells can be detected (Corey et al., 1997).

Each method may be interfered with different agents and has limitations dependent on its principle. The common contaminants for the assays are cell lysis agents, reagent impurities, reducing agents, phenol red, and animal serum. The drugs and biological compounds, whose effect on cell proliferation or cytotoxicity is studied, can also interfere with the assays. Parallel time- and sample-consuming tests must be run when such chemicals affect the methods (Zhang & Cox, 1996). If, for instance, the effect of metabolic stimulators on cell growth is studied, metabolic activity-based assays for the counting of cells give the wrong results. Cellular metabolic processes vary also greatly over time, which in turn affects the counting of cells. Chemical agents have also been shown to modulate enzyme activities (Bivic & Arsanto, 1987; Huschtscha et al., 1989). The ATP method has similar problems, as the culture conditions affect the ATP content and the sample may still contain a different number of living cells than the ATP level suggests (Crouch et al., 1993; Lundin et al., 1986).

2.7 VIABILITY TESTS

Most of the methods discussed above count only the total number of cells or the number of viable/living cells and do not state the percentages of viable/living and dead cells in a sample. The cell health is important in establishing optimal cell culture conditions and for obtaining reliable results in cell-based experiments. In properly selected cell culture conditions, the healthy cells proliferate efficiently, providing savings in time, labor, and disposable laboratory ware. In cell-based research, the dead cells can interfere, e.g. by altered antigen expression, binding nonspecifically onto assay components or cellular markers, replacing specific binding sites, uptaking fluorescent probes, and inhibiting the staining or binding of the dyes (Coder, 1997; Frankfurt, 1990; O'Brien & Bolton, 1995). Cell viability is also important in medicine. In cancer research, the cell viability provides information about the effect of the treatment on the cancer cell growth. In the medical treatment of people with autoimmune disease, the evaluation of cell viability helps the physician to determine the progress of the disease and decide on a suitable drug therapy (Ellis-Christensen). On the other hand, the percentage of dead cells can be important in cytotoxicity studies or the handling of hazardous cells (Interchim Cell Biology). Without simple viability tests combining viable and dead cell counts, the number of viable and dead cells should be measured using possibly two to three separate methods requiring their own samples.

The cells may die via two mechanisms: necrosis or apoptosis. Necrosis is an accidental death, which occurs for a group of cells under physically or chemically harsh conditions. Apoptosis is a programmed cell death, which occurs for individual cells, and eliminates unwanted or useless cells under normal biological conditions (Roche Proliferation/Viability 1). Due to the plentiful available viability tests, the methods

distinguishing between necrotic and apoptotic cells are not presented in this thesis for the sake of simplicity.

There are several methods to assess the percentages of viable/living and dead cells. These methods define the living or dead cells differently. Probably, the simplest definition is that viable cells have intact plasma membranes and dead cells broken plasma membranes, which is tested with a dye exclusion (Frankfurt, 1990). Large or charged dye molecules do not permeate intact cell membranes, which provides the differentiation (Coder, 1997). Instead, the dye inclusion test determines that living cells specifically take up a dye molecule. The latter test is more demanding compared to the first one, as the living cell must maintain the dye inside. Methods may also relate the maintenance of pH and ion gradients, morphological state of the cell. The criterion for a viable cell can also be the ability to proliferate under normal culture conditions, although certain cells, such as primary cells that are quiescent and nongrowing can still be healthy (Coder, 1997; Cook & Mitchell, 1989; Roche Proliferation/Viability 2, 2003).

Cook and Mitchell (Cook & Mitchell, 1989) have reviewed the viability measurements that have been used for mammalian cells in the past. Many of these methods measure only the number of dead or viable cells and have already been discussed as applications for the counting of cells (for instance, enzyme activity, LDH release, and quantification of ATP) or they are time-consuming, laborious, or radio-isotopic. It is, however, worth to mention radioisotope release, efflux of Ca2+ ion, morphological, colony formation, and growth rate methods. Radioisotope release methods require prelabeling with ⁵¹Cr, ¹²⁵I-UDR, ³H-proline, or 75 Se-selenomethionine. They have problems with a high spontaneous release of the label, reincorporation of isotopes released from dead cells by viable cells, chemotoxic/radiotoxic effects, and safety. The ion and amino acid gradients, especially efflux of Ca²⁺ ion, have been related to the cell viability and detected with radio-isotopic, fluorescence, or inductively coupled flame atomic absorption techniques, chromatography, or ion selective electrodes. In addition to the required instrumentation, the sample preparation is often laborious. The detection of morphological changes on the cell surface, in the cellular volume, or in the cytoskeleton are often difficult to interpret and relate to the cell death. In *in vitro* colony formation method, the cells are cultured on cell culture plates in sterile conditions at low cell densities with a known cell number, and the survival and colony formation of individual cells are related to the viability. This method is inconvenient with cell types having low plating efficiencies, unable to grow at a low cell density, forming diffuse or clumpy colonies, and slowly proliferating cells. The *in* vivo colony formation method is even more complicated, as an animal offers the growth environment instead of a cell culture plate and an incubator. Growth rates are generated by total cell count measurements. The method has several drawbacks, for instance cell harvesting into a single cell suspension and several time point measurements are required and the result is not simple to analyze from the growth curve.

The purpose in this thesis is to concentrate on preferably user-friendly and commercially available methods that are in common use nowadays, and capable of assessing the ratio between living and dead cell numbers in the same sample. Different viability tests will be presented below. Each test is a combination of the simultaneous determination of live, dead, or total number of cells. The tests use one or two of the following principles: dye exclusion, dye inclusion, release of cellular compounds, probe of physiological state, and probe of proliferation.

Dye Exclusion Test with Microscopy

In dye exclusion tests, viable cells with intact membranes exclude the dye and dead cells are stained. In addition to the most common Trypan Blue (Beit-Haemek Trypan Blue Stain; Coder, 1997; McGahon et al., 1995), nigrosin (Johnson, 1995), and eosin Y (Interchim Cell Biology) dyes have been used. Cell viability is assessed under a light microscope in a hemocytometer. The sample is simply mixed with the dye, and stained and unstained cells are counted, enabling the calculation of the percentage of viable cells. The test is widely used due to the simple protocol. However, the test is laborious and subjective. Cell culture medium containing serum causes a dark background and hampers the count (Coder, 1997). Moreover, the viable cells start to uptake the dye during continuing exposure and the cells should be counted soon after the staining (Beit-Haemek Trypan Blue Stain; Boisen, 2005). Generally, all dye exclusion tests may also underestimate the number of dead cells, as the intracellular events require time to lead for membrane damage (Cook & Mitchell, 1989).

Dye Exclusion Test with Flow Cytometry, with Fluorescence Microscopy or in Microtiter Plate Reading

Dye exclusion can also be tested using fluorescent DNA intercalator dyes, if cells are counted under a fluorescence microscope. However, the tests can be automated and viable and dead cells differentiated with a flow cytometer (Coder, 1997). Dead cells are identified from viable cells with a cell-impermeable DNA intercalating dye, which enters only cells with broken membranes. Intercalating dyes undergo a fluorescence enhancement upon interaction with DNA. Dyes, such as 7-aminoactinomycin D (Fetterhoff et al., 1993), propidium iodide (Jacobs & Pipho, 1983), acridine orange (Interchim Cell Biology), ethidium bromide (Interchim Cell Biology), or YO-PRO-1 (O'Brien & Bolton, 1995), are mixed with a sample cell suspension and analyzed on a flow cytometer after an incubation of few minutes. The flow cytometer can detect a distinct difference between dead and viable cell populations. A dead cell has a bright fluorescence and a viable cell dim one. The number of cells in both populations is counted providing the percentage of viable cells. The dye exclusion test with flow cytometry is more accurate than with microscopy, as a greater numbers of cells in total are counted. However, the instrument is costly and not widely available and expertise is needed to operate the instrument. Propidium iodide is a popular dye to assess mammalian (Coco-Martin et al., 1992; Jacobs & Pipho, 1983; O'Brien & Bolton, 1995) and bacterial (Nebe-von Caron et al., 1994; Vesey et al., 1994) cell viability. As a disadvantage, DNA dyes might be carcinogenic and mutagenic and pose potential dangers for the health (Cell Viability, 2008).

A membrane permeable DNA dye can be added along with impermeable dye to confirm the test result. The first one, such as propidium iodide, stains dead bacterial cells and the latter one, such as SYTO 9, all bacterial cells (Invitrogen BacLight, 2004). Propidium iodide binds more strongly to DNA than SYTO 9. Thus, the staining of the cell sample yields dead cells stained with propidium iodide and viable cells stained only with SYTO 9. The dyes fluoresce with different colors and cells can be distinguished and counted with a fluorescence microscope or flow cytometer. The test can be performed also as a microtiter plate protocol (Invitrogen BacLight, 2004). The signals for both dyes measured from a well are related to the numbers of viable and dead cells. The microtiter plate protocol is faster, less expensive, and requires no costly instrument with experienced

users, compared to tests with fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry. Another similar dead/viable dye pair is ethidium homodimer II/SYTO 10, suitable for animal cell viability (Invitrogen Reduced Biohazard, 2001). Propidium iodide/SYTO 16 pair differs from propidium iodide/SYTO 9 and ethidium homodimer II/SYTO 10, as SYTO 16 stains all mammalian cells (Frey, 1995; Luther & Karnentsky, 1996; MBL Live-Dead). Thus, the fluorescing color of dead cells is an overlay of both dyes.

The exclusion of an enzyme or cytoplasmic marker has also been related to cell viability. The protocol of an exclusion test for the DNA degrading enzyme (DNase) (Frankfurt, 1990) is not as simple as the dye exclusion tests. DNA in dead cells is degraded with a DNase treatment and DNase and degraded DNA are removed by centrifugation. DNA dye with a detergent is added to stain viable cells. O'Brien and Bolton have shown the use of labeled actin, cytokeratin, and tubulin as cytoplasmic markers and compared them to other dyes to find an optimal marker (O'Brien & Bolton, 1995).

Dye Exclusion Test with Automated Cell Counting

Automated hemocytometers (Invitrogen Countess 2, 2009; Nexcelom Cellometer) or other electronic instruments for the counting of cells (Szabo, 2003) may exploit dye exclusion to evaluate the percentage of viable cells. The counting of viable cell numbers is generally performed with Trypan Blue. Automated hemocytometers take a digital image and an image analysis program automatically determines the percentage of dead cells in a cell sample. Many methods, for example the Coulter counter, lack a viability measurement (Invitrogen Countess 2, 2009). For advantages and limitations read above.

Dye Inclusion Test with Flow Cytometry

Garner et al. (Garner et al., 1994) have developed DNA dye SYBR-14, which stains only viable cells. SYBR-14 can be used with propidium iodide to stain both viable and dead cells, as the ambiguity and unreliability, which could result from the use of only one dye, may be avoided. The staining mechanism of SYBR-14 is not known, but it has been shown to stain only living cells.

Determination of Physiological State with Fluorescent Probe by Using Flow Cytometry or Fluorescence Microscopy

Cell viability can be assessed with lipid-soluble probes, such as fluorescein diacetate (Coco-Martin et al., 1992), carboxyfluorescein diacetate, calcein acetoxy methyl ester, and rhodamine 123, determining the physiological state (Coder, 1997). Fluorescein diacetate, carboxyfluorescein diacetate, and calcein acetoxy methyl ester can state the viability among eukaryotic cells and tissues, but not microbes (Kaneshiro et al., 1993; Lau et al., 1994; Poole et al., 1993; Vaughan et al., 1995). Rhodamine 123 can assess bacterial (Diaper & Edwards, 1994; Diaper et al., 1995). Rhodamine 123 can assess bacterial (Diaper & Edwards, 1994; Diaper et al., 1995) cell viability. These molecules are non-fluorescent and the fluorescence is enhanced inside a normal living and metabolically active cell with intact membranes. The physiological state of the cell indicates also the integrity of cell membranes, as energy is required to maintain ion gradients between cytoplasma and the surrounding medium, a property that is inhibited if the membrane is broken. Fluorescein diacetate, carboxyfluorescein diacetate, and calcein acetoxy methyl ester require cellular esterase activity, and rhodamine 123 the low electrochemical

potential of mitochondrial membranes. Viable cells are fluorescent and dead cells nonfluorescent. The performance of certain probes may be limited by prevailing conditions and individual cells that do not uptake or retain the probe (Shapiro, 1995). On the other hand, the dye can bind to cell membrane upon dying and the staining is retained. Probes are simply mixed with a sample, incubated a few minutes and viable and dead cells are counted with a flow cytometer. The use of the flow cytometer has the same drawbacks as the test above.

Probes determining physiological state can be visualized, not only with a flow cytometer, but also with a fluorescence microscope. The not so common dihydroethidium permeates only the viable cells, whose enzymes are needed to produce fluorescent ethidium monomer, which is retained in the nucleus (Bucana et al., 1986; Wyatt et al., 1991). Dihydroethidium has been suitable to test the viability of neoplastic cells (Bucana et al., 1986), intraerythrocytic protozoan hemoparasites (Wyatt et al., 1991), and sperm cells (Ericsson et al., 1989).

Combined Determination of Physiological State with Fluorescent Probe and Dye Exclusion Test by Using Flow Cytometry, Fluorescence Microscopy, or Microtiter Plate Reading

The determination of the physiological state with a fluorescent probe and dye exclusion tests can be combined together, provided there is a spectral separation of the dyes. The physiological state is determined with probes, such as calcein acetoxymethyl ester, AlamarBlue, or rhodamine 123, labeling viable cells. DNA dves, such as propidium iodide, SYTOX Green, ethidium bromide, ethidium homodimer I, or ethidium homodimer III, are used to label dead cells (Coder, 1997; Invitrogen Viability/ Cytotoxicity, 2005). The dyes are mixed with a cell sample and incubated for dye uptake and cellular metabolism (Invitrogen Viability/Cytotoxicity, 2005). The tests in this category are not only suitable with a fluorescence microscope or flow cytometer, but also as a microtiter plate protocol (Invitrogen Viability/Cytotoxicity, 2005). The test with calcein acetoxy methyl ester and ethidium homodimer I, ethidium homodimer III, or propidium iodide is applicable to eukaryotic cells and tissues, but not to bacterial cells and yeast (Interchim Cell Biology; Kaneshiro et al., 1993; Lau et al., 1994; Papadopoulos et al., 1994; Poole et al., 1993; Vaughan et al., 1995). The cytotoxicity of compounds that do not affect intracellular esterase activity or the integrity of the plasma membrane is not reliably determined with these tests (Invitrogen Viability/Cytotoxicity, 2005). Alamar-Blue viability counting combined with the dye exclusion test with SYTOX Green is suitable for various yeast, bacterial, and eukaryotic cells (Invitrogen Vitality, 2004; Reinheimer & Demkow, 1990; Visser et al., 1990; White et al., 1996). The individual viable and dead cells are counted with a flow cytometer or the signals measured from a microtiter plate are related to the viable and dead cell numbers. The replacement of resazurin with lipophilic C12-resazurin has enabled the efficient incorporation and retention inside the cell and provided a lower background signal or higher detection limit in the detection methods.

<u>Combined Detection of Release of Cellular Compounds and Determination of</u> <u>Physiological State with Fluorescent Probe by Using Microtiter Plate Reading</u>

Niles et al. (Niles et al., 2007; Promega MultiTox-Fluor, 2010) have developed a microtiter plate method, which detects the amounts of viable and dead cell proteases in

the same sample. A glycyl-phenylalanyl-aminofluorocoumarin substrate permeates the viable cell membrane. It is cleaved by a protease that remains active only inside viable cells, aminofluorocoumarin is released, and a fluorescence signal proportional to the viable cell number is generated. On the other hand, another substrate, bis-alanyl-alanyl-phenylalanyl-rhodamine 110, is cell-impermeable. It is cleaved by a different protease, which is released from dead cells with damaged membranes. The cleavage yields free fluorescent rhodamine 110, whose signal is proportional to the dead cell number. The excitation and emission spectra of aminofluorocoumarin and rhodamine 110 are separated to enable their simultaneous detection. The homogeneous method has one reagent addition and a simple mix-and-measure protocol, but the samples should be incubated at 37 °C for 30 min. It does not damage the cell sample and thus, can be further multiplexed with other methods. The method is also available with luminogenic substrate for the detection of dead cells (Promega MultiTox-Glo, 2009).

Determination of Proliferation with Fluorescent Probe by Using Microtiter Plate Reading or Flow Cytometry

The dye inclusion or exclusion test and determination of the physiological state with a fluorescent probe utilizing viability tests assess plasma membrane integrity and cellular metabolic activity. However, such criteria cannot certainly state that the cell can divide. Probes determining proliferation are required to test cell division. DNA synthesis is used as a measure of proliferation. It can be measured, for example, with DNA intercalator dyes or BrdU incorporation as a microtiter plate test, but the total or dead cell numbers should be counted simultaneously to calculate the percentage of dividing cells (Cell Viability, 2008). These methods also cannot differentiate between cells that have divided once or several times. On contrary, the carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFDA-SE) probe allows for the tracking of multiple cell divisions of individual cells. Intrinsically non-fluorescent CFDA-SE permeates inside the cells and is cleaved by intracellular esterases. The cleavage yields a strongly fluorescent amine-reactive product, which binds to intracellular amino groups and is retained inside cells during cell proliferation. Long-lived fluorescence enables cell activity studies by fluorescent microscopy or flow cytometry (Cell Viability, 2008; MoBiTec Viability/Cytotoxicity, 2007). Two daughter cells are identified from their mother cell by an approximately 50% lower fluorescence intensity. Again, new daughter cells have a 50% lower intensity than in the last generation. Fluorescence intensity stays detectable up to 6-10 cell divisions even during several weeks (Karrer et al., 1992; Weston & Parish, 1990).

3 AIMS

The aim of this study was to develop simple and sensitive methods for the measurement of total protein concentration and the counting of cells based on particle adsorption and luminescence detection. The developed methods were also applied to measure other sample properties, such as the aggregation of protein and cell viability.

The aims were more specifically to develop:

- **I** a fast, inexpensive, and sensitive method for the quantification of proteins based on fluorescence quenching.
- **II** a simple and sensitive method for the counting of total eukaryotic cell numbers based on fluorescence quenching and time-resolved luminescence resonance energy transfer (TR-LRET), and a viability test by combining the developed TR-LRET method for counting the total cell numbers with a known method for counting the dead cell numbers.
- **III** a method to measure the aggregation of protein by applying the developed TR-LRET method for the quantification of proteins.
- **IV** a method for the quantification of proteins having a high tolerance to contaminants and being based on the dissociation of chelated lanthanide.
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

In this chapter, a short overview of the central reagents, experimental setups, and the principles of the developed methods are presented. More detailed information is described in Publications **I-IV**.

4.1 LABELING OF PROTEINS AND PARTICLES WITH LUMINESCENT DYES

Albumin from bovine serum (BSA) and lysozyme from chicken egg white (LYS) were conjugated with dipyrrylmethene-BF₂ 530, succinimidyl ester (BF530) (Arctic Diagnostics Oy, Turku, Finland) (**I,II**,unpublished). γ -Globulins from bovine blood (γ G) was conjugated with Alexa Fluor 680 carboxylic acid, succinimidyl ester (Alexa680) and Alexa Fluor 532 carboxylic acid, succinimidyl ester (Alexa532) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) (**II,III**,unpublished). The proteins were labeled in 0.1-0.2 M carbonate buffer, pH 8.3 and separated from the unreacted dyes with gel filtration. Amino-modified polystyrene particles 240 nm in diameter (Spherotech Inc., Libertyville, IL) were labeled with 7-dentate Eu(III) chelate, 2,2',2'',2'''-{[4-[(4-isothiocyanatophenyl)ethynyl]pyridine-2,6-diyl]bis(methylenenitrilo)}tetrakis(acetato) europium(III) and 9-dentate Eu(III) chelate, {2,2',2'',2'''-{[4-[(4-isothiocyanatophenyl)ethynyl]pyridine-6,6''-diyl]}bis(methylenenitrilo)}tetrakis(acetato)} europium(III) (**IV**) in 30 mM carbonate buffer, pH 9.9. After overnight incubation, the particles were washed by centrifugation.

4.2 PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES OF DEVELOPED METHODS

All of the developed methods presented in this thesis and in Publications I-IV, are based on the nonspecific interaction of the sample with the nanoparticle surface. The interaction of the sample is detected as the changes in luminescence or LRET signals and the measured signal is related to the sample concentration. Quenching- and TR-LRET-based methods presented in I-III are reagent limited and the method in IV utilizing the instability of the Eu(III) chelate is a reagent excess method.

The developed methods are homogeneous and simple to perform. The methods do not require either heating steps nor an incubation time of longer than 40 min. The sample concentration or the degree of aggregation is quantified with quenching and TR-LRET particle assays using a simple mix-and-measure protocol containing the mixing of particles and labeled protein with the sample in Publications **I-III**. In the quantification of proteins with a particle assay based on the dissociation of Eu(III) chelate in Publication **IV**, the sample protein is adsorbed at pH 5 to enable an adequate stability for the Eu(III) chelate and high adsorption efficiency, and thereafter, the pH is decreased for the dissociation of the lanthanide ion.

4.2.1 Quantification of Proteins and Counting of Cells with Quenching and TR-LRET Nanoparticle Assays (I-III,unpublished) and Viability Test (II)

Principles

The assays in Publications **I-III** and unpublished data rely on the interaction of sample proteins or cells with quencher or donor nanoparticles, and the subsequent reduction of the adsorption of the labeled protein to the particle surface (Figures 24 and 25). In the

quenching assay, the fluorescence of BSA-BF530 is quenched at close proximity to the colloidal gold nanoparticle (20 nm in diameter, British Biocell International, Cardiff, U.K.) surface. The interaction of the sample with the particles reduces the adsorption of the labeled protein and the fluorescence increases. In the TR-LRET assay, the TR-LRET is detected between Eu(III) nanoparticles (Carboxylate-modified europium(III) polystyrene particles 68 or 92 nm in diameter, Seradyn Inc., Indianapolis, IN) and γ G-Alexa680 in the absence of the sample. In the presence of the sample, the energy transfer signal is decreased, as the sample occupies the particle surface and prevents the adsorption of γ G-Alexa680.



Figure 24. Schematic illustration of the quenching assays (**I**,**II**). Fluorescence quenching is detected by the adsorption of labeled protein onto gold (Au) nanoparticles in the absence of the sample a) protein or b) cells. c) As the analyte interacts with the particle surface, the labeled protein remains in solution and an increase of fluorescence is detected.

Procedures

The methods for the quantification of total protein and the counting of eukaryotic cells with quenching and TR-LRET particle assays were performed in microtiter wells (**I**,**II**). Typically, 70 μ L of the sample in buffer was mixed with 10-20 μ L of nanoparticles (colloidal gold 20 nm in diameter for quenching and Eu(III) polystyrene particles 68 or 92 nm in diameter for TR-LRET). Labeled protein (BSA-BF530 for quenching and γ G-Alexa680 for TR-LRET) was added in 10-20 μ L after an incubation of 10 min. Fluorescence emission intensities were measured after an incubation of 10 min. The optimized assay buffers were 5 mM glycine buffer pH 3.0 for the quantification of

proteins with both assays and for the counting of cells with a quenching assay and PBS for the counting of cells with a TR-LRET assay. The final concentrations of particles and labeled protein were optimized for each assay. The number of gold particles in the assay was calculated from the gold chloride concentration and the number of Eu(III) polystyrene particles from the mass percentage of the particles in the stock solution provided by the manufacturers. Depending on the assay, incubation times, the effect of pH and salt concentration, different proteins, particle size, stability of the reagents, different cell types, cell harvesting method, and/or loss of the particles to the wells were tested or optimized.

The total cell count assay based on TR-LRET detection was combined with a known dead cell count assay with cell-impermeable PicoGreen nucleic acid dye to develop a viability test (II). The assay was performed in a similar fashion as above and the PicoGreen dsDNA reagent (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) was mixed with the sample before the addition of the particles and the labeled protein.



Figure 25. Schematic illustration of the time-resolved luminescence resonance energy transfer (TR-LRET) assays (**II**,unpublished). Luminescence energy transfer is detected by the adsorption of labeled protein onto Eu(III) carboxylate modified polystyrene nanoparticles in the absence of the sample a) protein or b) cells. c) As the analyte interacts with the particle surface, the labeled protein remains in solution and a decrease of luminescence is detected.

4.2.2 Detection of Aggregation of Protein (III)

Principle

The detection of the aggregation of protein was demonstrated with the developed TR-LRET system and heat-aggregated BSA and the developed method is presented in the article **III**. The aggregation is measured at constant BSA concentration. The non-aggregated BSA covers the Eu(III) particles of 92 nm in diameter efficiently and maximal surface coverage is observed. The aggregation of BSA decreases the number of soluble proteins in a solution and the aggregated BSA occupies the particle surface less efficiently. The aggregated BSA leaves a more vacant particle surface available for γ G-Alexa680 to adsorb and thus, results in a high TR-LRET signal.

Procedure

The detection of the aggregation of protein was demonstrated with a heat-aggregated BSA and TR-LRET particle assay (III). BSA aggregates in 5 mM glycine buffer pH 3.0 were mixed with Eu(III) polystyrene particles 92 nm in diameter in a microtiter well and γ G-Alexa680 was added. After mixing, luminescence emission intensity was measured.

4.2.3 Quantification of Proteins and Counting of Cells with Microparticle Assay Exploiting Two-Photon Excitation (unpublished)

Principles

The assays for the quantification of proteins and the counting of cells exploiting a twophoton excitation (TPX) are based on the same basic principle of adsorption competition between sample protein or cells and the labeled protein to the particle surface than the quenching and TR-LRET assays. However, the microparticles (Carboxylate-modified polystyrene particles 3098 nm in diameter, Seradyn Inc., Indianapolis, IN) contain no dye molecules. In the absence of analyte protein or cells, labeled protein adsorbs efficiently to the surface of microparticles (Figure 26). In the presence of analyte, the interaction of the analyte with the particles reduces the adsorption of labeled protein. When no competing sample is present, high two-photon excitation fluorescence is detected from the microparticles due to the adsorbed labeled protein. Sample protein or cells efficiently occupy the particle surface preventing the adsorption of labeled protein to the particles. Thus, labeled protein remains in a solution and the two-photon excitation fluorescence signal is decreased.

Procedures

The methods for the quantification of total protein and the counting of eukaryotic cells with TPX particle assays were performed in microcentrifuge tubes. Typically, 40-80 μ L of the sample in buffer was mixed with 7.0-10 μ L of polystyrene microparticles 3 μ m in diameter. Labeled protein (LYS-BF530 for the quantification of proteins and γ G-Alexa532 for the counting of cells) was added in 7.0-10 μ L after an incubation of 40 min. 20 μ L of this mixture was transferred to the polystyrene microtitration wells with transparent bottoms (384-well plates) and two-photon excitation fluorescence was measured. The optimized assay buffers were 5 mM glycine buffer, pH 2.0, containing 1 mM Triton X-100 for the quantification of proteins and 7 mM tris(hydroxymethyl)-

aminomethane buffer (Tris), pH 6.5, containing 0.7 M NaCl for the counting of cells. The final concentrations of the particles and labeled protein were optimized. The number of polystyrene microparticles in the assay was calculated from the mass percentage of the particles in the stock solution provided by the manufacturer. Depending on the assay, incubation time, assay buffers, and the effect of pH and salt concentration, different sample and labeled proteins, and effects of contaminants were tested or optimized.



Figure 26. Schematic illustration of the two-photon excitation fluorescence (TPX) assays (unpublished). Two-photon excitation fluorescence is detected by the adsorption of a labeled protein onto carboxylate modified polystyrene microparticles in the absence of the sample a) protein or b) cells. c) As the analyte interacts with the particle surface, the labeled protein remains in the solution and a decrease of fluorescence is detected.

4.2.4 Quantification of Proteins with Nanoparticle Assay Based on Dissociation of Chelated Eu^{3+} (IV)

Principle

Another improved nanoparticle-based method was developed for the quantification of proteins and reported in Publication IV. Like in the quenching and LRET methods, the dissociation method is based on the adsorption of the sample protein onto particles. The sample protein is adsorbed to amino-modified polystyrene particles surface-labeled with Eu(III) chelates on the surface (Figure 27). The adsorbed protein protects the Eu^{3+} ion from dissociation at acidic conditions and a high luminescence signal is detected. Whereas, the Eu^{3+} ion is dissociated in the absence of protein and the luminescence is low.



Figure 27. Schematic illustration of the assay utilizing the dissociation of the Eu³⁺ ion (**IV**). a) Under acidic pH, the Eu³⁺ ion is dissociated from the Eu(III) chelate labeled nanoparticles in the absence of sample protein and a low luminescence signal is detected. b) In the presence of sample protein, the dissociation of the Eu(III) chelate is prevented by the adsorbed protein layer and a high luminescence signal is detected.

Procedure

The reagent excess method for the quantification of total protein utilizing the dissociation of Eu(III) chelate was performed in microtiter wells (**IV**). Typically, 70 μ L of the sample protein in 3 mM acetate buffer pH 5.0 was mixed with 5.0 μ L of the amino-modified particles (240 nm in diameter) labeled with 9-dentate europium(III) chelate. 10 μ L of 0.5 M glycine buffer pH 2.0 was added. Luminescence emission intensity was measured after an incubation of 30 min. The method was tested or optimized for particle concentration, incubation times, assay buffers and the effect of pH and salt concentration, Eu(III) chelate type and labeling degree, temperature, different proteins, and the effects of contaminants. The number of Eu(III) chelate labeled nanoparticles in the assay was calculated from the mass percentage of the amino-modified polystyrene particles in the stock solution provided by the manufacturer.

4.3 INSTRUMENTS AND MEASUREMENT OF LUMINESCENCE

The luminescence emission intensities from Eu(III) chelate labeled nanoparticles and the sensitized emission of the fluorescent dye-labeled proteins were measured with TRL, and the fluorescence emission intensities of the fluorescent dyes or labeled proteins with conventional fluorometry using the Victor² multilabel counter (Wallac, Perkin Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Turku, Finland). The excitation and emission wavelengths of the labels and the delay and measurement times of TRL are listed in Table 4.

	Literature values		Measurement values					
Dye	Absorbance maximum (nm)	Emission maximum (nm)	Excitation wavelength (nm)	Emission wavelength (nm)	Delay time (µs)	Integration time (µs)	Publications	
BF530	530 ¹	552 ¹	530	572			I,II	
Alexa Fluor 680	679 ²	702 ²	340 ^a	730	75	50	II,III	
PicoGreen	502 ³	523 ³	485	535			II	
9-dentate Eu(III) chelate	294 ⁴	613 ^{4,b}	340	615	400	400	IV	

Table	4.	The	excitation	and	emission	wavelengths	of	the	labels	and	the	delay	and
integra	tio	n time	es of the tin	ne-re	solved lun	ninescence me	asu	irem	ent.				

¹ ArcDia BF ² Invitrogen Alexa Fluor, 2009

³ Invitrogen PicoGreen, 2003

⁴ Hemmilä et al., 1993

^a excitation wavelength of europium(III) chelate

b main peak

The two-photon excitation fluorescence from the surface of individual polymer microspheres (BF530 and Alexa532 dyes) was measured with a TPX Plate Reader (ArcDia International Oy Ltd, Turku, Finland).

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Summary of the results and discussions of the original publications and unpublished data are presented in this chapter.

5.1 METHODS FOR QUANTIFICATION OF TOTAL PROTEIN (I,III,IV,UNPUBLISHED)

During this thesis work, four different particle assays to measure protein concentration were studied: quenching, time-resolved luminescence resonance energy transfer (TR-LRET), two-photon excitation (TPX), and dissociation-based assays. Quenching, TR-LRET, and TPX assays rely on the adsorption competition between sample protein and labeled protein to the nano- or microparticles (Figures 24-26). The sample adsorption leads to a luminescence signal change and the magnitude of the signal depends on the protein concentration in the sample. Furthermore, depending on the principle of the method, the signal increases or decreases as a function of protein concentration. The method exploiting the instability of the luminescent dye is a reagent excess assay. The adsorbed sample protein prevents the dissociation of the Eu³⁺ ion from the Eu(III) chelate surface-labeled particles at a low pH and leads to a high luminescence signal (Figure 27). In the absence of sample protein, the dissociation at a low pH decreases the luminescence signal.

The primary aim was to develop sensitive methods for the quantification of proteins. High sensitivity for the adsorption-based methods requires efficient surface coverage of a particle with protein. Thus, the adsorption and assay conditions were optimized for each method. When the effect of the pH was studied with bovine serum albumin (BSA), a low pH was found optimal and resulted in the highest signal-to-background ratio with all the investigated particles. The result is explained with the electrostatic interactions between the protein and particle and/or between adsorbed protein molecules for all competitive methods. Citrate (pKa values: 3.2, 4.8, and 6.4) stabilized gold particles were used in the quenching assay, carboxylate-modified Eu(III) polystyrene $(pK_a(-SO_4H))$ -3. $pK_a(-SO_3H)$ 1.9, and $pK_a(-COOH)$ 4.7) particles in the TR-LRET assay, and carboxylate-modified polystyrene particles in the TPX assay. All particles bear a negative surface charge, which approaches zero at a low pH range, depending on the charged chemical groups on the particles. The isoelectric point determines the overall charge of the protein. Generally, the total charge of protein molecules is positive at a low pH, the repulsive interactions are reduced and the interaction with the particles is enabled. The highest signal-to-background ratio with competitive methods was reached at pH 2-3. The Eu(III) chelate instability at a low pH reduced the signal-to-background ratio in the dissociation exploiting reagent excess assay. Optimal pH 5 tested with three proteins: BSA (pI 4.7) (Peng et al., 2004), y-globulin (yG, pI 6.4-8.8) (Condie, 1981), and histone (pI 10.8) (Hayashida & Uchiyama, 2006) was higher compared to the competitive methods. All three proteins adsorbed at a pH below their pI. Proteins are positively charged below their pI and thus, they have electrostatic attraction towards the Eu(III) chelate labeled amino-modified polystyrene particles bearing a negative total charge.

Ions shelter the protein with a cloud of charges decreasing both repulsive and attractive electrostatic interactions between the particle and proteins. This depends on the surface charges of the proteins and particles. The highest sensitivity was reached at a relatively low buffer concentration for the quenching method. However, the detection limit of the

dissociation method was not significantly affected by the increased salt concentration up to 200 mM. In competitive methods, the number of particles also affected the sensitivity. A decreasing number of particles enables high sensitivity as long as the assay variation is low at a low signal level. In these assays, the sample protein was first adsorbed to the particles, after which the labeled protein was added. This resulted in a higher sensitivity compared to the simultaneous adsorption of sample and labeled protein to the particle. Thus, the concentration of labeled protein was observed to have an insignificant effect on the sensitivity (except in the quenching method). In contrast, the dissociation method is a reagent excess method and theoretically, the number of particles (as long as the assay variation does not change) is not expected to affect the sensitivity. However, at a high particle concentration the signal at zero BSA concentration increased and sensitivity decreased.

The characteristics of the developed methods are summarized in Table 5. The methods have several advantages compared to the existing methods. All developed methods have two reagent additions. The incubation times (10-40 min) are relatively short compared to the commercially available methods. None of the developed methods require heating to reach high sensitivity and proteins are quantified at RT. The effect of temperature was tested for the dissociation method by adsorbing BSA to the particles at varying temperatures, ranging from room temperature (RT) to 100 °C. Elevated temperature was not found to improve the sensitivity. Sensitivities deduced from the calibration curve data for the four different methods presented in Figure 28, range from 40 to 500 pg BSA in a sample and are approximately 20-500-fold better than in most sensitive commercial OPA (Pierce Fluoraldehyde OPA, 2009), CBQCA (You et al., 1997), and NanoOrange (Jones et al., 2003) methods. On the other hand, the detection limits were 300-4000 times lower than for the well-known and commercial Bradford method (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). The coefficients of variation (CV) are low (4-13%) for all assays.



Figure 28. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) calibration curves measured with different particle assays: a) TR-LRET (high sensitivity protocol, particles 92 nm in diameter), quenching, and dissociation (Eu(III) chelate instability) and b) TR-LRET (wide dynamic range protocol, particles 68 nm in diameter) and TPX (**I**,**III**,**IV**,unpublished). The data was fitted to the logistic (TR-LRET high sensitivity) or modified Hill (quenching and dissociation) function (Seber & Wild, 1989) or the curves are linear fits of the data (TR-LRET wide dynamic range and TPX).

	Quenching	TR-LRET	TR-LRET	TPX	Dissociation	
. <u></u>		(high sens.)	(wide range)			
1. reagent	20 nm	92 nm	68 nm	3098 nm	240 nm	
Particle	Au	Eu(III) CM-PS	Eu(III) CM-PS	PS	Eu(III) AM-PS	
2. reagent	BSA-BF530	γG-Alexa680	γG-Alexa680	LYS-BF530	0.50 M glycine pH 2.0	
Access format	Homogeneous	Homogeneous	Homogeneous	Homogeneous	Homogeneous	
Assay Ionnat	Reagent limited	Reagent limited	Reagent limited	Reagent limited	Reagent excess	
Incubation time (min)	10	20 ¹	20 ¹	40	30	
Dynamic range (mg/L)	0.007-2	0.001-1	0.008-4000	0.002-9	0.002-0.6	
Sensitivity (pg)	500	70	600	40	100	
Sample volume (µL)	70	70	70	20	70	
CV (%)	4	4	4	13	8	
Plate	te 96-well		96-well	384-well	96-well	
Protein-to-protein variability (%)	15	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	29	
Tolerated chemicals	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	non-ionic detergents, dithiothreitol, salt	non-ionic detergents, solvents, thiols, polyethylene glycol, salt	
Publications	I	III	unpublished	unpublished	IV	
¹ Valanne et al., 2009		abbreviations:	CM = carboxyla	te-modified n.d. = n	ot determined	

Table 5. Characteristics of the developed methods for the quantification of proteins.

Valanne et al., 2009

AM = amino-modified

CV = coefficient of variation PS = polystyrene

For the developed particle-based assays, a high signal at zero protein concentration and a low signal at high protein concentration for a decreasing curve (or vice versa for an increasing curve) enable a high signal-to-background ratio. The advantage of the high signal-to-background ratio can be the wide dynamic range. As an example, the signal-tobackground ratio of 100 may lead to a wider dynamic range than the ratio of 10, if the slope of the calibration curve does not change. The TPX assay with microparticles enabled a high signal at zero BSA concentration. Due to the low background signal, the signal-to-background ratio was high and the dynamic range of the assay was approximately four orders of magnitude (Figure 28b and Table 5). With a high concentration of particles and labeled protein (wide dynamic range protocol) in the TR-LRET assay, a high LRET signal at zero BSA concentration was obtained. Smaller particles were used to decrease background luminescence at a high BSA concentration originating from the Eu(III) donors. The thus obtained high signal-to-background ratio led to a widened dynamic range of approximately six orders of magnitude (Figure 28b and Table 5). The sensitivity of the assay depends on the number of particles and thus, the sensitivity was decreased from that of the high sensitivity protocol for the wide dynamic range protocol, but was still improved compared to the most sensitive commercial methods (Jones et al., 2003; Pierce Fluoraldehyde OPA, 2009; You et al., 1997). The extra dilution step or remeasurements are avoided, when the dynamic range is wide. The logarithm of the signal vs. the logarithm of the BSA concentration for both the TPX and TR-LRET (wide dynamic range protocol) assays are linear. Linearity reduces the number of measured standards to determine the concentration of the sample.

The effect of the particle size was tested in the quenching and TR-LRET assays. With an optimized number of gold particles (approximately the same total surface area) in the quenching assay, the sensitivity and signal response did not vary with the particle size of 20-100 nm in diameter. The least amount of gold (mass) was required in the assay with 20 nm particles and it was applied in the further development of the assay. With an optimized number of Eu(III) particles (approximately the same total surface area) in the TR-LRET assay, the sensitivity and the LRET signal at zero BSA concentration was not affected by the size of the particles. However, the smaller the particles the higher the signal-to-background ratio and the larger the dynamic range were obtained.

The stability of the signal and the labeled BSA was tested in the quenching assay. After the addition of labeled BSA, an equilibrium was reached in 10 min. After the signal leveled out, the fluorescence was essentially unchanged over 5 h. Thus, the protein adsorbed irreversibly and the adsorbed sample protein was not exchanged for the labeled protein. The diluted labeled BSA was stored at a concentration corresponding to the enduser storage condition. Only a minor decrease in the fluorescence signal was detected at a low salt concentration and pH 7.4, and the calibration curve of the assay remained unchanged over eight days. This is an advantage compared to the assays, whose reagent stabilities are limited by storage time and/or conditions (Jones et al., 2003; Lowry et al., 1951; You et al., 1997). According to the manufacturer, the gold colloid suspension is stable for at least one year and therefore, its stability was not studied.

It is desirable that the assay response is equal to all the proteins and proteins can be quantified using, for instance, BSA as a standard to measure unknown proteins or protein mixtures. The protein-to-protein variabilities of the new assays are investigated by running the calibration curves of several proteins. However, it is worthful noting that, even if the methods are tested for several different proteins and variability is low, similar sensitivity for all unknown proteins cannot be granted. The response of the quenching and dissociation assay was studied for different proteins. The tested proteins had different properties: a molecular weight from 14 to 670 kDa, an isoelectric point from 1.0 to 11, and varying dimensions and shapes. According to the literature, the adsorption efficiency to the negatively charged particles, such as citrate-stabilized gold and amino-modified polystyrene particles, is favoured at the isoelectric point of the protein or below (Duinhoven et al., 1995a; Duinhoven et al., 1995b; Geoghegan & Ackerman, 1977; Goodman et al., 1979; Norde & Lyklema, 1978a; Norde & Lyklema, 1978b; Quiquampoix & Ratcliffe, 1992). However, an acidic protein pepsin having pI 1.0 (Chern et al., 2004) was assayed with the quenching assay exploiting gold particles with equal efficacy compared to the other tested proteins. The quenching assay had a low protein-toprotein-variability of 15%. Only ferritin showed a lower response than other proteins, probably due to its unusually high thermal and chemical stability (De Domenico et al., 2006; Martsev et al., 1998; Santambrogio et al., 1992) decreasing its denaturation at the surface and the surface coverage. In the dissociation-based assay, the adsorption of proteins was maximal at a pH range below their pI, but a pH below 3 cannot be exploited due to chelate instability. Thus, all the tested proteins (pI above 5) exhibited maximal adsorption at the assay pH 5.0. However, the response of the assay was not similar to all proteins. Myoglobin and lysozyme resulted in the lowest response. Myoglobin contains

heme groups with Fe^{2+} ions (Ordway & Garry, 2004), which probably quenched the fluorescence signal (Albani, 2004; Si et al., 1997). On the other hand, lysozyme can form several molecular layers (Lee et al., 2005; Lundin et al., 2010; Nakanishi et al., 2001), which may lead to the low surface coverage. The protein-to-protein variability of 29% for the dissociation method was still comparable to the commercially available methods with variabilities of 10-50% (Jones et al., 2003; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009; Smith et al., 1985; You et al., 1997).

The performance of the TPX and dissociation methods were examined in the presence of various contaminants commonly encountered in biological samples. The interference of contaminants was not extensively tested for the TR-LRET and quenching methods, but the sensitive methods for the quantification of detergents developed by us (Härmä et al., 2010a; Härmä et al., 2010b) suggest that they are highly sensitive to detergents. Already a small detergent molecule decreases the amount of adsorbed labeled protein and increases the distance between the particle and label, decreasing the LRET signal or inhibiting the fluorescence quenching. However, several different buffer components at a pH range of 1.5-4.5 were tested in the quenching assay and nearly identical signals were obtained, suggesting that the buffer components had an insignificant effect on the adsorption of proteins. The distance between particle and labeled protein is not critical for detecting a high TPX signal. Although non-ionic detergents at a concentration above their critical micelle concentration (CMC) decrease the adsorbed labeled protein mass, the TPX signal is still high. Actually, the non-ionic detergents had a positive effect on the sensitivity of the BSA quantification. The protein covered with the micelle occupies a larger area on the particle surface compared to the bare protein molecule. The BSA standard curve was shifted to approximately tenfold lower concentrations in the presence of Triton X-100 at concentrations above CMC, compared to the curve measured without detergent. Other non-ionic detergents, salt, and dithiothreitol, an agent containing thiol, did not overly interfere with the TPX method either. However, the ionic detergents interfered with the assay and prevented the adsorption of the labeled protein and decreased the TPX signal already at concentrations much lower than CMC. In the dissociation method, the quantification of proteins is not based on the adsorption competition. Due to the different detection principle, the signal generation was not as susceptible to the contaminants. The non-ionic detergents did not protect the Eu(III) chelate labeled particles as efficiently as proteins or detergent-coated proteins and non-ionic detergents were tolerated at high concentration levels above their CMC. Especially non-ionic detergents are suitable in the extraction of proteins from cell preparations near their CMC, and are thus found in the biological samples. Instead, ionic detergents prevented the adsorption of proteins already at a low concentration. However, ionic detergents, as they denature proteins and interfere with the purification protocols, are not typically found in biological samples. Furthermore, chelating agent ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), common organic solvents (dimethylformamide (DMF) and ethanol), polymer polyethylene glycol (PEG 3000), 2mercaptoethanol, agent containing thiol, and reducing agent/sugar glucose interfered only at high concentrations in the dissociation method. Obviously, the suitability of probable interfering agents not investigated in this work cannot be warranted.

5.2 METHODS FOR COUNTING OF TOTAL CELL NUMBERS (II, UNPUBLISHED)

During this thesis work, three different particle assays for the counting of eukaryotic cells were studied. Quenching, time-resolved luminescence resonance energy transfer (TR-LRET), and two-photon excitation (TPX) assays rely on the prevention of the adsorption

of the labeled protein to the nano- or microparticles by the sample cells (Figures 24-26). The presence of cells in the sample leads to a change in the luminescence signal, depending on the cell number similarly to the corresponding methods for the quantification of proteins.

The sensitivity and simplicity were the main aims in the development process of the methods for the counting of cells. As eukaryotic cell surfaces contain charged proteins and lipids and their membrane integrity depends on the solution conditions, pH and salt concentrations were important parameters to investigate. The methods were optimized with Chinese Hamster Ovarian (CHO) cells harvested by scraping.

The adsorption of the BF530 labeled BSA (pI 4.7) (Peng et al., 2004) determines the pH for the quenching method. As measured for the quantification of proteins, the signal-tobackground ratio was the highest at a low pH. The low adsorption of the labeled protein at a higher pH range prevented the experimental testing of the pH effect on the adsorption of cells. Thus, the calibration curve was measured and the highest sensitivity was reached at the same low buffer concentration and pH than for the quantification of proteins. Labeled γG (pI ranging from 6.4 to 8.8 (Condie, 1981)) was chosen for the TR-LRET method, because an efficient adsorption was achieved at a neutral pH in addition to the low pH. The performance of the TR-LRET method was tested with two buffers: a 5 mM glycine buffer, pH 3.0 and PBS. The sensitivity was higher, when the calibration curve was measured in PBS than in the glycine buffer. Therefore, PBS was chosen as a buffer also, because cells are generally harvested from the culture to physiological pH and salt concentrations using PBS. The sensitivity is measurable in the sample without the need for the dilution of the sample, as the assay buffer is the same as the harvesting buffer. For the TPX method, labeled γG was adsorbed to the particles at a low pH and neutral pH to obtain a high TPX signal. Similar to the TR-LRET method, the optimal interaction between the cells and the particle and the highest sensitivity was reached near pH 7. Increasing NaCl concentration improved the sensitivity up to the concentration of 1 M. In addition, the signal response was equal in four different buffers tested: 5 mM universal, 7 mM phosphate, 7 mM Tris, and 7 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethane-sulfonic acid all of them containing 0.3 M NaCl.

The diameter of a CHO cell is 15 μ m (Wei et al., 2006). The quencher gold (20 nm in diameter) and donor Eu(III) nanoparticles (68 nm in diameter) are much smaller in size, and a number of nanoparticles can interact with a cell. In fact, the cell number leading to the saturation of the fluorescence signal corresponded to the calculated number of intact cells required to adsorb the particles on the cell surface for both nanoparticle methods. This suggests that the adsorption process is related to the particle-cell interaction and the total surface area of the particles covered with cells seems to relate to the intact whole cells. However, the microparticles $(3 \mu m)$ in TPX are in the same size range with the cells and the interaction may have a different origin. On the other hand, the optimal assay conditions, acidic pH for the quenching method (exploitable also for TR-LRET) and high salt concentration (hypertonic solution) for the TPX method, may lead to a compromised cell membrane and the release of the cellular contents. Therefore, the particles may interact with the components of the lysed cells complicating the interpretation of the results and the principle. Nevertheless, cells inhibited the adsorption of the labeled protein and a high sensitivity was reached regardless of the particle size. To verify whether the methods detect viable, dead, or all cells, the calibration curve was measured with the TR-LRET method for the cells initially suspended in water, and was compared to the curve

measured for the cells initially suspended in PBS. The calibration curves measured in PBS overlapped, suggesting that both dead and viable cells give a similar response and the total number of cells is counted.

The concentration of particles and labeled protein was optimized for each method. The concentration of particles affected the sensitivity and was reasonably minimized in all the methods. The concentration of labeled protein could not be varied without the increase of the fluorescence signal at zero cell concentration or the decrease at high cell concentration in the quenching method. Thus, the concentration of labeled protein was optimized according to the number of particles, so that labeled protein adsorbed efficiently and the fluorescence of the label optimally quenched at a zero cell number. The increase of the labeled protein concentration had a positive effect on the cell calibration curves measured with the TR-LRET and TPX methods, as the luminescence at a zero cell concentration and signal-to-background ratio increased, but no effect was detected on the shape of the calibration curves at low cell numbers. Instead, the signals at high cell concentrations increased and the dynamic range widened, as the concentration of labeled protein increased. In the TPX method, three different labeled proteins, LYS-BF530, yG-Alexa532, and avidin-BF530, were studied and the highest sensitivity was obtained with yG-Alexa532. Probably, the different results between proteins are related to their adsorption efficiency and the cells compete in the interaction with the particles better with γG than with LYS or avidin.

The counting of two different eukaryotic cell types (Chinese Hamster Ovarian (CHO) and Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK) cells harvested by scraping) was performed with the quenching and TR-LRET methods. The calibration curves overlapped with both methods. Each developed particle-based method was tested for the detection of bacterial cells. Although the assay conditions, temperature, salt concentration, pH, incubation time, bacterial strain, surface of the particle, bacterial culture conditions, and growing state were varied or the cells were lysed, the sensitivity of the methods was not higher than a few tens of thousands of bacteria in a sample. These results suggest that the adsorption properties of the bacterial surface and cellular contents differ significantly from those in eukaryotic cells. This provides a clear advantage for the developed method for the counting of eukaryotic cells, since the bacterial contamination in the sample does not interfere. However, the bacterial contamination may be a significant problem with methods, such as the detection of DNA or ATP. The effect of the harvesting method was tested with the quenching and TR-LRET methods. The calibration curves for cells harvested by either scraping or trypsinazing overlapped. Thus, it seems that the interaction of the particles and cells is not dominated by the cell surface proteins. Although the developed cell counting assays were investigated for two eukaryotic cells with different harvesting methods in the optimized assay buffer, it is possible that other cells or media gives unpredictable results.

The characteristics of the developed methods are summarized in Table 6. The CHO cell calibration curves in Figure 29 were measured in optimized buffers: the 5 mM glycine buffer, pH 3.0 for the quenching method, PBS for the TR-LRET method, and the 7 mM Tris buffer, pH 6.5, containing 0.7 M NaCl for the TPX method. The methods have several advantages compared to the existing methods. The sensitivity of the methods was nearly at the single cell level: four cells for the quenching method, five cells for the TR-LRET method, and three cells for the TPX method. These sensitivities are comparable to the method based on the detection of ATP. Among commercially available methods, it is

the only assay for the counting of cells capable of detecting less than 10 cells, and even single cells in a sample (Campbell, 1988). The CASY cell counter (Roche Innovatis CASY TT, 2010; Roche Innovatis CASY TTC, 2010; Schärfe, 2004) has a detection limit of ten cells, but the counting requires a special instrument. Although standard plate count (Bacterial Enumeration) theoretically detects one viable cell in a sample, it is impractical and only applicable for bacteria. A luminometric assay based on the measurement of the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase activity (Corey et al., 1997) is able to detect less than a single cell, but is not commercially available as a kit. The achieved sensitivities correspond to the cell concentrations of 60 cells per mL for the quenching method, 70 cells per mL for the TR-LRET method, and 200 cells per mL for the TPX method. The dynamic range is the widest and approximately two orders of magnitude for the quenching and TPX methods, but only one order of magnitude for the TR-LRET method. Many of the existing methods presented in Table 3 (Section 2.6.3) have comparable dynamic ranges to those of the developed methods.

The developed particle-based methods have simple experimental setups: no washing steps and equipment are required for these homogeneous methods, luminescence is measured with microtiter plate reader commonly found (except for the TPX method) in biological laboratories, the methods have two reagent additions, and they do not need elevated temperature and incubation in the cell culture conditions. Many of the available assays listed in Table 3 (Section 2.6.3) require an incubation step at 37 °C. Most of the assays have one or two reagent additions, but for example BrdU (Hawker, 2003; Maghni et al., 1999; Muir et al., 1990) requires even six addition steps. The incubation time is 10 min for the quenching and TR-LRET methods and 40 min for the TPX method. The existing methods generally have incubation times significantly longer than 40 min and only a few of the methods listed in Table 3 need an incubation time shorter than 10 min.



Figure 29. The CHO cell calibration curves measured with different particle assays: TR-LRET (particles 68 nm in diameter), quenching, and TPX (**II**,unpublished). The data was fitted to the Boltzmann (TR-LRET), logistic (quenching), or modified Weibull (TPX) function (Seber & Wild, 1989).

	Assay				
	Quenching	TR-LRET	TPX		
1. reagent Particle	20 nm Au	68 nm Eu(III) CM-PS	3098 nm PS		
2. reagent	BSA-BF530	γG-Alexa680	γG-Alexa532		
Assay format	Homogeneous Reagent limited	Homogeneous Reagent limited	Homogeneous Reagent limited		
Viable/total count	Total	Total	Total		
Incubation time (min)	10	10	40		
Dynamic range (cells)	4-300	5-30	3-200		
Sample volume (µL)	70	70	20		
CV (%)	6	12	15		
Plate	96-well	96-well	384-well		
Publications	II	Π	unpublished		

Table 6. Characteristics of the developed methods for the counting of cells.

abbreviations. CV = coefficient of variation CM = carboxylate-modified PS = polystyrene

5.3 CELL VIABILITY TEST (II)

The cell viability test was developed by combining the method for the counting of total cell numbers based on time-resolved luminescence resonance energy transfer (TR-LRET) detection with a known dead cell count method, a nucleic acid (DNA) staining with a fluorescent membrane-impermeable DNA dye (Figure 30). The principle of the TR-LRET method is presented in Figure 25 (Section 4.2.1). The PicoGreen dye is nonfluorescent in the absence of DNA. The fluorescence is increased when bound to double stranded DNA. PicoGreen is membrane-impermeable and thus, it can only pass into the cells with compromised membranes.

The purpose was to develop a simple viability test, in which both total and dead cell count are performed simultaneously from a single cell sample. The combination of the counting of the total number of cells with the TPX method and the PicoGreen dead cell count would have needed two measurements with different instruments. Instead, the total count with the quenching method could not be performed at physiological pH due to the low adsorption of the labeled protein, BSA-BF530. The TR-LRET method as a total count provided the simplest solution, as the labeled protein γ G-Alexa680 adsorbed onto the Eu(III) polystyrene particles also at physiological pH and the total count could be performed in PBS. In the viability test, PicoGreen dye, Eu(III) particles, and yG-Alexa680 were added to the cell suspension sample in PBS and the luminescence signals were measured in a single well after mixing all of the assay components. The luminescence signal of TR-LRET was related to the total cell count and the fluorescence from PicoGreen to the dead cell count. Furthermore, the Eu(III) chelate/Alexa680 LRET pair (excitation 340 nm and emission 730 nm) and PicoGreen (excitation 485 nm and emission 535 nm) possess non-overlapping excitation and emission bands.



Figure 30. The calibration curves for the total number of CHO cells counted with the TR-LRET particle assay and for dead CHO cells counted with the cell-impermeable nucleic acid dye PicoGreen simultaneously in PBS (**II**). The curves are linear fits of the data. Reproduced in part with permission from Pihlasalo, S., Pellonperä, L., Martikkala, E., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2010) Sensitive Fluorometric Nanoparticle Assays for Cell Counting and Viability. *Anal. Chem.*, **82:** 9282–9288. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society.

The TR-LRET total cell count method discussed in Section 5.2 was optimized for the highest sensitivity. However, the dynamic range from 5 to 30 cells in a sample is not suitable for the viability test when dead cells are counted from the same sample. With an increase in the number of assay components, the method can be readily extended to cover higher cell counts. The dynamic range was adjusted with the increased concentration of the LRET pair to match the sensitivity of the PicoGreen DNA dye method. The sensitivity of the total cell count was set to 100 cells. The combined total and dead cell count was demonstrated using the dilutions of CHO cell stock suspension with no pretreatment, such as cell lysis (Figure 30). The number of dead cells in the cell suspension was calibrated with the use of the trypan blue exclusion method and the percentage of dead cells in the cell stock was 34%. In the developed viability test, the detection limit of 90 dead cells was reached in the dead cell count with PicoGreen.

The number of cells required for the combined method is determined by the percentage of the dead cells in the sample and the desired precision. It is, however, comparable to the most sensitive commercial methods or methods found in the literature (Burghardt et al., 1994). The total and dead cell count in the developed viability test is performed from a single sample saving time and a precious cell sample. In contrast, many methods found in the literature or commercial tests, such as cell-impermeable DNA dyes applied for the counting of dead and total number of cells, require two separate tests: the total cell count in one well and the dead cell count in another well. The developed total cell count reached sensitivity as high as 5 cells in a sample. Therefore, the dead cell count with the DNA dye was the main sensitivity limiting factor for the combined viability test. A viability test requiring a lower number of cells may potentially be developed, if the total cell count method is combined to a more sensitive method, such as the measurement of

ATP from viable cells. However, the known viability tests generally are experimentally more difficult than the developed method. The use of dye exclusion, dye inclusion, and dyes determining physiological state and the counting of the cells with a flow cytometer, light microscope, fluorescence microscope, and automated cell counters are laborious and/or require expensive instruments. Suitable membrane permeable DNA dyes (Frey, 1995; Invitrogen Reduced Biohazard, 2001; Luther & Karnentsky, 1996; MBL Live-Dead) or probes determining physiological state (Coder, 1997; Invitrogen Viability/ Cytotoxicity, 2005) have been combined with impermeable DNA dyes to develop viability tests in a microtiter plate. The method detecting viable and dead cell proteases using fluorescent substrates is also commercially available (Niles et al., 2007; Promega MultiTox-Fluor, 2010). However, the known methods require generally from several thousand to hundreds of thousands of cells. Furthermore, the probes determining physiological state may need a long incubation to reach high sensitivity. Instead, each membrane permeable DNA dye is specific to certain cell types. The DNA dyes are also more or less carcinogenic or mutagenic (Cell Viability, 2008).

5.4 METHOD FOR DETECTION OF AGGREGATION OF PROTEIN (III)

The method to detect the aggregation of protein was developed with the TR-LRET Eu(III) nanoparticle method (Figure 25 in Section 4.2.1) used for the quantification of proteins and the counting of cells in the previous sections. The method is based on the adsorption competition between sample species and labeled protein and thus, measures changes in the sample. The non-aggregated proteins adsorb efficiently to the surface of the particles and reduce the adsorption of labeled protein leading to the decrease of the TR-LRET signal. If the protein concentration is kept constant, the aggregation of protein leads to the decreased occupancy of the particle surface and an increased TR-LRET signal. The explanation for the decreased occupancy of the particle surface may be, for instance, the increased size (leaving more empty space on the particle), reduced adsorption, or the decreased adsorption rate of the sample species.

The method was demonstrated with heat-aggregated BSA. A solution containing 10 g/L of BSA in 100 mM tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane, pH 8, was heated at 100 °C up to 45 min. Samples with different heating times were studied with the developed TR-LRET nanoparticle method, and method comparisons were performed with absorbance measurements at 240 nm (UV240) and dynamic light scattering (DLS). In the TR-LRET method, protein aggregate samples, diluted to the concentration of 30 μ g/L BSA in a 5 mM glycine buffer, pH 3.0, were mixed with Eu(III) nanoparticles and γ G-Alexa680 in a microtiter plate well, and time-resolved luminescence was detected with a plate reader. The UV240 absorbance was measured at a BSA concentration of 1.0 g/L and DLS was applied at BSA concentrations ranging from 0.10-10 g/L depending on the size of the aggregate.

Calibration curves of BSA and its aggregates were measured for each sample with the TR-LRET method. At a constant BSA concentration, the aggregation of protein led to a less efficient surface coverage and the TR-LRET signal increased. Thus, the particle surface saturation and calibration curve were shifted to a higher total BSA concentration. Both high sensitivity and wide dynamic range for the detection of aggregation was observed at a BSA concentration of 30 μ g/L. These signals were correlated to the average size of the aggregate measured with DLS to find out the measurable aggregate size range of the TR-LRET method (Figure 31). The dynamic range of the DLS instrument was

from 10 to 3000 nm covering the size range of the studied aggregates. Therefore, single BSA molecules with the dimensions of 3.4×14 nm² (Champagne et al., 1958) are at the limit of the technology. The TR-LRET and UV240 methods detected a similar size range of aggregates from approximately 10 to 1000 nm and are equally simple to perform. However, more than 10,000 times lower optimal protein concentrations for TR-LRET compared to UV240 and DLS, indicates the high potential of the nanoparticle concept for aggregation studies at very low concentrations. Existing methods for studying the aggregation of protein, DLS (Demeester et al., 2005; Schmitz, 1990), size-exclusion chromatography (Roufik et al., 2005), analytical ultracentrifugation (Butler & Kühlbrandt, 1988; Casassa & Eisenberg, 1964), ellipsometry (Ortega-Vinuesa et al., 1998; Santos et al., 2006), atomic force microscopy (Santos et al., 2006), and optical waveguide lightmode spectroscopy (Ramsden & Prenosil, 1994) require high sample concentrations preventing their routine use, as high protein concentrations are not readily available. The last three methods are useful mainly for protein adsorption studies, but may also provide information on the protein surface-aggregation process. Furthermore, many of these methods require trained personnel with specific hands-on skills and expensive instrumentation, are time-consuming, and have low-throughput. Commercially available high-throughput microtiter plate assays, such as ThT, ProteoStat, and PSA200K (BMG LABTECH FLUOstar, 2005; Enzo Proteostat, 2010; ProFoldin PSA200K), require also high protein concentrations ranging from 10 to 1000 mg/L and are sensitive to the protein type. TR-LRET is not highly dependent on the surface characteristics of proteins or protein aggregates due to the nonspecific adsorption (Pihlasalo et al., 2009; Valanne et al., 2009). It also has a rapid and simple, mix-and-measure protocol, which makes it amenable to high-throughput assay formats.

The quantification of proteins and the detection of the aggregation of protein with the same TR-LRET assay principle, make the method versatile, as the same simple system can be used for two or even more different purposes. However, the detection of the aggregation is a disadvantage in the quantification of protein, as the total protein concentration is underestimated, if the analyte proteins in the sample are highly aggregated. The assays developed in this work are not exceptional. To my knowledge, the effect of aggregation on the quantification of proteins for literature and commercial methods has not been extensively studied. The aggregation of proteins is supposed to have similar problems also with the available methods for the quantification of protein. Seemingly, in addition to the UV absorbance methods, assays utilizing the binding of the dye to the proteins or detergent-coated proteins are disturbed from the aggregation, because the dyes cannot bind as efficiently onto the protein aggregates as onto the single protein molecules. Most probably the proteins to be quantified are not highly aggregated, as the non-aggregated proteins are preferred by the end-users and thus, the problem is insignificant.



Figure 31. Detection of heat-aggregated bovine serum albumin (BSA) using the TR-LRET assay and UV240 absorbance: background subtracted normalized time-resolved luminescence (30 μg/L BSA for particle assay) or absorbance signals (1.0 g/L BSA for absorption) as a function of the average aggregate diameter measured with dynamic light scattering (0.10-10 g/L BSA for DLS) (**III**). The data was fitted to the type 2 sigmoidal Weibull function (Seber & Wild, 1989). Reproduced in part with permission from Pihlasalo, S., Kirjavainen, J., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2011) High Sensitivity Luminescence Nanoparticle Assay for the Detection of Protein Aggregation. *Anal. Chem.*, **83:** 1163–1166. Copyright 2011 American Chemical Society.

6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Several nonspecific and luminometric nano- and microparticle-based methods were developed. The developed methods had advantages over the existing methods in sensitivity, dynamic range, simplicity, speed, and costs. The work conducted for this thesis together with other methods developed in the Laboratory of Biophysics show the versatility of the principle. These particle-based methods with varying principles can be used to detect the aggregation of protein and measure the concentration of protein, cells, detergent (Härmä et al., 2010a; Härmä et al., 2010b), and other small molecules (unpublished data). Moreover, other principles of the methods and applications, such as charge and size analysis, exploiting particles and luminescence, are under development in the Laboratory of Biophysics, further increasing the versatility of this simple methodology.

The summaries and conclusions of the methods developed in this thesis are:

Methods for Quantification of Total Protein (I,III,IV,unpublished)

Four different particle-based methods (fluorescence quenching, TR-LRET, TPX, and the dissociation of the lanthanide ion) were developed for the quantification of proteins. These methods have extremely simple mix-and-measure concepts in a high-throughput microtiter plate format. None of the methods require heating and subsequent cooling steps to reach high sensitivity like the available commercial NanoOrange (Jones et al., 2003), BCA (Smith et al., 1985), and CBQCA (You et al., 1997) methods. All the developed methods are more sensitive than any of the commercial ones. Depending on the method, the sensitivity is 40-500 pg BSA in a sample. This sensitivity range is 20-500-fold better than in most sensitive commercial OPA (Pierce Fluoraldehyde OPA, 2009), CBQCA (You et al., 1997), and NanoOrange (Jones et al., 2003) methods, and 300-4000-fold better than in the well-known Bradford method (Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009). A high particle surface area together with a high signal-to-background ratio enables a linear relationship at logarithmic scales and wide dynamic range of approximately four orders of magnitude for the TPX method and approximately six orders of magnitude for the TR-LRET method. The protein-to-protein variability of 29% was measured for the dissociation method and 15% for the quenching method. These variabilities are similar or lower compared to the available methods having protein-to-protein variabilities between 10 and 50% (Jones et al., 2003; Pierce Protein Handbook, 2009; Smith et al., 1985; You et al., 1997). Mainly electrostatic interaction was responsible for the efficiency of the adsorption of proteins, and the low protein-to-protein variability was achieved at a low pH, where most of the proteins have a positive total charge and the particles a negative surface charge, favoring an attractive interaction. The method based on the nonspecific adsorption of proteins is advantageous in contrast to methods relying on, e.g., specific identification of protein chemical groups (Liu et al., 1991; You et al., 1997), or the interaction of the protein surface with dye (Bradford, 1976; Lowry et al., 1951; Peterson, 1977; Smith et al., 1985) or detergent molecules (Jones et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2003). As a consequence, the low protein-to-protein variability potentially results in a more reliable quantification of unknown proteins or protein mixtures without a need for the calibration of each protein. The contaminants, such as non-ionic detergents, salt, and agent containing thiol (dithiothreitol), commonly found in biological samples, were well tolerated by the TPX method and non-ionic detergents, chelating agent (EDTA), organic

solvents (DMF and ethanol), polymer (PEG 3000), agent containing thiol (2mercaptoethanol), and reducing agent/sugar glucose by the dissociation method. The TPX method requires an instrument, which is not widely available for the end-users. Therefore, single-photon excitation luminescence methods, such as quenching, TR-LRET, and dissociation methods find a potentially larger acceptance. Furthermore, the quenching method with conventional fluorescence detection is more applicable to end-users, compared to the TR-LRET and dissociation methods, as plate fluorometers without the time-gating mode are more commonly in use. Thus, further development of the dissociation-based system could provide a new method, which exploits a dye for conventional fluorometry, tolerates well assay contaminants, and has high sensitivity.

Methods for Counting of Total Cell Numbers (II, unpublished)

Three different particle-based methods (quenching, TR-LRET, and TPX) were developed for the counting of cells. The developed particle assays measure the total number of cells, unlike methods measuring ATP-production or mitochondrial reductase or intracellular esterase exploiting cellular metabolic activity. The developed methods are experimentally easy to conduct, as they are homogeneous, have simple mix-and-measure procedures, and contain short incubation steps at RT. The results are gained much faster compared to the traditional hemacytometric counting under the light microscope, as the protocols are simple with short incubations allowing high-throughput. All methods have the limit of detection clearly below 10 cells in a sample. The developed methods are typically more sensitive than the commercial assays or methods found in the literature. Only two microtiter plate type methods have similar sensitivities. The detection of ATP (Campbell, 1988) and the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase activity (Corey et al., 1997) are capable of detecting less than 10 cells. The dynamic ranges approximately one or two orders of magnitude for the developed methods are similar to those of the available methods. The simple and sensitive methods enable work with low sample concentrations, saving time, costs, and precious cell samples.

Cell Viability Test (II)

The cell viability test was developed by successfully combining the TR-LRET total cell count method with a DNA staining method using a membrane-impermeable PicoGreen dye. This test is also based on a simple mix-and-measure procedure. The test measures both the total and dead number of cells for low cell counts from a single sample, providing savings in sample, time, and assay components. Not only the counting of cells but also the assessment of cell viability is important in selecting proper cell culture conditions, different cell-based experiments, cell-based research, and medicine. The developed test provides a new, sensitive, and rapid method to determine both simultaneously. However, an even more sensitive test may eventually be developed in the future, if the total cell count method is combined with a more sensitive dead or viable cell count method than the PicoGreen staining.

Method for Detection of Aggregation of Protein (III)

The method for detecting the aggregation of protein was developed by utilizing the TR-LRET method for the quantification of proteins. The method has several advantages over the existing methods. Due to the high sensitivity the developed method is applicable at the protein concentration of micrograms per liter level. The requirement for high sample concentrations often prevents the use of the existing methods, such as DLS (Demeester et al., 2005; Schmitz, 1990), size-exclusion chromatography (Roufik et al., 2005), analytical ultracentrifugation (Butler & Kühlbrandt, 1988; Casassa & Eisenberg, 1964), and UV/VIS spectroscopy (Kelner et al., 2003), as high protein concentrations may not be available. DLS (Demeester et al., 2005; Schmitz, 1990), size-exclusion chromatography (Roufik et al., 2005), and analytical ultracentrifugation (Butler & Kühlbrandt, 1988; Casassa & Eisenberg, 1964) also require expensive instrumentation and trained personnel. Commercially available high-throughput microtiter plate assays also require high protein concentrations ranging from 10 to 1000 mg/L and are sensitive to the protein type (BMG LABTECH FLUOstar, 2005; Enzo Proteostat, 2010; ProFoldin PSA200K). However, the developed method does not need special hands-on skills, is not highly dependent on the surface characteristics of proteins or protein aggregates due to nonspecific adsorption (Pihlasalo et al., 2009; Valanne et al., 2009), and is amenable to a high-throughput format due to its rapid and simple mix-and-measure protocol. It detected protein aggregates at low protein concentrations in a size range from approximately 10 to 1000 nm, which suggests that the method could be applicable, for instance, in the quality assessment of protein products in the industry.

7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Laboratory of Biophysics, Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy, University of Turku, during the years 2008-2010.

I thank Professor Pekka Hänninen for the opportunity to do the doctoral thesis work and supervision. I am thankful to Docent Harri Härmä for his practical supervision, valuable advice, and guidance in the right direction. Docent Urpo Lamminmäki and Docent Juhani Soini are acknowledged for their contribution in my thesis supervisory committee.

I thank Professor Dmitri B. Papkovsky and Professor Matti Vuento for reviewing my thesis and their valuable comments. I also thank Professor Ari Ivaska for accepting our invitation to be my opponent.

I am grateful to the personnel of the Laboratory of Biophysics and Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy and other laboratory colleagues for their scientific advice, support, encouragement, and the nice working atmosphere. I thank the students from Turku University of Applied Sciences for their part in the experimental work of this thesis, and the co-authors of the articles, for their ideas and work enabling the study and the publication of the articles. Medicity and AnaCity Research Laboratories and its technical staff are thanked for the laboratory facilities.

I warmly thank my parents, Saimi and Hannu, for their love and care. Thanks to my brother Jouni for friendly scientific and less scientific discussions during my studies.

I will forever praise Jesus Christ for giving me life and a wonderful world and nature to wonder and research in, and thank Him for listening to my worries and joys.

The Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation (Tekes), the Graduate School of Chemical Sensors and Microanalytical Systems, the Academy of Finland, EU FP7 framework programme project "FLUODIAMON", and the Finnish Cultural Foundation are gratefully acknowledged for their financial support. I am also grateful for travel funding from the Graduate School of Chemical Sensors and Microanalytical Systems, Faculty of Medicine at the University of Turku, and the Turku University Foundation.

Turku, March 2011

Sari Pihlasalo

8 REFERENCES

- Abcam Acid Phosphatase. Acid Phosphatase Fluorometric Assay Kit, Abcam plc, Cambridge, UK, www.abcam.com/Acid-Phosphatase-Fluorometric-Assay-Kit-ab83370.html (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Adams, C. J. & Storrie, B. (1981) A Simple DNA-dependent Fluorescence Enhancement Assay for Cell Number. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 29: 326–328.
- Ahmed, S.A., Gogal, R. M., Jr. & Walsh, J. E. (1994) A New Rapid and Simple Non-radioactive Assay to Monitor and Determine the Proliferation of Lymphocytes: an Alternative to [3H]Thymidine Incorporation Assay. J. Immunol. Methods, 170: 211–224.
- Albani, J. R. (2004) *Structure and Dynamics of Macromolecules: Absorption and Fluorescence Studies*, Elsevier B.V.: Amsterdam, the Netherlands.
- Allen, M., Millett, P., Dawes, E. & Rushton, N. (1994) Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity as a Rapid and Sensitive Test for the Quantification of Cell Numbers in Vitro. Clin. Mater., 16: 189–194.
- Al-Nasiry, S., Geusens, N., Hanssens, M., Luyten, C. & Pijnenborg, R. (2007) The Use of Alamar Blue Assay for Quantitative Analysis of Viability, Migration and Invasion of Choriocarcinoma Cells. *Hum. Reprod.*, 22: 1304–1309.
- AnaSpec SensoLyte Acid Phosphatase. SensoLyte® MFP Acid phosphatase Assay Kit, AnaSpec, Inc., San Jose, CA, www.anaspec.com/pdfs/71231.pdf (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Andrade, J. D. (1985) Surface and Interfacial Aspects of Biomedical Polymers, Volume 2: Protein Adsorption, Plenum Press: New York, NY.
- Andrade, J. D. & Hlady, V. (1986) Protein Adsorption and Materials Biocompatibility: A Tutorial Review and Suggested Hypotheses. Adv. Polym. Sci., 79: 1–63.
- Andreotti, P. E., Cree, I. A., Kurbacher, C. M., Hartmann, D. M., Linder, D., Harel, G., Gleiberman, I., Caruso, P. A., Ricks, S. H., Untch, M., Sartori, C. & Bruckner, H. W. (1995) Chemosensitivity Testing of Human Tumors Using a Microplate Adenosine Triphosphate Luminescence Assay: Clinical Correlation for Cisplatin Resistance of Ovarian Carcinoma. *Cancer Res.*, 55: 5276–5282.
- ArcDia BF. ArcDia BF Fluorescent dyes, Product list, ArcDia Ltd. Arctic Diagnostics Oy, Turku, Finland, www.arcdia.com/wp-content/site_content/arcdia-bf-dyes.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Ashman, C. R. & Davidson, R. L. (1981) Bromodeoxyuridine Mutagenesis in Mammalian Cells is Related to Deoxyribonucleotide Pool Imbalance. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 1: 254–260.
- Bacterial Enumeration. Western Washington University, Biology Department, fire.biol.wwu.edu/brodham/ biol346_S07/labman_week4.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Ball, V., Schaaf, P. & Voegel, J.-C. (2003) Mechanism of Interfacial Exchange Phenomena for Proteins Adsorbed at Solid-Liquid Interfaces, Chapter 11, In: Malmsten, M. (Ed.), *Biopolymers at Interfaces*, Surfactant Science Series, Volume 110, Second Edition, Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, 295–319.
- Baptista, A. L. F., Coutinho, P. J. G., Real Oliveira, M. E. C. D. & Rocha Gomes, J. I. N. (2003) Effect of pH on the Control Release of Microencapsulated Dye in Lecithin Liposomes. II. J. Liposome Res., 13: 123–130.
- Barltrop, J. A., Owen, T. C., Cory, A. H. & Cory, J. G. (1991) 5-(3-Carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4,5dimethylthiazolyl)-3-(4-sulfophenyl)tetrazolium, Inner Salt (MTS) and Related Analogs of 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium Bromide (MTT) Reducing to Purple Water-soluble Formazans as Cell-viability Indicators. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 1: 611–614.
- BD FACSCalibur. (2009) BD FACSCalibur Flow Cytometry System, Technical Specifications, BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, www.bdbiosciences.com/documents/FACSCalibur_FlowCytometry_ TechSpec.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Bearden, J. C., Jr., (1978) Quantitation of Submicrogram Quantities of Protein by an Improved Protein-dye Binding Assay. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 533: 525–529.
- Beckers, B., Lang, H. R. M., Weber, W., Pranada, F. & Schweizer, K. (1986) Application of Intracellular ATP Determination in Lymphocytes for HLA-typing. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin., 1: 47–51.
- Beckman Coulter Multisizer 3 Coulter Counter. Multisizer™ 3 COULTER COUNTER®, Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, www.beckmancoulter.com/eCatalog/CatalogItemDetails.do?partNbr= 6605697 (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Beckman Coulter Vi-CELL. (2008) Vi-CELL® XR Cell Viability Analyzer Integration with Biomek® NX^P, Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, www.beckmancoulter.com/resourcecenter/labresources/ automatedsolutions/pdf/ISS-11340B.pdf (accessed 4/11/2010).
- Beit-Haemek Trypan Blue Stain. Trypan Blue Stain, Biological Industries Israel Beit-Haemek Ltd., Kibbutz Beit-Haemek, Israel, www.bioind.com/htmls/product.aspx?c0=12246&bsp=12217 (accessed 7/7/2010).

- Benech, H., Théodoro, F., Herbet, A., Page, N., Schlemmer, D., Pruvost, A., Grassi, J. & Deverre, J. R. (2004) Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Counting Using a DNA-detection-based Method. *Anal. Biochem.*, **330**: 172–174.
- Benson J. R. & Hare, P. E. (1975) o-Phthalaldehyde: Fluorogenic Detection of Primary Amines in the Picomole Range. Comparison with Fluorescamine and Ninhydrin (Amino-acid Analysis/Peptide Analysis). Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, 72: 619–622.
- Bio-Rad DC. Bio-Rad DC Protein Assay, Instruction Manual, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, www.bio-rad.com/webroot/web/pdf/lsr/literature/Bulletin_9005.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Bio-Rad RC DC. Bio-Rad RC DC Protein Assay, Instruction Manual, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, www.bio-rad.com/webroot/web/pdf/lsr/literature/4110107A.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- BioAssay Systems QuantiChrom DLDH-100. (2007) QuantiChrom[™] Lactate Dehydrogenase Kit (DLDH-100), Colorimetric Kinetic Determination of Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity, BioAssay Systems, Hayward, CA, www.bioassaysys.com/file_dir/DLDH.pdf (accessed 23/11/2010).
- BioTek Hoechst 33258. (2001) Quantitation of DNA Using Hoechst 33258, BioTek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT, www.biotek.com/resources/docs/FL600_Quantitation_DNA_Using_Hoechst_ 33258.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- BioVision Acid Phosphatase. (2009) Acid Phosphatase Assay Kit, BioVision Research Products, Mountain View, CA, www.biovision.com/manuals/K411-500.pdf (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Bisseling, T., Van Den Bos, R. C., Van Kammen, A., Van Der Ploeg, M., Van Duijn, P. & Houwers, A. (1977) Cytofluorometrical Determination of the DNA Contents of Bacteroids and Corresponding Broth-cultured Rhizobium Bacteria. J. Gen. Microbiol., 101: 79–84.
- Bivic, L., A. & Arsanto, J.-P. (1987) Differential Expression of Alkaline Phosphatase and ATPase Activities in Human Colon Carcinoma Cell Line HT-29.18 during Differentiation. *Biol. Cell*, 60: 41– 48.
- Blaheta, R. A., Franz, M., Auth, M. K. H., Wenisch, H. J. C. & Markus, B. H. (1991) Basic Principles of Three Rapid Fluorochrome Assays for DNA Quantification and Cell Counting. *Transplant. Proc.*, 23: 461–463.
- BMG LABTECH FLUOstar. (2005) Protein Aggregation Monitoring on the FLUOstar OPTIMA Microplate Reader BMG LABTECH GmbH, Offenburg, Germany, www.bmglabtech.com/db_assets/ applications/downloads/applications/AN135-protein-aggregation-fluorescence-FLUOstar.pdf (accessed 13/1/2011).
- Böhlen, P., Stein, S., Dairman, W. & Udenfriend, S. (1973) Fluorometric Assay of Proteins in the Nanogram Range, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 155: 213–220.
- Boisen, S. (2005) Precise and Objective Cell Counting. *BIOforum Europe*, 4: 38–39. GIT VERLAG GmbH & Co. KG, Darmstadt, Germany, www.chemometec.com/Renderers/ShowMedia.ashx?i= MediaArchive%3A%2FDatasheets%2FPublications%2FBIOforum_Europe_Vol4_2005.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Borenfreund, E. & Puerner, J. A. (1984) A Simple: Quantitative Procedure Using Monolayer Cultures for Cytotoxicity Assays (HTD/NR-90). J. Tissue Culture Meth., 9: 7–9.
- Bradford, M. M. (1976) A Rapid and Sensitive Method for the Quantitation of Microgram Quantities of Protein Utilizing the Principle of Protein-dye Binding. *Anal. Biochem.*, 72: 248–254.
- BRSC LDH. Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) Assay Kit, Biomedical Research Service, Buffalo, NY www.acsu.buffalo.edu/~chunglee (accessed 23/11/2010).
- Bruce, W. R. & Heddle, J. A. (1979) The Mutagenic Activity of 61 Agents as Determined by the Micronucleus, Salmonella, and Sperm Abnormality Assays. Can. J. Genet. Cytol., 21: 319–333.
- Bucana, C., Saiki, I. & Nayar, R. (1986) Uptake and Accumulation of the Vital Dye Hydroethidine in Neoplastic Cells. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 34: 1109–1115.
- Burghardt, R. C., Barhoumi, R., Doolittle, D. J. & Phillips, T. D. (1994) Application of Cellular Fluorescence Imaging for In Vitro Toxicology Testing, In: Hayes, A. W. (Ed.), *Principles and Methods of Toxicology*, Third Edition, Raven Press: New York, NY, 1231–1258.
- Burtis, C. A. & Geary, T. D. (1994) Glossary of Bioanalytical Nomenclature, Part 1: General Terminology, Body Fluids, Enzymology, Immunology. Pure & Appl. Chem., 66: 2587–2604.
- Butler, P. J. G. & Kühlbrandt, W. (1988) Determination of the Aggregate Size in Detergent Solution of the Light-harvesting Chlorophyll a/b-Protein Complex from Chloroplast Membranes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 85: 3797–3801.
- Buttke, T. M., McCubrey, J. A. & Owen, T. C. (1993) Use of an Aqueous Soluble Tetrazolium/Formazan Assay to Measure Viability and Proliferation of Lymphokine-dependent Cell Lines. J. Immunol. Methods, 157: 233–240.
- Button, D. K. & Robertson, B. R. (2001) Determination of DNA Content of Aquatic Bacteria by Flow Cytometry. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 67: 1636–1645.

- Campbell, A. K. (1988) *Chemiluminescence Principles and Applications in Biology and Medicine*, Ellis Horwood Ltd.: Chichester, UK, Chapter 5, 267–314.
- Casassa, E. F. & Eisenberg, H. (1964) Thermodynamic Analysis of Multicomponent Solutions. Adv. Protein Chem., 19: 287–395.
- Caviedes-Bucheli, J., Avendaño, N., Gutierrez, R., Hernández, S., Moreno, G. C., Romero, M. C. & Muñoz, H. R. (2006) Quantification of Lactate-Dehydrogenase and Cell Viability in Postmortem Human Dental Pulp. J. Endod., 32: 183–185.
- Cayman Acid Phosphatase. (2010) Acid Phosphatase Assay Kit, Cayman Chemical Company, Ann Arbor, MI, www.caymanchem.com/pdfs/10008051.pdf (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Cell Proliferation. (2006) Assays for Cell Proliferation Studies: Determining Cell Count, Detecting DNA Synthesis, and Measuring Metabolic Activity. *Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News*, **26**. www.genengnews.com/gen-articles/assays-for-cell-proliferation-studies/1442/ (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Cell Viability. (2008) Testing Cell Viability, OpenWetWare, openwetware.org/wiki/20.109%28S08%29: Testing_cell_viability_%28Day3%29 (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Champagne, M., Luzzati, V. & Nicolaieff, A. (1958) The Size and Shape of Bovine Serum Albumin as a Function of pH, Determined by Small-angle Scattering of X-rays. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 80: 1002–1003.
- Chapdelaine, J. M. MTT Reduction a Tetrazolium-based Colorimetric Assay for Cell Survival and Proliferation, MaxLine Application Note 5, Pharmakon Research International, Inc., Waverly, PA, www.moleculardevices.com/pdfs/maxline_05.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- CHEMICON BrdU. (2005) BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay, CHEMICON International, Inc., Temecula, CA, www.esgro-lif.com/publications.nsf/a73664f9f981af8c852569b9005b4eee/5bb86a26c7bced6c852 5730600755009/\$FILE/2750.pdf (accessed 20/4/2010).
- ChemoMetec A/S NucleoCounter NC-100. NucleoCounter® NC-100[™], ChemoMetec A/S, Allerød, Denmark, www.licor.com/bio/PDF/NC100_Brochure.pdf (accessed 4/11/2010).
- Chen, S.-J. & Chang, H.-T. (2004) Nile Red-Adsorbed Gold Nanoparticles for Selective Determination of Thiols Based on Energy Transfer and Aggregation. *Anal. Chem.*, **76**: 3727–3734.
- Cheng, D., Feng, Y. & Yan, J. (2007) Dimer of Calcein Used as Fluorescence Probe in the Determination of Proteins. *Microchim. Acta*, 157: 173–179.
- Chern, C.-S., Lee, C.-K. & Chang, C.-J. (2004) Electrostatic Interactions between Amphoteric Latex Particles and Proteins. *Colloid Polym. Sci.*, 283: 257–264.
- Cheung, H. C. (1991) Resonance Energy Transfer, In: Lakowicz, J. R. (Ed.), *Topics in Fluorescence Spectroscopy*, Volume 2: Principles, Plenum Press: New York, NY, 127–176.
- Ciesiolka, T. & Gabius, H.-J. (1988) An 8- to 10-fold Enhancement in Sensitivity for Quantitation of Proteins by Modified Application of Colloidal Gold. Anal. Biochem., 168: 280–283.
- Coco-Martin, J. M., Oberink, J. W., van der Velden-de Groot, T. A. & Beuvery, E. (1992) Viability Measurements of Hybridoma Cells in Suspension Cultures. *Cytotechnology*, 8: 57–64.
- Coder, D. M. (1997) Assessment of Cell Viability, In: Robinson, J. P., et al. (Eds.), *Current Protocols in Cytometry*, Core Publication, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: New York, NY, 9.2.1–9.2.14.
- Compton, S. J. & Jones, C. G. (1985) Mechanism of Dye Response and Interference in the Bradford Protein Assay. Anal. Biochem., 151: 369–374.
- Condie, R. M. (1981) Pure Intravenous Human and Animal Gamma Globulins. US Patent Number US4296027.
- Connolly, D. T., Knight, M. B., Harakas, N. K., Wittwer, A. J. & Feder, J. (1986) Determination of the Number of Endothelial Cells in Culture Using an Acid Phosphatase Assay. *Anal. Biochem.*, 152: 136– 140.
- Cook, J. A. & Mitchell, J. B. (1989) Viability Measurements in Mammalian Cell Systems. Anal. Biochem., 179: 1–7.
- Corey, M. J., Kinders, R. J., Brown, L. G. & Vessella, R. L. (1997) A Very Sensitive Coupled Luminescent Assay for Cytotoxicity and Complement-mediated Lysis. J. Immunol. Methods, 207: 43–51.
- Cory, A. H., Owen, T. C., Barltrop, J. A. & Cory, J. G. (1991) Use of an Aqueous Soluble Tetrazolium/Formazan Assay for Cell Growth Assays in Culture. *Cancer Commun.*, **3:** 207–212.
- Coulter, W. H. (1953) Means for Counting Particles Suspended in a Fluid. US Patent Number US2656508 (A).
- Cree, I. A. & Andreotti, P. E. (1997) Measurement of Cytotoxicity by ATP-based Luminescence Assay in Primary Cell Cultures and Cell Lines. *Toxicol. In Vitro*, 11: 553–556.
- Crouch, S. P. M., Kozlowski, R., Slater, K. J. & Fletcher, J. (1993) The Use of ATP Bioluminescence as a Measure of Cell Proliferation and Cytotoxicity. J. Immunol. Methods, 160: 81–88.
- Demchenko, A. P. (2009) Introduction to Fluorescence Sensing, Springer Science+Business Media B.V.: Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

- Demeester, J., Smedt, S. S. D., Sanders, N. N. & Haustraete, J. (2005) Light Scattering, In: Jiskoot, W. & Crommelin, D. J. A. (Eds.), *Method for Structural Analysis of Protein Pharmaceutics*, AAPS Press: Arlington, VA, 245–275.
- Diamandis, E. P. (1988) Immunoassays with Time-resolved Fluorescence Spectroscopy: Principles and Applications. Clin. Biochem., 21: 139–150.
- Diamandis, E. P. (1991) Multiple Labeling and Time-resolved Fluorophores. Clin. Chem., 37: 1486-1491.
- Diaper, J. P., Tither, K. & Edwards, C. (1992) Rapid Assessment of Bacterial Viability by Flow Cytometry. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 38: 268–272.
- Diaper, J. P. & Edwards, C. (1994) Survival of *Staphylococcus aureus* in Lakewater Monitored by Flow Cytometry. *Microbiology*, **140**: 35–42.
- Dierickx, P. J. & Van De Vyver, I. E. (1991) Correlation of the Neutral Red Uptake Inhibition Assay of Cultured Fathead Minnow Fish Cells with Fish Lethality Tests, *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 46: 649–653.
- Digital Bio Adam-MC. (2010) Adam-MC, Digital Bio, Inc., Seoul, Korea, www.nanoentek.com/ nano.asp?pnum=27 (accessed 4/11/2010).
- Dinjens, W. N. M., Tenkate, J., Lenders, M. H. J. H., Vanderlinden, E. P. M. & Bosman, F. T. (1992) Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) Immunocytochemistry by Exonuclease-III (exo-III) Digestion. *Histochemistry*, 98: 199–205.
- De Domenico, I., Vaughn, M. B., Li, L., Bagley, D., Musci, G., Ward, D. M. & Kaplan, J. (2006) Ferroportin-mediated Mobilization of Ferritin Iron Precedes Ferritin Degradation by the Proteasome. *EMBO J.*, 25: 5396–5404.
- Dorsey, T. E., McDonald, P. W. & Roels, O. A. (1977) A Heated Biuret-Folin Protein Assay Which Gives Equal Absorbance With Different Proteins. *Anal. Biochem.*, 78: 156–164.
- Dover, R. & Patel, K. (1994) Improved Methodology for Detecting Bromodeoxyuridine in Cultured Cells and Tissue Sections by Immunocytochemistry. *Histochemistry*, **102**: 383–387.
- Duinhoven, S., Poort, R., van der Voet, G., Agterof, W. G. M., Norde, W. & Lyklema, J. (1995a) Driving Forces for Enzyme Adsorption at Solid-liquid Interfaces. 1. The Serine Protease Savinase. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 170: 340–350.
- Duinhoven, S., Poort, R., van der Voet, G., Agterof, W. G. M., Norde, W. & Lyklema, J. (1995b) Driving Forces for Enzyme Adsorption at Solid-liquid Interfaces. 2. The Fungal Lipase Lipoase. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 170: 351–357.
- Elliott W. M. & Auersperg, N. (1993) Comparison of the Neutral Red and Methylene Blue Assays to Study Cell Growth in Culture. *Biotech. Histochem.*, **68**: 29–35.
- Ellis-Christensen, T. What is Cell Viability?, www.wisegeek.com/what-is-cell-viability.htm (accessed 7/7/2010).
- EMD BrdU. (2009) HTS01 BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay, HTS Bromodeoxyuridine Assay, EMD Chemicals, Inc., Gibbstown, NJ, www.emdchemicals.com/is-bin/INTERSHOP.enfinity/WFS/Merck-US-Site/en_CA/-/USD/ViewProductDetail-UserProtocolAttributes?ProductUUID=MR2b.s1OsjUA AAEipvJRV194&PortalCatalogUUID=ywGb.s1LAyMAAAEWzdUfVhTl&SelectedDocumentType= UserProtocolAttributes (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Enzo Proteostat. (2010) ProteoStat[™] Protein Aggregation Assay, Enzo Life Sciences International, Inc., Plymouth Meeting, PA, www.enzolifesciences.com/fileadmin/reports/els_b70355c91f.pdf (accessed 13/1/2011).
- Erb, R. E. & Ehlers, M. H. (1950) Resazurin Reducing Time as an Indicator of Bovine Semen Capacity. J. Dairy Sci., 33: 853–864.
- Ericsson, S. A., Garner, D. L., Redelman, D. & Ahmad, K. (1989) Assessment of the Viability and Fertilizing Potential of Cryopreserved Bovine Spermatozoa Using Dual Fluorescent Staining and Two-flow Cytometric Systems. *Gamete Res.*, 22: 355–368.
- Fetterhoff, T. J., Holland, S. P. & Wile, K. J. (1993) Fluorescent Detection of Non-viable Cells in Fixed Cell Preparations. *Cytometry A*, 14/S6: 27 (204B).
- Fields, R. D. & Lancaster, M. V. (1993) Dual-attribute Continuous Monitoring of Cell Proliferation/ Cytotoxicity. Am. Biotechnol. Lab., 11: 48–50.
- Fischer, J. M. C., Peterson, C. A. & Bols, N. C. (1985) A New Fluorescent Test for Cell Vitality Using Calcofluor White M2R. *Stain Technol.*, 60: 69–79.
- Förster, T. (1948) Zwischenmolekulare Energiewanderung und Fluoreszenz. Ann. Phys., 6: 55-74.
- Frankfurt, O. S. (1990) Flow Cytometric Measurement of Cell Viability Using DNase Exclusion. *Methods Cell Biol.*, 33: 13–18.
- Frey, T. (1995) Nucleic Acid Dyes for Detection of Apoptosis in Live Cells. Cytometry A, 21: 265-274.

- De Fries, R. & Mitsuhashi, M. (1995) Quantification of Mitogen Induced Human Lymphocyte Proliferation: Comparison of alamarBlue[™] Assay to ³H-Thymidine Incorporation Assay. J. Clin. Lab. Anal., **9**: 89–95.
- García Alvarez-Coque, M. C., Medina Hernández, M. J., Villanueva Camañas, R. M. & Mongay Fernández, C. (1989) Formation and Instability of *o*-Phthalaldehyde Derivatives of Amino Acids. *Anal. Biochem.*, **178**: 1–7.
- Garner, D. L., Johnson, L. A., Yue, S. T., Roth, B. L. & Haugland, R. P. (1994) Dual DNA Staining Assessment of Bovine Sperm Viability Using SYBR-14 and Propidium Iodide. J. Androl., 15: 620– 629.
- Geoghegan, W. D. & Ackerman, G. A. (1977) Adsorption of Horseradish Peroxidase, Ovomucoid and Anti-immunoglobulin to Colloidal Gold for the Indirect Detection of Concanavalin A, Wheat Germ Agglutinin and Goat Anti-human Immunoglobulin G on Cell Surfaces at the Electron Microscopic Level: a New Method, Theory and Application. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 25: 1187–1200.
- Georgiou, C. D., Grintzalis, K., Zervoudakis G. & Papapostolou, I. (2008) Mechanism of Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 Binding to Proteins: a Hydrophobic Assay for Nanogram Quantities of Proteins. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, **391**: 391–403.
- Gillies, R. J., Didier, N. & Denton, M. (1986) Determination of Cell Number in Monolayer Cultures. Anal. Biochem., 159: 109–113.
- Givan, A. L. (2001) *Flow Cytometry: First Principles*, Second Edition, John Wiley and Sons: New York, NY.
- Gloeckner, H., Jonuleit, T. & Lemke, H.-D. (2001) Monitoring of Cell Viability and Cell Growth in a Hollow-fiber Bioreactor by Use of the Dye Alamar Blue. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **252**: 131–138.
- Goegan, P., Johnson, G. & Vincent, R. (1995) Effects of Serum Protein and Colloid on the Alamar Blue Assay in Cell Cultures. *Toxicol. In Vitro*, 9: 257–266.
- Goodman, S. L., Hodges, G. M., Trejdosiewicz, L. K. & Livingston, D. C. (1979) Colloidal Gold Probes a Further Evaluation. Scan. Electron Microsc., 3: 619–628.
- Goodno, C. C., Swaisgood, H. E. & Catignani G. L. (1981) A Fluorimetric Assay for Available Lysine in Proteins, Anal. Biochem., 115: 203–211.
- Gornall, A. G., Bardawill, C. J., & David, M. M. (1949) Determination of Serum Proteins by Means of the Biuret Reaction. J. Biol. Chem., 177: 751–766.
- Gratzner, H. G. (1982) Monoclonal Antibody to 5-Bromo- and 5-Iododeoxyuridine: A New Reagent for Detection of DNA Replication. *Science*, 218: 474–475.
- Van Grieken, R. & De Bruin, M. (1994) Nomenclature for Radioanalytical Chemistry, Pure & Appl. Chem., 66: 2513–2526.
- Guilbault, G. G. (1975) Fluorometric Determination of Dehydrogenase Activity Using Resorufin. Method. Enzymol., 41B: 53–56.
- Guilbault, G. G. & Kramer, D. N. (1964) New Direct Fluorometric Method for Measuring Dehydrogenase Activity. Anal. Chem., 36: 2497–2498.
- Hammes, F.A. & Egli, T. (2005) New Method for Assimilable Organic Carbon Determination Using Flowcytometric Enumeration and a Natural Microbial Consortium as Inoculum. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 39: 3289–3294.
- Hänninen, P., Soini, A., Meltola, N., Soini, J., Soukka, J. & Soini, E. (2000) A New Microvolume Technique for Bioaffinity Assays Using Two-photon Excitation. *Nature Biotechnol.*, 18: 548–550.
- Härmä, H., Laakso, S., Pihlasalo, S. & Hänninen, P. (2010a) A Fluorometric Fullerenol Nanoparticle Sensor for Rapid Detection of Ionic and Non-ionic Surfactants. *Tenside, Surfactants, and Detergents*, 47: 40–42.
- Härmä, H., Laakso, S., Pihlasalo, S., Hänninen, P., Faure, B., Rana S. & Bergström L. (2010b) A Novel Multitask Nanoparticle Sensor for Rapid Detection of Trace Amounts of Ionic and Non-ionic Surfactants. *Nanoscale*, 2: 69–71.
- Harmalker, S. & Lai, K.-Y. (1997) Liquid Hand Soap and Body Wash, In: Lai, K.-Y. (Ed.), Liquid Detergents, Surfactant Science Series, Volume 67, Second Edition, Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, 451–486.
- Harris, D. A. & Bashford, C. L. (1987) Spectrophotometry & Spectrofluorimetry: a Practical Approach, Practical Approach Series, IRL Press Limited: Oxford, UK.
- Hawker, J. R., Jr. (2003) Chemiluminescence-based BrdU ELISA to Measure DNA Synthesis. J. Immunol. Methods, 274: 77–82.
- Hawkins, H. K. (1980) Reactions of Lysosomes to Cell Injury, In: Trump, B. F. & Arstila, A. V. (Eds.), Pathobiology of Cell Membranes, Academic Press: New York, NY, 252–285.
- Hayashida, O. & Uchiyama, M. (2006) Cyclophane-based Tetra(resorcinarene) as a Host for both Histone and Hydrophobic Molecular Guests. *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 47: 4091–4094.

- Held, P. (2006a) Fluorimetric Quantitation of Protein using the Reactive Compound Fluorescamine, *Nature Methods*, Application Notes. May, 2006. www.nature.com/app_notes/nmeth/2006/063006/full/ an1794.html (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Held, P. G. (2006b) Quantitation of Total Protein using OPA, *Nature Methods*, Application Notes. May, 2006. www.nature.com/app_notes/nmeth/2006/063006/full/an1781.html (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Hellman, B. & Ullberg, S. (1986) Rate of Incorporation of [3H]thymidine in Various Tissues of the Mouse: A Basis for the Evaluation of Genotoxic Effects of Chemicals. *Cell Tissue Kinet.*, **19:** 183–194.
- Hemmilä, I. A. (1991) Applications of Fluorescence in Immunoassays, Volume 117 in Chemical Analysis, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: New York, NY.
- Hemmilä, I., Mukkala, V.-M., Latva, M. & Kiilholma, P. (1993) Di- and Tetracarboxylate Derivatives of Pyridines, Bipyridines and Terpyridines as Luminogenic Reagents for Time-resolved Fluorometric Determination of Terbium and Dysprosium, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods, 26: 283–290.
- Hemmilä, I. & Harju, R. (1994) Time-resolved Fluorometry, In: Hemmilä, I., Ståhlberg, T. & Mottram, P. (Eds.), Bioanalytical Applications of Labelling Technologies, A Review of Trends and New Opportunities in Biospecific Assay, Based on the Product Offering of Wallac, an EG&G Company, Wallac Oy: Turku, Finland, 83–120.
- Hemocytometer. (2006) Counting Cells with a Hemocytometer, National Science Foundation, www.mnstate.edu/biotech/CountingCellsHemocytometer.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Höök, F. (1997) *Development of a Novel QCM Technique for Protein Adsorption Studies*, PhD Thesis, Chalmers University of Technology and Göteborg University; Göteborg, Sweden.
- Huang, C.-N., Cornejo, M. J., Bush, D. S. & Jones, R. L. (1986) Estimating Viability of Plant Protoplasts Using Double and Single Staining. *Protoplasma*, 135: 80–87.
- Huh, D., Gu, W., Kamotami, Y., Grotberg, J. B. & Takayama, S., (2005) Microfluidics for Flow Cytometric Analysis of Cells and Particles. *Physiol. Meas.*, 26: R73–R98.
- Hunter, J. B. & Hunter, S. M. (1987) Quantification of Proteins in the Low Nanogram Range by Staining with the Colloidal Gold Stain AuroDye. Anal. Biochem., 164: 430–433.
- Huschtscha, L. I., Lucibello, F. C. & Bodmer, W. F. (1989) A Rapid Micro Method for Counting Cells "in Situ" Using a Fluorogenic Alkaline Phosphatase Enzyme Assay. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol., 25: 105– 108.
- Innovatis Cedex XS. (2010) Cedex XS Analyzer, Innovatis AG, Bielefeld, Germany, www.innovatis.com/ products_cedex-xs_technical-description (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Interchim Cell Biology. Cell Biology Assays Kits, Cell Counting, Viability and Proliferation, Interchim, Montluçon cedex, France, www.interchim.com/interchim/bio/cat_bio/pdf/Cell_Biology_Cell_ Biology_kits_Cell_counting_viability.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Interchim OPA. OPA, Amine Detection Reagent, Product Description, Interchim, Montluçon cedex, France, www.interchim.com/interchim/bio/produits_uptima/tech_sheet/FT-UP02727%28OPA% 29.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Interchim UptiBlue. (2009) UptiBlue, Product Description, Interchim, Montluçon cedex, France, www.interchim.com/interchim/bio/produits_uptima/tech_sheet/FT-UP66941%28UptiBlue%29.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen AlamarBlue. (2008) AlamarBlue® Cell Viability Reagent, Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, www.groco.is/groco/upload/files/frettir_2010/alamar_ blue.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen Alexa Fluor. (2009) Alexa Fluor® Succinimidyl Esters, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp10168.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Invitrogen ATP. (2005) ATP Determination Kit (A22066), Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp22066.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen BacLight. (2004) LIVE/DEAD® BacLight Bacterial Viability Kits, Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp07007.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen Countess 1. (2009), Countess[™] Automated Cell Counter. Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, www.invitrogen.com/etc/medialib/en/filelibrary/Cell-Culture/PDFs.Par.13233.File.dat/ Countess_Manual_0909.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Invitrogen Countess 2. (2009) Comparison of automated cell counting methods: Countess™ Automated Cell Counter vs. the Coulter Counter, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, www.invitrogen.com/etc/medialib/en/filelibrary/Cell-Culture/PDFs.Par.58696.File.dat/W-082495-Cell-counting-Coulter-counter.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen Countess 3. (2009) Comparison of cell counting instrumentation: Flow cytometry vs. the Countess[™] Automated Cell Counter, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA,

www.invitrogen.com/etc/medialib/en/filelibrary/Cell-Culture/PDFs.Par.81010.File.dat/W-087247-Countess%20App-Tech%20notes_web.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).

- Invitrogen CyQUANT. (2006) CyQUANT Cell Proliferation Assay Kit, Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp07026.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen PicoGreen. (2003) RediPlate[™] 96 PicoGreen® dsDNA Quantitation Kit (R32716), Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp32716.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Invitrogen Reduced Biohazard. (2001) LIVE/DEAD® Reduced Biohazard Viability/Cytotoxicity Kit #1 (L-7013), Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/ media/pis/mp07013.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen Viability/Cytotoxicity. (2005) LIVE/DEAD® Viability/Cytotoxicity Kit *for mammalian cells*, Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/ mp03224.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Invitrogen Vitality. (2004) LIVE/DEAD® Cell Vitality Assay Kit (L34951) with C₁₂-Resazurin and SYTOX® Green Stain, Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp34951.pdf (accessed 8/7/2010).
- Israelachvili, J. & Pashley, R. (1982) The Hydrophobic Interaction is Long Range, Decaying Exponentially with Distance. *Nature*, **300**: 341–342.
- Jacobs, D. B. & Pipho, C. (1983) Use of Propidium Iodide Staining and Flow Cytometry to Measure Antimediated Cytotoxicity: Resolution of Complement-sensitive and Resistant Target Cells. J. Immunol. Methods, 62: 101–108.
- Jansen, R. S., Rosing, H., Schellens, J. H. M. & Beijnen, J. H. (2009) Protein Versus DNA as a Marker for Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Counting. Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 395: 863–867.
- Jennissen, H. P. (1981) The Binding and Regulation of Biologically Active Proteins on Cellular Interfaces: Model Studies on Enzyme Adsorption on Hydrophobic Binding Site Lattices and Biomembranes. *Adv. Enzyme Reg.*, **19:** 377–406.
- Johnson, J. E. (1995) Methods for Studying Cell Death and Viability in Primary Neuronal Cultures. *Methods Cell Biol.*, 46: 243–276.
- Jones, L. J., Gray, M., Yue, S. T., Haugland, R. P. & Singer, V. L. (2001) Sensitive Determination of Cell Number Using the CyQUANT Cell Proliferation Assay, J. Immunol. Methods, 254: 85–98.
- Jones, L. J., Haugland, R. P. & Singer, V. L. (2003) Development and Characterization of the NanoOrange® Protein Quantitation Assay: A Fluorescence-Based Assay of Proteins in Solution. *BioTechniques*, 34: 850–861.
- Kamidate, T., Maruya, M., Tani, H. & Ishida, A. (2009) Application of 4-Iodophenol-enhanced Luminol Chemiluminescence to Direct Detection of Horseradish Peroxidase Encapsulated in Liposomes. *Anal. Sci.*, **25**: 1163–1166.
- Kaneshiro, E. S., Wu, Y.-P. & Cushion, M. T. (1991) Assays for Testing *Pneumocystis carinii* Viability. J. Protozool., 38: 85S-87S.
- Kaneshiro, E. S., Wyder, M. A., Wu, Y.-P. & Cushion, M. T. (1993) Reliability of Calcein Acetoxy Methyl Ester and Ethidium Homodimer or Propidium Iodide for Viability Assessment of Microbes. J. Microbiol. Methods, 17: 1–16.
- Kangas, L., Grönroos, M. & Nieminen, A. L. (1984) Bioluminescence of Cellular ATP: a New Method for Evaluating Agents in Vitro. Medical Biology, 62: 338–343.
- Karmazsin, L., Balla, G., Szollosi, J. (1979) Cellular Esterase Activity: Estimation by Fluorescein Diacetate Hydrolysis. Acta Paediatr. Hung., 20: 249–253.
- Karrer, F. M., Reitz, B. L., Hao, L. & Lafferty, K. J. (1992) Fluorescein Labeling of Murine Hepatocytes for Identification after Intrahepatic Transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.*, 24: 2820–2821.
- Kasper, K., Kremling, C. & Geerling, G. (2008) Toxizität Neuer Benetzungs- und Konservierungsmittel in Vitro. Ophthalmologe, 105: 557–562.
- Kasten, F. H. (1993) Introduction to Fluorescent Probes: Properties, History and Applications, In: Mason, W. T. (Ed.), *Fluorescent and Luminescent Probes for Biological Activity: A Practical Guide to Technology for Quantitative Real-Time Analysis*, Biological Techniques Series, Academic Press Limited: London, UK, 12–33.
- Kelner, D. N., Wang, W. & Wang, D. Q. (2003) Protein Formulation, In: Hatti-Kaul, R. & Mattiasson, B. (Eds.), *Isolation and Purification of Proteins*, Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, 549–604.
- Kikkoman PD-10 and LUCIPAC-W. (2001) ATP Swab Tests Using Lumitester PD-10 & Lucipac-W, Kikkoman Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, www.aboatox.com/luclum.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Kjeldahl, J. (1883) A New Method of Determining Nitrogen in Organic Substances. Z. anal. Chem., 22: 366–382.

- Korzeniewski, C. & Callewaert, D. M. (1983) An Enzyme-Release Assay for Natural Cytotoxicity. J. Immunol. Methods, 64: 313–320.
- Koskinen, J. O., Vaarno, J., Meltola, N. J., Soini, J. T., Hänninen, P. E., Luotola, J., Waris, M. E. & Soini, A. E. (2004) Fluorescent Nanoparticles as Labels for Immunometric Assay of C-reactive Protein Using Two-photon Excitation Assay Technology. *Anal. Biochem.*, **328**: 210–218.
- Koskinen, J. O., Vaarno, J., Vainionpää, R., Meltola, N. J. & Soini, A. E. (2006) A Novel Separation-free Assay Technique for Serum Antibodies Using Antibody Bridging Assay Principle and Two-photon Excitation Fluorometry. J. Immunol. Methods, **309**: 11–24.
- Kricka, L. J. (1988) Clinical and Biochemical Applications of Luciferases and Luciferins. Anal. Biochem., 175: 14–21.
- Krovi, S. A., Erdogan, B., Han, G., Kim, I.-B., Bunz, U. H. F. & Rotello, V. M. (2006) Superquenching of Conjugated Polymers by Gold Nanoparticles and Recovery of Fluorescence by DNA for Sensing Applications. *Polym. Prepr.*, **47:** 599–600.
- Kubitschek, H. E. & Friske, J. A. (1986) Determination of Bacterial Cell Volume with the Coulter Counter. *J. Bacteriol.*, **168:** 1466–1467.
- Kwah, M. (2001) In Vitro Viability Assays, In: Maibach, H. I. (Ed.), Toxicology of Skin, Taylor & Francis, Inc.: Philadelphia, PA, 513–529.
- LABGEN BrdU. BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay Instructions Manual, NatuTec GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany, www.natutec.com/pdf_labgen/245-1327K1.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Lakowicz, J. R. (2006) *Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy*, Third Edition, Springer Science+Business Media, LLC: New York, NY.
- Larson, E. M., Doughman, D. J., Gregerson, D. S. & Obritsch, W. F. (1997) A New, Simple, Nonradioactive, Nontoxic in Vitro Assay to Monitor Corneal Endothelial Cell Viability. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci., 38: 1929–1933.
- Lassen, B. (1995) *Studies of Competitive Adsorption*, PhD Thesis, University of Gothenburg and Institute for Surface Chemistry: Göteborg, Sweden.
- Lau, K. R., Evans, R. L. & Case, R. M. (1994) Intracellular Cl⁻ Concentration in Striated Intralobular Ducts from Rabbit Mandibular Salivary Glands. *Pflügers Arch.*, **427**: 24–32.
- Laughton, C. (1984) Quantification of Attached Cells in Microtiter Plates Based on Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 Staining of Total Cellular Protein. *Anal. Biochem.*, **140:** 417–423.
- Layne, E. (1957) Spectrophotometric and Turbidimetric Methods for Measuring Proteins. *Method. Enzymol.*, **3**: 447–454.
- Lee, S. H., Suh, J. K. & Li, M. (2003) Determination of Bovine Serum Albumin by Its Enhancement Effect of Nile Blue Fluorescence. *Bull. Korean Chem. Soc.*, **24**: 45–48.
- Lee, V. A., Craig, R. G., Filisko, F. E. & Zand, R. (2005) Microcalorimetry of the Adsorption of Lysozyme onto Polymeric Substrates. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 288: 6–13.
- Legler, G., Müller-Platz, C. M., Mentges-Hettkamp, M., Pflieger, M. G. & Jülich, E. (1985) On the Chemical Basis of the Lowry Protein Determination. *Anal. Biochem.*, 150: 278–287.
- Life Technologies DNA Quantitation. (2010) Nucleic Acid Quantitation Assay Kits, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, www.invitrogen.com > Invitrogen Life Science > Products & Services > Kits & Assays > Nucleic Acid Quantitation Assay Kits (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Light Lab PCV. PCV (Packed Cell Volume) Tube, Light Lab, Dallas, TX, www.lightlabsusa.com/articles/ PDF%20for%20PCV%20Tubes.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Liu, J., Hsieh, Y.-Z., Wiesler, D. & Novotny, M. (1991) Design of 3-(4-Carboxybenzoyl)-2quinolinecarboxaldehyde as a Reagent for Ultrasensitive Determination of Primary Amines by Capillary Electrophoresis Using Laser Fluorescence Detection. Anal. Chem., 63: 408–412.
- Lonza ViaLight HS. (2007) ViaLight® HS Kit, High Sensitivity Cell Proliferation/Cytotoxicity Kit, Lonza Rockland, Inc., Rockland, ME, https://bcprd.lonza.com/group/en/products_services/products/catalog_ new.ParSys.0007.File0.tmp?path=eshop/IMS_DOCS/DE/DE187F2CC0DE4BF19B13001A4B525E10 .pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Lorenzen, A. & Kennedy, S. W. (1993) A Fluorescence-Based Protein Assay for Use with a Microplate Reader. Anal. Biochem., 214: 346–348.
- Löwik, C. W. G. M., Alblas, M. J., van de Ruit, M., Papapoulos, S. E. & van der Pluijm, G. (1993) Quantification of Adherent and Nonadherent Cells Cultured in 96-Well Plates Using the Supravital Stain Neutral Red. Anal. Biochem., 213: 426–433.
- Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L., & Randall, R. J. (1951) Protein Measurement With the Folin Phenol Reagent. J. Biol. Chem., 193: 265–275.
- Luchter-Wasylewska, E. (1996) Continuous Assay for Acid Phosphatase Using Phenyl Phosphate. *Anal. Biochem.*, **241:** 167–172.

- Lundin, A., Hasenson, M., Persson, J. & Pousette, Å. (1986) Estimation of Biomass in Growing Cell Lines by Adenosine Triphosphate Assay. *Methods Enzymol.*, 133: 27–42.
- Lundin, M., Elofsson, U. M., Blomberg, E. & Rutland, M. W. (2010) Adsorption of Lysozyme, β-Casein and their Layer-by-layer Formation on Hydrophilic Surfaces: Effect of Ionic Strength. *Colloid. Surface B*, 77: 1–11.
- Van Lune, H. & Ter, W. J. (2003) Method for Detecting ATP. US Patent Number US6503723.
- Luther, E. & Karnentsky, L. A. (1996) Resolution of Mitotic Cells Using Laser Scanning Cytometry. *Cytometry A*, **23**: 272–278.
- Maehara, Y., Anai, H., Tamada, R. & Sugimachi, K. (1987) The ATP Assay is More Sensitive than the Succinate Dehydrogenase Inhibition Test for Predicting Cell Viability. *Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.*, 23: 273–276.
- Maghni, K., Nicolescu, O. M. & Martin, J. G. (1999) Suitability of Cell Metabolic Colorimetric Assays for Assessment of CD4 + T Cell Proliferation: Comparison to 5-Bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU) ELISA. J. Immunol. Methods, 223: 185–194.
- Mann, F. G. & Saunders, B. C. (1975) Practical Organic Chemistry, New Impression, Longman Inc.: New York, NY, 482–497.
- Martsev, S. P., Vlasov, A. P. & Arosio, P. (1998) Distinct Stability of Recombinant L and H Subunits of Human Ferritin: Calorimetric and ANS Binding Studies. *Protein Eng.*, 11: 377–381.
- Maurer, H. R. (1981) Potential Pitfalls of [3H]Thymidine Techniques to Measure Cell Proliferation. Cell Tissue Kinet., 14: 111–120.
- MBL Live-Dead. Live-Dead Cell Staining Kit, BV-K501-100, MBL International Corporation, Woburn, MA. www.mblintl.com/sites/default/files/datasheets/BV-K501-3.PDF (accessed 7/7/2010).
- McClements, D. J. (2003) Analysis of Proteins, www-unix.oit.umass.edu/~mcclemen/581Proteins.html (accessed 24/10/2010).
- McGahon, A. J., Martin, S. J, Bissonnette, R. P, Mahboubi, A., Shi, Y., Mogil, R. J., Nishioka, W.K. & Green, D. R. (1995) The End of the (Cell) Line: Methods for the Study of Apoptosis in Vitro. Methods Cell Biol., 46: 153–185.
- McGown, E. (1999) UV Absorbance Measurements in SpectraMax Microplate Spectrophotometers, MaxLine Application Note 32, www.biocompare.com/Articles/ApplicationNote/1433/UV-Absorbance-Measurements-In-SpectraMax-Microplate-Spectrophotometers-MaxLine-Application-Note-32.html (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Mehl, J. W., Pacovska, E. & Winzler, R. J. (1949) The Amount of Copper Bound by Protein in the Biuret Reaction. J. Biol. Chem., 177: 13–21.
- MIDSCI PCV. PCV Cell Counting Tubes, Deluxe, MIDSCI Midwest Scientific, St. Louis, MO, shop.midsci.com/productdetail/M50/TP87001, shop.midsci.com/protocals/TPP%20PCV%20Biomass %20Protocol%20from%20MIDSCI.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Mirsky, A. E. & Ris, H. (1951) The Desoxyribonucleic Acid Content of Animal Cells and its Evolutionary Significance. J. Gen. Physiol., 34: 451–462.
- MoBiTec Viability/Cytotoxicity. (2007) Cell Viability and Cytotoxicity Assay & Cell Staining Reagents, MoBiTec GmbH, Goettingen, Germany, www.mobitec.de/us/products/bio/07_fluores_tec/mfp_ cell.html (accessed 8/7/2010).
- Moeremans, M., Daneels, G., & De Mey, J. (1985) Sensitive Colloidal Metal (Gold or Silver) Staining of Protein Blots on Nitrocellulose Membranes. Anal. Biochem., 145: 315–321.
- Molin, Ö., Nilsson, L. & Ånséhn, S. (1983) Rapid Detection of Bacterial Growth in Blood Cultures by Bioluminescent Assay of Bacterial ATP. J. Clin. Microbiol., 18: 521–525.
- Moravec, R. (1994) Total Cell Quantitation Using the CytoTox 96[™] Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay. *Promega Notes*, **45**: 11–14. Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/pnotes/45/ 2159d/2159d_core.pdf (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Morgan, D. M. (1998) Tetrazolium (MTT) Assay for Cellular Viability and Activity. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, 79: 179–183.
- Morris, S. M. (1991) The Genetic Toxicology of 5-Bromodeoxyuridine in Mammalian Cells. *Mutation Res.*, 258: 161–188.
- Mosmann, T. (1983) Rapid Colorimetric Assay for Cellular Growth and Survival: Application to Proliferation and Cytotoxicity Assays. J. Immunol. Methods, 65: 55–63.
- Muir, D., Varon, S. & Manthorpe, M. (1990) An Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for Bromodeoxyuridine Incorporation Using Fixed Microcultures. Anal. Biochem., 186: 377–382.
- Nachlas, M. M., Margulies, S. I., Goldberg, J. D. & Seligman, A. M. (1960) The Determination of Lactic Dehydrogenase with a Tetrazolium Salt. Anal. Biochem., 1: 317–326.
- Nakanishi, K., Sakiyama, T. & Imamura, K. (2001) On the Adsorption of Proteins on Solid Surfaces, a Common but Very Complicated Phenomenon. J. Biosci. Bioeng., **91**: 233–244.

- NanoDrop. (2009) NanoDrop, NanoDrop products, Wilmington, DE, www.nanodrop.com (accessed 1/11/2010).
- Nebe-von Caron, G., Badley, R. A. & Powell, J. R. (1994) Identification and Viability Assessment of Bacterial Species in Natural Samples by Flow Cytometry and Sorting. *Cytometry A*, 18/S7: 37 (133A).
- New Brunswick Scientific NucleoCounter. NucleoCounter® Automated Cell Counting System, Now for Mammalian Cells or Yeast, New Brunswick Scientific, Edison, NJ, www.nbsc.com/files/ NucleoCounter.pdf (accessed 4/11/2010).
- Newmark, P. (1988) Glowing Prospects for Luminescent Assays. Bio/Technology, 6: 634.
- Nexcelom Cellometer. Cellometer® Auto, Nexcelom Bioscience LLC, Lawrence, MA, www.nexcelom. com/Cellometer-Auto-T4/Auto-T4-Features.html (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Niles, A. L., Moravec, R. A., Hesselberth, P. E., Scurria, M. A., Daily, W. J. & Riss, T. L. (2007) A Homogeneous Assay to Measure Live and Dead Cells in the Same Sample by Detecting Different Protease Markers. *Anal. Biochem.*, **366**: 197–206.
- Norde, W. & Lyklema, J. (1978a) The Adsorption of Human Plasma Albumin and Bovine Pancreas Ribonuclease at Negatively Charged Polystyrene Surfaces I. Adsorption Isotherms. Effects of Charge, Ionic Strength, and Temperature. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 66: 257–265.
- Norde, W. & Lyklema, J. (1978b) The Adsorption of Human Plasma Albumin and Bovine Pancreas Ribonuclease at Negatively Charged Polystyrene Surfaces III. Electrophoresis. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 66: 277–284.
- Norde, W., Tan, W. & Koopal, L. (2008) Protein Adsorption at Solid Surfaces and Protein Complexation with Humic Acids, K-6, Fifth International Symposium ISMOM 2008, 24-28th November: Pucón, Chile.
- O'Brien, J., Wilson, I., Orton, T. & Pognan, F. (2000) Investigation of the Alamar Blue (Resazurin) Fluorescent Dye for the Assessment of Mammalian Cell Cytotoxicity. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, **267**: 5421– 5426.
- O'Brien, M. C. & Bolton, W. E. (1995) Comparison of Cell Viability Probes Compatible With Fixation and Permeabilization for Combined Surface and Intracellular Staining in Flow Cytometry. *Cytometry A*, **19**: 243–255.
- Oliver, M. H., Harrison, N. K., Bishop, J. E., Cole, P. J. & Laurent, G. J. (1989) A Rapid and Convenient Assay for Counting Cells Cultured in Microwell Plates: Application for Assessment of Growth Factors. J. Cell Sci., 92: 513–518.
- Olsen, C. (2009) Increase Your Luminescence Throughput: SpectraMax® L Multi-detector Microplate Luminometer, Drug Discovery User Forum, MDS Analytical Technologies, Inc., Sunnyvale, CA, www.moleculardevices.com/pdfs/2009DrugDiscovery/Olsen_SBS2009_Users_Meeting.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Ordway, G. A. & Garry, D. J. (2004) Myoglobin: an Essential Hemoprotein in Striated Muscle. J. Exp. Biol., 207: 3441–3446.
- Ortega-Vinuesa, J. L., Tengvall, P. & Lundström, I. (1998) Aggregation of HSA, IgG, and Fibrinogen on Methylated Silicon Surfaces. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 207: 228–239.
- Pace, C. N., Vajdos, F., Fee, L., Grimsley, G., Gray, T. (1995) How to Measure and Predict the Molar Absorption Coefficient of a Protein. *Prot. Sci.*, 4: 2411–2423.
- Page, B., Page, M. & Noel, C. (1993) A New Fluorometric Assay for Cytotoxicity Measurements in Vitro. Int. J. Oncol., 3: 473–476.
- Papadopoulos, N. G., Dedoussis, G. V. Z., Spanakos, G., Gritzapis, A. D., Baxevanis, C. N. & Papamichail, M. (1994) An Improved Fluorescence Assay for the Determination of Lymphocyte-mediated Cytotoxicity Using Flow Cytometry. J. Immunol. Methods, 177: 101–111.
- Patterson, M. K., Jr. (1979) Measurement of Growth and Viability of Cells in Culture. *Method. Enzymol.*, 58: 141–152.
- Peng, Z. G., Hidajat, K. & Uddin, M. S. (2004) Adsorption of Bovine Serum Albumin on Nanosized Magnetic Particles. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 271: 277–283.
- Perkel, J. M. (2010) Cell Counting, Featured Article, www.biocompare.com/Articles/FeaturedArticle/ 1159/Cell-Counting.html (accessed 5/7/2010).
- PerkinElmer ATPLite. (2002) ATPLite, Luminescence ATP Detection Assay System, PerkinElmer Life Sciences, Boston, MA, las.perkinelmer.com/content/RelatedMaterials/Brochures/BRO_ATPlite.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Persidsky, M. D. & Baillie, G. S. (1977) Fluorometric Test of Cell Membrane Integrity. Cryobiology, 14: 322–331.
- Peterson, G. L. (1977) A Simplification of the Protein Assay Method of Lowry et al. Which is More Generally Applicable. Anal. Biochem., 83: 346–356.

- Peterson, G. L. (1979) Review of the Folin Phenol Protein Quantitation Method of Lowry, Rosebrough, Farr, and Randall. Anal. Biochem., 100: 201–220.
- Petty, R. D., Sutherland, L. A., Hunter, E. M. & Cree, I. A. (1995) Comparison of MTT and ATP-based Assays for the Measurement of Viable Cell Number. *J. Biolumin. Chemilumin.*, **10**: 29–34.
- Phelan, M. C. & Lawler, G. (1997) Cell Counting, Current Protocols in Cytometry, Appendix 3A.
- Phillips, R. L., Miranda, O. R., You, C.-C., Rotello, V. M. & Bunz, U. H. F. (2008) Rapid and Efficient Identification of Bacteria Using Gold-nanoparticle-poly(para-phenyleneethynylene) Constructs. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 47: 2590–2594.
- Pierce Coomassie. (2010) Coomassie (Bradford) Protein Assay Kit, Instructions, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/files/2160129.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Pierce Fluoraldehyde. (2010) Fluoraldehyde[™] o-Phthalaldehyde Crystals, Instructions, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/files/0663kc9.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Pierce Fluoraldehyde OPA. (2009) Fluoraldehyde (OPA) Reagent Solution, Instructions, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/files/0662as8.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Pierce Micro BCA. (2008) Micro BCA™ Protein Assay Kit, Instructions, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/files/0412as8.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Pierce Protein Handbook. (2009) Thermo Scientific Pierce Protein Assay Technical Handbook, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/Files/1601669_PAssayFINAL_Intl.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- Pihlasalo, S. et al., unpublished data/1.
- Pihlasalo, S. et al., unpublished data/2.
- Pihlasalo, S. et al., unpublished data/3.
- Pihlasalo, S., Kirjavainen, J., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2009) An Ultrasensitive Protein Concentration Measurement Based on Particle Adsorption and Fluorescence Quenching. *Anal. Chem.*, 81: 4995–5000.
- Pihlasalo, S., Pellonperä, L., Martikkala, E., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2010) Sensitive Fluorometric Nanoparticle Assays for Cell Counting and Viability. *Anal. Chem.*, 82: 9282–9288.
- Pihlasalo, S., Kirjavainen, J., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2011) High Sensitivity Luminescence Nanoparticle Assay for the Detection of Protein Aggregation. Anal. Chem., 83: 1163–1166.
- Poole, C. A., Brookes, N. H. & Clover, G. M. (1993) Keratocyte Networks Visualised in the Living Cornea Using Vital Dyes. J. Cell Sci., 106: 685–691.
- Porter, J., Edwards, C. & Pickup, R. W. (1995) Rapid Assessment of Physiological Status in *Escherichia coli* Using Fluorescent Probes. J. Appl. Bacteriol., 79: 399–408.
- ProFoldin PSA200K. Protein Stability and Aggregation Assay, ProFoldin, Westborough, MA, www.profoldin.com/protein_stability.html (accessed 13/1/2011).
- Promega Cell Viability. (2006) Cell Viability, Chapter 4, Protocols & Applications Guide, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/paguide/chap4a4.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Promega CellTiter 96. (2009) CellTiter 96® Non-Radioactive Cell Proliferation Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb112/tb112.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Promega CellTiter-Blue. (2009) CellTiter-Blue® Cell Viability Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb317/tb317.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Promega CellTiter-Fluor. (2009) CellTiter-Fluor[™] Cell Viability Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb371/tb371.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Promega CellTiter-Glo. (2009) CellTiter-Glo® Luminescent Cell Viability Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb288/tb288.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Promega CytoTox 96. (2009) CytoTox 96® Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb163/tb163.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Promega CytoTox-ONE. (2009) CytoTox-ONE[™] Homogeneous Membrane Integrity Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb306/tb306.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Promega MultiTox-Fluor. (2010) MultiTox-Fluor Multiplex Cytotoxicity Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb348/tb348.pdf (accessed 8/7/2010).
- Promega MultiTox-Glo. (2009) MultiTox-Glo Multiplex Cytotoxicity Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb358/tb358.pdf (accessed 8/7/2010).
- Qu, J., Kohl, C., Pottek & M. Müllen, K. (2004) Ionic Perylenetetracarboxdiimides: Highly Fluorescent and Water-Soluble Dyes for Biolabeling. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 43: 1528–1531.)
- Quiquampoix, H. & Ratcliffe, R. G. (1992) A ³¹P NMR Study of the Adsorption of Bovine Serum Albumin on Montmorillonite Using Phosphate and the Paramagnetic Cation Mn²⁺: Modification of Conformation with pH. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 148: 343–352.

- Quiquampoix, H. (2000) Mechanisms of Protein Adsorption on Surfaces and Consequences for Extracellular Enzyme Activity in Soil. Soil Biochemistry, 10: 171–206.
- Ralston, E., Hjelmeland, L. M., Klausner, R. D., Weinstein, J. N. & Blumenthal, R. (1981) Carboxyfluorescein as a Probe for Liposome-Cell Interactions Effect of Impurities, and Purification of the Dye. *Biochim. Biophys. Asta*, 649: 133–137.
- Ramsden, J. J. & Prenosil, J. E. (1994) Effect of Ionic Strength on Protein Adsorption Kinetics. J. Phys. Chem., 98: 5376–5381.
- Ramsden, J. J. (2003) Protein Adsorption Kinetics, Chapter 8, In: Malmsten, M. (Ed.), *Biopolymers at Interfaces*, Surfactant Science Series, Volume 110, Second Edition, Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, 199–220.
- Rasch, E. M., Barr, H. J. & Rasch, R. W. (1971) The DNA Content of Sperm of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Chromosoma*, **33**: 1–18.
- Reinheimer, J. A. & Demkow, M. R. (1990) Comparison of Rapid Tests for Assessing UHT Milk Sterility. J. Dairy Res., 57: 239–243.
- Rhodes, R. (1996) CellTiter 96® Non-Radioactive Cell Proliferation Assays and CytoTox 96® Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay. *Promega Notes*, **59**: 50–51. Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/pnotes/59/techspk/techspk_core.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Rick, S. W. & Berne, B. J. (1997) Free Energy of the Hydrophobic Interaction from Molecular Dynamics Simulations: The Effects of Solute and Solvent Polarizability. J. Phys. Chem. B, 101: 10488–10493.
- Rising, M. M. & Yang, P. S. (1933) The Biuret Reaction: III. The Biuret Reaction of Amino Acid Amides. J. Biol. Chem., 99: 755–765.
- Riss, T. & Moravec, R. (2003) Introducing the CellTiter-Blue™ Cell Viability Assay. *Promega Notes*, 83: 10–13. Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/pnotes/83/10492_10/10492_10.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Robinson, H. W. & Hogden, C. G. (1940) The Biuret Reaction in the Determination of Serum Proteins: I. A Study of the Conditions Necessary for the Production of a Stable Color Which Bears a Quantitative Relationship to the Protein Concentration. J. Biol. Chem., 135: 707–725.
- Robson, R. M., Gall, D. E., & Temple, M. J. (1968) Determination of Proteins in "Tris" Buffer by the Biuret Reaction. Anal. Biochem., 24: 339–341.
- Roche Innovatis CASY TT. (2010) CASY TT, Roche Innovatis AG, Reutlingen, Germany, www.innovatis.com/products_casy-tt_system-features (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Roche Innovatis CASY TTC. (2010) CASY TTC, Roche Innovatis AG, Reutlingen, Germany, www.innovatis.com/products_casy-ttc_system-features (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Roche Proliferation/Viability 1. Apoptosis, Cell Death and Cell Proliferation, Third Edition, Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany, www.roche-applied-science.com/ sis/apoptosis/docs/manual_apoptosis.pdf (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Roche Proliferation/Viability 2. (2003) Cell Proliferation and Viability Measurement. *Biochemica*, 26–28, Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany, www.roche-appliedscience.com/PROD_INF/BIOCHEMI/no3_03/PDF/p26_28.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Roehm, N. W., Rodgers, G. H., Hatfield, S. M. & Glasebrook, A. L. (1991) An Improved Colorimetric Assay for Cell Proliferation and Viability Utilizing the Tetrazolium Salt XTT. J. Immunol. Methods, 142: 257–265.
- Rohringer, R. & Holden, D. W. (1985) Protein Blotting: Detection of Proteins with Colloidal Gold, and of Glycoproteins and Lectins with Biotin-conjugated and Enzyme Probes. *Anal. Biochem.*, 144: 118– 127.
- Roth, M. (1971) Fluorescence Reaction for Amino Acids, Anal. Chem., 43: 880-882.
- Roth, C. M. & Lenhoff, A. M. (2003) Quantitative Modeling of Protein Adsorption, Chapter 4, In: Malmsten, M. (Ed.), *Biopolymers at Interfaces*, Surfactant Science Series, Volume 110, Second Edition, Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, 71–94.
- Roufik, S., Paquin, P. & Britten, M. (2005) Use of High-performance Size Exclusion Chromatography to Characterize Protein Aggregation in Commercial Whey Protein Concentrates. *Int. Dairy J.*, 15: 231–241.
- Santambrogio, P., Levi, S., Arosio, P., Palagi, L., Vecchio, G., Lawson, D. M., Yewdall, S. J., Artymiuk, P. J., Harrison, P. M., Jappelli, R. & Cesareni, G. (1992) Evidence that a Salt Bridge in the Light Chain Contributes to the Physical Stability Difference between Heavy and Light Human Ferritins. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 267: 14077–14083.
- Santos, O., Nylander, T., Paulsson, M. & Trägårdh, C. J. (2006) Whey Protein adsorption onto Steel Surfaces – Effect of Temperature, Flow Rate, Residence Time and Aggregation. *Food Eng.*, 74: 468– 483.
- Sartorius Stedim PCV. VoluPAC tubes, Instructions for use, Sartorius Stedim Biotech GmbH, Goettingen, Germany, www.sartorius-stedim.com/Biotechnology/Lab_Technologies/Lab_Cell_Culture/ Disposables/Manuals/Manual_VoluPAC_SL-6124-a.pdf (accessed 4/11/2010).
- Savage, M. D., Johnson, S. E., Fujimoto, E. K., Lipton, W. E. & Horneij, I. (1998a) QuantaBlu Fluorogenic Peroxidase Substrate: the Ideal Peroxidase Substrate. *Previews*, 2: 6–9.
- Savage, M. D., King-Spengler, T. & Johnson, S. E. (1998b) QuantaBlu Fluorogenic Peroxidase Substrate Offers Rapid Data Acquisition and High Sensitivity. *Previews*, 2: 18–19.
- Schärfe, J. (2004) Electronic Cell Vitality Determinations in Comparison with the Classic Trypan Blue Assay, *BIOspektrum*, 10: 334–336.
- Schifman, R. B., Wieden, M., Brooker, J., Chery, M., Delduca, M., Norgard, K., Palen, C., Reis, N., Swanson, J. & White, J. (1984) Bacteriuria Screening by Direct Bioluminescence Assay of ATP. J. *Clin. Microbiol.*, 20: 644–648.
- Schmitz, K. S. (1990) An Introduction to Dynamic Light Scattering by Macromolecules, Academic Press: San Diego, CA.
- Scudiero, D. A., Shoemaker, R. H., Paull, K. D., Monks, A., Tierney, S., Nofziger, T. H., Currens, M. J., Seniff, D. & Boyd, M. R. (1988) Evaluation of a Soluble Tetrazolium/Formazan Assay for Cell Growth and Drug Sensitivity in Culture Using Human and Other Tumor Cell Lines. *Cancer Res.*, 48: 4827–4833.
- Seber, G. A. F. & Wild, C. J. (1989) Nonlinear Regression, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: New York, NY.
- Seliger, H. H. & McElroy, W. D. (1960) Spectral Emission and Quantum Yield of Firefly Bioluminescence. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 88: 136–141.
- Selvin, P. R. & Hearst, J. E. (1994) Luminescence Energy Transfer Using a Terbium Chelate: Improvements on Fluorescence Energy Transfer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 91: 10024–10028.
- Selvin, P. R. (2002) Principles and Biophysical Applications of Lanthanide-based Probes. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct., 31: 275–302.
- Shapiro, H. M. (1995) Practical Flow Cytometry, Third Edition, Wiley-Liss: New York, NY.
- Si, Z., Jiang, W. J., Hu, J. & Shi, G. (1997) The Determination of Ferrocene and Its Derivatives by Quenching of Fluorescence. Anal. Lett., 30: 1407–1414.
- Siejak, P. & Frąckowiak, D. (2005) Spectral Properties of Fluorescein Molecules in Water with the Addition of a Colloidal Suspension of Silver. J. Phys. Chem. B, 109: 14382–14386.
- Sieuwerts, A. M., Klijn, J. G. M., Peters, H. A. & Foekens, J. A. (1995) The MTT Tetrazolium Salt Assay Scrutinized: How to Use This Assay Reliably to Measure Metabolic Activity of Cell Cultures *in Vitro* for the Assessment of Growth Characteristics, IC₅₀-values and Cell Survival. *Eur. J. Clin. Chem. Clin.*, 33: 813–823.
- Sigma-Aldrich Acid Phosphatase. (2009) Acid Phosphatase Assay Kit, Technical Bulletin, Product Information, Sigma-Aldrich, Inc., St. Louis, MO, www.sigmaaldrich.com/etc/medialib/docs/Sigma/ Bulletin/cs0740bul.Par.0001.File.tmp/cs0740bul.pdf (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Sigma-Aldrich PCV. (2010) TPP PCV Biomass cell counter, Sigma-Aldrich, Inc., St. Louis, MO, www.sigmaaldrich.com/catalog/ProductDetail.do?lang=fi&N4=Z719919|SIGMA&N5=SEARCH_CO NCAT_PNO|BRAND_KEY&F=SPEC (accessed 4/11/2010).
- Smith, B. A., Reider, M. L. & Fletcher, J. S. (1982) Relationship between Vital Staining and Subculture Growth during the Senescence of Plant Tissue Cultures. *Plant. Physiol.*, 70: 1228–1230.
- Smith, P. K., Krohn, R. I., Hermanson, G. T., Mallia, A. K., Gartner, F. H., Provenzano, M. D., Fujimoto, E. K., Goeke, N. M., Olson, B. J. & Klenk, D. C. (1985) Measurement of Protein Using Bicinchoninic Acid. Anal. Biochem., 150: 76–85.
- Soini, E., Meltola, N. J., Soini, A. E., Soukka, J., Soini, J. T. & Hänninen, P. E. (2000) Two-photon Fluorescence Excitation in Detection of Biomolecules. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, 28: 70–74.
- Soini, J. T., Soukka, J. M., Soini, E. & Hänninen, P. E. (2002) Two-photon Excitation Microfluorometer for Multiplexed Single-step Bioaffinity Assays. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, 73: 2680–2685.
- Sorokin, C. (1973) Dry Weight, Packed Cell Volume and Optical Density, In: Stein, J. R. (Ed.), Handbook of Phycological Methods: Culture Methods and Growth Measurements, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 321–343.
- Stanley, P. E. (1986) Extraction of Adenosine Triphosphate from Microbial and Somatic Cells. *Methods Enzymol.*, 133: 14–22.
- Steinhaus, H. (1999) Mathematical Snapshots, Third Edition, Dover: New York, NY, 202.
- Stewart, N. T., Byrne, K. M., Hosick, H. L., Vierck, J. L. & Dodson, M. V. (2000) Traditional and Emerging Methods for Analyzing Cell Activity in Cell Culture, *Meth. Cell Sci.*, 22: 67–78.
- Stokes, G. G. (1852) On the Change of Refrangibility of Light. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. (London), 142: 463–562.

- Stonehart, P., Koren, J. G. & Brinen, J. S. (1968) Quantitative Electrochemical Formation of Phosphotungstate Heteropolyanion Blues. Anal. Chim. Acta, 40: 65–75.
- Storer, R. D., McKelvey, T. W., Kraynak, A. R., Elia, M. C., Barnum, J. E., Harmon, L. S., Nichols, W. W. & Deluca, J. G. (1996) Revalidation of the *in Vitro* Alkaline Elution/Rat Hepatocyte Assay for DNA Damage: Improved Criteria for Assessment of Cytotoxicity and Genotoxicity and the Results for 81 Compounds. *Mutation Res.*, 368: 59–101.
- Stoscheck, C. M. (1987) Protein Assay Sensitive at Nanogram Levels. Anal. Biochem., 160: 301-305.
- Stoscheck, C. M. (1990) Quantitation of Protein, Method. Enzymol., 182: 50-68.

Stryer, L. (1988) Biochemistry, Third Edition,, W. H. Freeman and Company: New York, NY.

- Subramaniam, S., Donevan, S. D. & Rogawski, M. A. (1994) Hydrophobic Interactions of *n*-Alkyl Diamines with the *N*-Methyl-*D*-aspartate Receptor: Voltage-Dependent and -Independent Blocking Sites. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 45: 117–124.
- Swanton, E. M., Curby, W. A. & Lind, H. E. (1962) Experiences with the Coulter Counter in Bacteriology. *Appl. Microbiol.*, **10**: 480–485.
- Szabo, S. E. (2003) Automating the Assessment of Cell Viability. *Genetic Engineering News, Daily Biotech Updates*, 23: AR-9725A. www.genengnews.com, www.coulterflow.com/bciflow/documents/instruments/Vi-Cell/Automating%20the%20Assessment%20of%20Cell%20Viability%20%28AR-9725A%29.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Ternynck, T., Portsmann, T. & Avrameas, S. (1987) Enzyme Immunoassay Using a Monoclonal Antibody against 5-Bromo-2-deoxyuridine for the Assessment of Lymphoid Cell Proliferation. *Method. Enzymol.*, **150**: 117–129.
- Thomas, O. & Burgess, C. (2007) UV-Visible Spectrophotometry of Water and Wastewater, Techniques and Instrumentation in Analytical Chemistry, Volume 27, Elsevier B.V.: Amsterdam, the Netherlands.
- Tirri, M. E., Huttunen, R. J., Toivonen, J., Härkönen, P. L., Soini, J. T. & Hänninen, P. E. (2005) Two-Photon Excitation in Fluorescence Polarization Receptor-Ligand Binding Assay. J. Biomol. Screen., 10: 314–319.
- Twentyman, P. R. & Luscombe, M. (1987) A Study of Some Variables in a Tetrazolium Dye (MTT) Based Assay for Cell Growth and Chemosensitivity. Br. J. Cancer, 56: 279–285.
- Udenfriend, S., Stein, S., Böhlen, P., Dairman, W., Leimgruber W. & Weigele, M. (1972) Fluorescamine: A Reagent for Assay of Amino Acids, Peptides, Proteins, and Primary Amines in the Picomole Range, *Science*, **178**: 871–872.
- Valanne, A., Suojanen, J., Peltonen, J., Soukka, T., Hänninen, P. & Härmä H. (2009) Multiple Sized Europium(III) Chelate-dyed Polystyrene Particles as Donors in FRET - an Application for Sensitive Protein Quantification Utilizing Competitive Adsorption. *Analyst*, **134**: 980–986.
- Valeur, B. (2002) *Molecular Fluorescence: Principles and Applications*, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH: Weinheim, Germany.
- Vaughan, P. J., Pike, C. J., Cotman, C. W. & Cunningham, D. D. (1995) Thrombin Receptor Activation Protects Neurons and Astrocytes from Cell Death Produced by Environmental Insults. J. Neurosci., 15: 5389–5401.
- Vesey, G., Narai, J., Ashbolt, N., Williams, K. & Veal, D. (1994) Detection of Specific Microorganisms in Environmental Samples Using Flow Cytometry. *Methods Cell Biol.*, 42: 489–522.
- Visser, W., Scheffers, W. A., Batenburg-van der Vegte, W. H. & van Dijken, J. P. (1990) Oxygen Requirements of Yeasts. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 56: 3785–3792.
- Vitecek, J., Adam, V., Petrek, J., Babula, P., Novotna, R., Kizek, R., Havel, L. (2005) Application of Fluorimetric Determination of Esterases in Plant Material. *Chem. Listy*, 99: 496–501.
- Vogel, A. I. & Svehla, G. (1979) Vogel's Textbook of Macro and Semimicro Qualitative Inorganic Analysis, Fifth Edition, Longman, London.
- Vorbrodt, A., Charpentier, R. & Cristofalo, V. J. (1979) Effect of Cell Density and Senescence of WI-38 Cells on Cytochemically Demonstrable Phosphatases. *Mech. Ageing Dev.*, **11**: 113–125.
- Voytik-Harbin, S. L., Brightman, A. O., Waisner, B., Lamar, C. H. & Badylak, S. F. (1998) Application and Evaluation of the AlamarBlue Assay for Cell Growth and Survival of Fibroblasts. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.*, 34: 239–246.
- Waris, M. E., Meltola, N. J., Soini, J. T., Soini, E., Peltola, O. J. & Hänninen, P. E. (2002) Two-photon Excitation Fluorometric Measurement of Homogeneous Microparticle Immunoassay for C-reactive Protein. Anal. Biochem., 309: 67–74.
- Wei, M.-T., Yang, K.-T., Karmenyan, A. & Chiou, A. (2006) Three-dimensional Optical Force Field on a Chinese Hamster Ovary Cell in a Fiber-optical Dual-beam Trap. Opt. Express, 14: 3056–3064.
- Weston, S. A. & Parish, C. R. (1990) New Fluorescent Dyes for Lymphocyte Migration Studies: Analysis by Flow Cytometry and Fluorescence Microscopy. J. Immunol. Methods, 133: 87–97.

- White, M. J., DiCaprio, M. J., Greenberg, D. A. (1996) Assessment of Neuronal Viability with Alamar Blue in Cortical and Granule Cell Cultures. J. Neurosci. Methods, 70: 195–200.
- Wild, D., Davies, C., Nix, B. & Malan, P. G. (1994) Part 1: Principles, In: Wild, D. (Ed.), *The Immunoassay Handbook*, Elsevier Ltd. & Macmillan Press Ltd.: London, UK, 3–136.
- Winckler, J. (1974) Vital Staining of Lysosomes and Other Cell Organelles of the Rat with Neutral Red. Prog. Histochem. Cytochem., 6: 1–91.
- Wong, A., Siegel, A. C., Manuel, J. & Levy, G. A. Optimization of the Kjeldahl Protein Analysis Technique, Application Note – Industrial BioDevelopment Laboratory (www.ibdl.ca), www.ibdl.ca/ Application%20Notes/Application%20Note%20-%20Kjeldahl%20Method%20Optimization.pdf (accessed 25/7/2010).
- Woźniak, B. & Dera, J. (2007) Light Absorption in Sea Water, Atmospheric and Oceanographic Sciences Library, Volume 33, Chapter 3, Mysak, L. A. & Hamilton, K. (Eds.), Springer Science+Business Media, LLC: New York, NY, 82–111.
- Wyatt, C. R., Goff, W. & Davis, W. C. (1991) A Flow Cytometric Method for Assessing Viability of Intraerythrocytic Hemoparasites. J. Immunol. Methods, 140: 23–30.
- Yang, S.-Y., Hsiung, S.-K., Hung, Y.-C., Chang, C.-M., Liao, T.-L. & Lee, G.-B. (2006) A Cell Counting/Sorting System Incorporated with a Microfabricated Flow Cytometer Chip. *Meas. Sci. Technol.*, **17**: 2001–2009.
- Yang, T.-T., Sinai, P. & Kain, S. R. (1996) An Acid Phosphatase Assay for Quantifying the Growth of Adherent and Nonadherent Cells. Anal. Biochem., 241: 103–108.
- You, W. W., Haugland, R. P., Ryan, D. K. & Haugland, R. P. (1997) 3-(4-Carboxybenzoyl)quinoline-2carboxaldehyde, a Reagent with Broad Dynamic Range for the Assay of Proteins and Lipoproteins in Solution. Anal. Biochem., 244: 277–282.
- You, C.-C., Miranda, O. R., Gider, B., Ghosh, P. S., Kim, I.-B., Erdogan, B., Krovi, S. A., Bunz, U. H. F. & Rotello, V. M. (2007) Detection and Identification of Proteins Using Nanoparticle–Fluorescent Polymer 'Chemical Nose' Sensors. *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, 2: 318–323.
- Zhang, Z. D. & Cox, G. (1996) MTT Assay Overestimates Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells Number in Culture. *Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int.*, 38: 431–436.
- Zheng, G., Guo, Y.-M. & Li, W.-H. (2007) Photoactivatable and Water Soluble FRET Dyes with High Uncaging Cross Section. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 129: 10616–10617.
- Zishka, M. D. & Nishimura, J. S. (1970) Effect of Glycerol on Lowry and Biuret Methods of Protein Determination. Anal. Biochem., 34: 291–297.
- Zolnai, A., Tóth, E. B., Wilson, R. A. & Frenyó, V. L. (1998) Comparison of 3H-Thymidine Incorporation and CellTiter 96® AQ_{ueous} Colorimetric Assays in Cell Proliferation of Bovine Mononuclear Cells. *Acta Vet. Hung.*, 46: 191–197.

APPENDIX 1: REFERENCES FOR TABLE 2

- Mann, F. G. & Saunders, B. C. (1975) *Practical Organic Chemistry*, New Impression, Longman Inc.: New York, NY, 482–497.
- 2. Stoscheck, C. M. (1990) Quantitation of Protein, *Method. Enzymol.*, 182: 50–68.
- McGown, E. (1999) UV Absorbance Measurements in SpectraMax Microplate Spectrophotometers, MaxLine Application Note 32, www.biocompare.com/Articles/ApplicationNote/1433/UV-Absorbance-Measurements-In-SpectraMax-Microplate-Spectrophotometers-MaxLine-Application-Note-32.html (accessed 2/7/2010).
- 4. Gornall, A. G., Bardawill, C. J., & David, M. M. (1949) Determination of Serum Proteins by Means of the Biuret Reaction. J. Biol. Chem., **177:** 751–766.
- 5. Robinson, H. W. & Hogden, C. G. (1940) The Biuret Reaction in the Determination of Serum Proteins: I. A Study of the Conditions Necessary for the Production of a Stable Color Which Bears a Quantitative Relationship to the Protein Concentration. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **135**: 707–725.
- Pierce Protein Handbook. (2009) Thermo Scientific Pierce Protein Assay Technical Handbook, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/Files/1601669_PAssayFINAL_ Intl.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- 7. Layne, E. (1957) Spectrophotometric and Turbidimetric Methods for Measuring Proteins. *Method. Enzymol.*, **3:** 447–454.
- Robson, R. M., Gall, D. E., & Temple, M. J. (1968) Determination of Proteins in "Tris" Buffer by the Biuret Reaction. *Anal. Biochem.*, 24: 339–341.
- 9. Zishka, M. D. & Nishimura, J. S. (1970) Effect of Glycerol on Lowry and Biuret Methods of Protein Determination. *Anal. Biochem.*, **34:** 291–297.
- 10. Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L., & Randall, R. J. (1951) Protein Measurement With the Folin Phenol Reagent. J. Biol. Chem., **193**: 265–275.
- 11. Peterson, G. L. (1979) Review of the Folin Phenol Protein Quantitation Method of Lowry, Rosebrough, Farr, and Randall. *Anal. Biochem.*, **100**: 201–220.
- Dorsey, T. E., McDonald, P. W. & Roels, O. A. (1977) A Heated Biuret-Folin Protein Assay Which Gives Equal Absorbance With Different Proteins. *Anal. Biochem.*, 78: 156–164.
- Bio-Rad DC. Bio-Rad DC Protein Assay, Instruction Manual, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, www.bio-rad.com/webroot/web/pdf/lsr/literature/Bulletin_9005.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- 14. Bradford, M. M. (1976) A Rapid and Sensitive Method for the Quantitation of Microgram Quantities of Protein Utilizing the Principle of Protein-dye Binding. *Anal. Biochem.*, **72:** 248–254.
- Georgiou, C. D., Grintzalis, K., Zervoudakis G. & Papapostolou, I. (2008) Mechanism of Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 Binding to Proteins: a Hydrophobic Assay for Nanogram Quantities of Proteins. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, 391: 391–403.
- Compton, S. J. & Jones, C. G. (1985) Mechanism of Dye Response and Interference in the Bradford Protein Assay. *Anal. Biochem.*, 151: 369–374.
- 17. Pierce Coomassie. (2010) Coomassie (Bradford) Protein Assay Kit, Instructions, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/files/2160129.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Smith, P. K., Krohn, R. I., Hermanson, G. T., Mallia, A. K., Gartner, F. H., Provenzano, M. D., Fujimoto, E. K., Goeke, N. M., Olson, B. J. & Klenk, D. C. (1985) Measurement of Protein Using Bicinchoninic Acid. *Anal. Biochem.*, **150**: 76–85.
- Pierce Micro BCA. (2008) Micro BCA[™] Protein Assay Kit, Instructions, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/files/0412as8.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Udenfriend, S., Stein, S., Böhlen, P., Dairman, W., Leimgruber W. & Weigele, M. (1972) Fluorescamine: A Reagent for Assay of Amino Acids, Peptides, Proteins, and Primary Amines in the Picomole Range, *Science*, **178**: 871–872.
- Lorenzen, A. & Kennedy, S. W. (1993) A Fluorescence-Based Protein Assay for Use with a Microplate Reader. Anal. Biochem., 214: 346–348.
- Böhlen, P., Stein, S., Dairman, W. & Udenfriend, S. (1973) Fluorometric Assay of Proteins in the Nanogram Range, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 155: 213–220.
- 23. Pierce Fluoraldehyde OPA. (2009) Fluoraldehyde (OPA) Reagent Solution, Instructions, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, www.piercenet.com/files/0662as8.pdf (accessed 2/7/2010).
- You, W. W., Haugland, R. P., Ryan, D. K. & Haugland, R. P. (1997) 3-(4-Carboxybenzoyl)quinoline-2-carboxaldehyde, a Reagent with Broad Dynamic Range for the Assay of Proteins and Lipoproteins in Solution. *Anal. Biochem.*, 244: 277–282.

- Jones, L. J., Haugland, R. P. & Singer, V. L. (2003) Development and Characterization of the NanoOrange® Protein Quantitation Assay: A Fluorescence-Based Assay of Proteins in Solution. *BioTechniques*, 34: 850–861.
- Rohringer, R. & Holden, D. W. (1985) Protein Blotting: Detection of Proteins with Colloidal Gold, and of Glycoproteins and Lectins with Biotin-conjugated and Enzyme Probes. *Anal. Biochem.*, 144: 118–127.
- Stoscheck, C. M. (1987) Protein Assay Sensitive at Nanogram Levels. Anal. Biochem., 160: 301– 305.
- Ciesiolka, T. & Gabius, H.-J. (1988) An 8- to 10-fold Enhancement in Sensitivity for Quantitation of Proteins by Modified Application of Colloidal Gold. *Anal. Biochem.*, 168: 280–283.
- Hunter, J. B. & Hunter, S. M. (1987) Quantification of Proteins in the Low Nanogram Range by Staining with the Colloidal Gold Stain AuroDye. *Anal. Biochem.*, 164: 430–433.
- Pihlasalo, S., Kirjavainen, J., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2009) An Ultrasensitive Protein Concentration Measurement Based on Particle Adsorption and Fluorescence Quenching. *Anal. Chem.*, 81: 4995–5000.
- Pihlasalo, S., Kirjavainen, J., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2011) High Sensitivity Luminescence Nanoparticle Assay for the Detection of Protein Aggregation. *Anal. Chem.*, 83: 1163–1166.
- Valanne, A., Suojanen, J., Peltonen, J., Soukka, T., Hänninen, P. & Härmä H. (2009) Multiple Sized Europium(III) Chelate-dyed Polystyrene Particles as Donors in FRET - an Application for Sensitive Protein Quantification Utilizing Competitive Adsorption. *Analyst*, **134**: 980–986.
- 33. Pihlasalo, S. et al., unpublished data/1.
- 34. Pihlasalo, S. et al., unpublished data/2.

APPENDIX 2: REFERENCES FOR TABLE 3

- 1. Allen, M., Millett, P., Dawes, E. & Rushton, N. (1994) Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity as a Rapid and Sensitive Test for the Quantification of Cell Numbers *in Vitro. Clin. Mater.*, **16**: 189–194.
- 2. Hemocytometer. (2006) Counting Cells with a Hemocytometer, National Science Foundation, www.mnstate.edu/biotech/CountingCellsHemocytometer.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Szabo, S. E. (2003) Automating the Assessment of Cell Viability. *Genetic Engineering News, Daily Biotech Updates*, 23: AR-9725A. www.genengnews.com, www.coulterflow.com/bciflow/ documents/instruments/Vi-Cell/Automating%20the%20Assessment%20of%20Cell%20Viability%20%28AR-9725A%29.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Invitrogen Countess 3. (2009) Comparison of cell counting instrumentation: Flow cytometry vs. the Countess[™] Automated Cell Counter, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, www.invitrogen.com/etc/medialib/en/filelibrary/Cell-Culture/PDFs.Par.81010.File.dat/W-087247-Countess%20App-Tech%20notes_web.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Boisen, S. (2005) Precise and Objective Cell Counting. *BIOforum Europe*, 4: 38–39. GIT VERLAG GmbH & Co. KG, Darmstadt, Germany, www.chemometec.com/Renderers/ShowMedia.ashx?i =MediaArchive%3A%2FDatasheets%2FPublications%2FBIOforum_Europe_Vol4_2005.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Nexcelom Cellometer. Cellometer® Auto, Nexcelom Bioscience LLC, Lawrence, MA, www.nexcelom.com/Cellometer-Auto-T4/Auto-T4-Features.html (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Coulter, W. H. (1953) Means for Counting Particles Suspended in a Fluid. US Patent Number US2656508 (A).
- Stewart, N. T., Byrne, K. M., Hosick, H. L., Vierck, J. L. & Dodson, M. V. (2000) Traditional and Emerging Methods for Analyzing Cell Activity in Cell Culture, *Meth. Cell Sci.*, 22: 67–78.
- Beckman Coulter Multisizer 3 Coulter Counter. Multisizer[™] 3 COULTER COUNTER®, Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, www.beckmancoulter.com/eCatalog/CatalogItemDetails.do?partNbr= 6605697 (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Harmalker, S. & Lai, K.-Y. (1997) Liquid Hand Soap and Body Wash, In: Lai, K.-Y. (Ed.), *Liquid Detergents*, Surfactant Science Series, Volume 67, Second Edition, Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, 451–486.
- Kubitschek, H. E. & Friske, J. A. (1986) Determination of Bacterial Cell Volume with the Coulter Counter. J. Bacteriol., 168: 1466–1467.
- Swanton, E. M., Curby, W. A. & Lind, H. E. (1962) Experiences with the Coulter Counter in Bacteriology. *Appl. Microbiol.*, **10**: 480–485.
- 13. Givan, A. L. (2001) *Flow Cytometry: First Principles*, Second Edition, John Wiley and Sons: New York, NY.
- 14. Hammes, F.A. & Egli, T. (2005) New Method for Assimilable Organic Carbon Determination Using Flow-cytometric Enumeration and a Natural Microbial Consortium as Inoculum. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **39**: 3289–3294.
- Huh, D., Gu, W., Kamotami, Y., Grotberg, J. B. & Takayama, S., (2005) Microfluidics for Flow Cytometric Analysis of Cells and Particles. *Physiol. Meas.*, 26: R73–R98.
- BD FACSCalibur. (2009) BD FACSCalibur Flow Cytometry System, Technical Specifications, BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, www.bdbiosciences.com/documents/FACSCalibur_FlowCytometry_ TechSpec.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Sorokin, C. (1973) Dry Weight, Packed Cell Volume and Optical Density, In: Stein, J. R. (Ed.), Handbook of Phycological Methods: Culture Methods and Growth Measurements, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 321–343.
- Light Lab PCV. PCV (Packed Cell Volume) Tube, Light Lab, Dallas, TX, www.lightlabsusa.com/ articles/PDF%20for%20PCV%20Tubes.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- MIDSCI PCV. PCV Cell Counting Tubes, Deluxe, MIDSCI Midwest Scientific, St. Louis, MO, shop.midsci.com/productdetail/M50/TP87001, shop.midsci.com/protocals/TPP%20PCV%20 Biomass%20Protocol%20from%20MIDSCI.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Bacterial Enumeration. Western Washington University, Biology Department, fire.biol.wwu.edu/ brodham/biol346_S07/labman_week4.pdf (accessed 5/7/2010).
- Schärfe, J. (2004) Electronic Cell Vitality Determinations in Comparison with the Classic Trypan Blue Assay, *BIOspektrum*, 10: 334–336.
- Roche Innovatis CASY TTC. (2010) CASY TTC, Roche Innovatis AG, Reutlingen, Germany, www.innovatis.com/products_casy-ttc_system-features (accessed 6/7/2010).

- Oliver, M. H., Harrison, N. K., Bishop, J. E., Cole, P. J. & Laurent, G. J. (1989) A Rapid and Convenient Assay for Counting Cells Cultured in Microwell Plates: Application for Assessment of Growth Factors. J. Cell Sci., 92: 513–518.
- Elliott W. M. & Auersperg, N. (1993) Comparison of the Neutral Red and Methylene Blue Assays to Study Cell Growth in Culture. *Biotech. Histochem.*, 68: 29–35.
- Patterson, M. K., Jr. (1979) Measurement of Growth and Viability of Cells in Culture. *Method. Enzymol.*, 58: 141–152.
- Laughton, C. (1984) Quantification of Attached Cells in Microtiter Plates Based on Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 Staining of Total Cellular Protein. *Anal. Biochem.*, 140: 417–423.
- 27. Bradford, M. M. (1976) A Rapid and Sensitive Method for the Quantitation of Microgram Quantities of Protein Utilizing the Principle of Protein-dye Binding. *Anal. Biochem.*, **72:** 248–254.
- Yang, T.-T., Sinai, P. & Kain, S. R. (1996) An Acid Phosphatase Assay for Quantifying the Growth of Adherent and Nonadherent Cells. *Anal. Biochem.*, 241: 103–108.
- Connolly, D. T., Knight, M. B., Harakas, N. K., Wittwer, A. J. & Feder, J. (1986) Determination of the Number of Endothelial Cells in Culture Using an Acid Phosphatase Assay. *Anal. Biochem.*, 152: 136–140.
- Vorbrodt, A., Charpentier, R. & Cristofalo, V. J. (1979) Effect of Cell Density and Senescence of WI-38 Cells on Cytochemically Demonstrable Phosphatases. *Mech. Ageing Dev.*, 11: 113–125.
- Bivic, L., A. & Arsanto, J.-P. (1987) Differential Expression of Alkaline Phosphatase and ATPase Activities in Human Colon Carcinoma Cell Line HT-29.18 During Differentiation. *Biol. Cell*, 60: 41–48.
- Guilbault, G. G. (1975) Fluorometric Determination of Dehydrogenase Activity Using Resorufin. Method. Enzymol., 41B: 53–56.
- Korzeniewski, C. & Callewaert, D. M. (1983) An Enzyme-Release Assay for Natural Cytotoxicity. J. Immunol. Methods, 64: 313–320.
- Nachlas, M. M., Margulies, S. I., Goldberg, J. D. & Seligman, A. M. (1960) The Determination of Lactic Dehydrogenase with a Tetrazolium Salt. *Anal. Biochem.*, 1: 317–326.
- Caviedes-Bucheli, J., Avendaño, N., Gutierrez, R., Hernández, S., Moreno, G. C., Romero, M. C. & Muñoz, H. R. (2006) Quantification of Lactate-Dehydrogenase and Cell Viability in Postmortem Human Dental Pulp. *J. Endod.*, 32: 183–185.
- Corey, M. J., Kinders, R. J., Brown, L. G. & Vessella, R. L. (1997) A Very Sensitive Coupled Luminescent Assay for Cytotoxicity and Complement-mediated Lysis. J. Immunol. Methods, 207: 43–51.
- Blaheta, R. A., Franz, M., Auth, M. K. H., Wenisch, H. J. C. & Markus, B. H. (1991) Basic Principles of Three Rapid Fluorochrome Assays for DNA Quantification and Cell Counting. *Transplant. Proc.*, 23: 461–463.
- Benech, H., Théodoro, F., Herbet, A., Page, N., Schlemmer, D., Pruvost, A., Grassi, J. & Deverre, J. R. (2004) Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Counting Using a DNA-detection-based Method. *Anal. Biochem.*, 330: 172–174.
- Jansen, R. S., Rosing, H., Schellens, J. H. M. & Beijnen, J. H. (2009) Protein Versus DNA as a Marker for Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Counting. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, **395**: 863–867.
- Gillies, R. J., Didier, N. & Denton, M. (1986) Determination of Cell Number in Monolayer Cultures. *Anal. Biochem.*, 159: 109–113.
- Jones, L. J., Gray, M., Yue, S. T., Haugland, R. P. & Singer, V. L. (2001) Sensitive Determination of Cell Number Using the CyQUANT Cell Proliferation Assay, *J. Immunol. Methods*, 254: 85–98.
- Adams, C. J. & Storrie, B. (1981) A Simple DNA-dependent Fluorescence Enhancement Assay for Cell Number. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 29: 326–328.
- Burghardt, R. C., Barhoumi, R., Doolittle, D. J. & Phillips, T. D. (1994) Application of Cellular Fluorescence Imaging for In Vitro Toxicology Testing, In: Hayes, A. W. (Ed.), *Principles and Methods of Toxicology*, Third Edition, Raven Press: New York, NY, 1231–1258.
- Pihlasalo, S., Pellonperä, L., Martikkala, E., Hänninen, P. & Härmä, H. (2010) Sensitive Fluorometric Nanoparticle Assays for Cell Counting and Viability. *Anal. Chem.*, 82: 9282–9288.
- 45. Pihlasalo, S. et al., unpublished data/3.
- Beit-Haemek Trypan Blue Stain. Trypan Blue Stain, Biological Industries Israel Beit-Haemek Ltd., Kibbutz Beit-Haemek, Israel, www.bioind.com/htmls/product.aspx?c0=12246&bsp=12217 (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Hellman, B. & Ullberg, S. (1986) Rate of Incorporation of [3H]thymidine in Various Tissues of the Mouse: A Basis for the Evaluation of Genotoxic Effects of Chemicals. *Cell Tissue Kinet.*, **19:** 183– 194.

- Roche Proliferation/Viability 1. Apoptosis, Cell Death and Cell Proliferation, Third Edition, Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany, www.roche-appliedscience.com/sis/apoptosis/docs/manual_apoptosis.pdf (accessed 6/7/2010).
- Muir, D., Varon, S. & Manthorpe, M. (1990) An Enzyme-Linked lmmunosorbent Assay for Bromodeoxyuridine Incorporation Using Fixed Microcultures. Anal. Biochem., 186: 377–382.
- EMD BrdU. (2009) HTS01 BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay, HTS Bromodeoxyuridine Assay, EMD Chemicals, Inc., Gibbstown, NJ, www.emdchemicals.com/is-bin/INTERSHOP.enfinity/WFS/ Merck-US-Site/en_CA/-/USD/ViewProductDetail-UserProtocolAttributes?ProductUUID=MR2b.s1 OsjUAAAEipvJRV194&PortalCatalogUUID=ywGb.s1LAyMAAAEWzdUfVhTl&SelectedDocume ntType=UserProtocolAttributes (accessed 7/7/2010).
- LABGEN BrdU. BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay Instructions Manual, NatuTec GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany, www.natutec.com/pdf_labgen/245-1327K1.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- CHEMICON BrdU. (2005) BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay, CHEMICON International, Inc., Temecula, CA, www.esgro-lif.com/publications.nsf/a73664f9f981af8c852569b9005b4eee/5bb86a26 c7bced6c8525730600755009/\$FILE/2750.pdf (accessed 20/4/2010).
- 53. Maghni, K., Nicolescu, O. M. & Martin, J. G. (1999) Suitability of Cell Metabolic Colorimetric Assays for Assessment of CD4 + T Cell Proliferation: Comparison to 5-Bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU) ELISA. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **223**: 185–194.
- 54. Hawker, J. R., Jr. (2003) Chemiluminescence-based BrdU ELISA to Measure DNA Synthesis. J. Immunol. Methods, 274: 77–82.
- Ashman, C. R. & Davidson, R. L. (1981) Bromodeoxyuridine Mutagenesis in Mammalian Cells is Related to Deoxyribonucleotide Pool Imbalance. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 1: 254–260.
- Bruce, W. R. & Heddle, J. A. (1979) The Mutagenic Activity of 61 Agents as Determined by the Micronucleus, *Salmonella*, and Sperm Abnormality Assays. *Can. J. Genet. Cytol.*, 21: 319–333.
- Voytik-Harbin, S. L., Brightman, A. O., Waisner, B., Lamar, C. H. & Badylak, S. F. (1998) Application and Evaluation of the AlamarBlue Assay for Cell Growth and Survival of Fibroblasts. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.*, 34: 239–246.
- Winckler, J. (1974) Vital Staining of Lysosomes and Other Cell Organelles of the Rat with Neutral Red. Prog. Histochem. Cytochem., 6: 1–91.
- Dierickx, P. J. & Van De Vyver, I. E. (1991) Correlation of the Neutral Red Uptake Inhibition Assay of Cultured Fathead Minnow Fish Cells with Fish Lethality Tests, *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 46: 649–653.
- Fischer, J. M. C., Peterson, C. A. & Bols, N. C. (1985) A New Fluorescent Test for Cell Vitality Using Calcofluor White M2R. *Stain Technol.*, 60: 69–79.
- 61. Borenfreund, E. & Puerner, J. A. (1984) A Simple: Quantitative Procedure Using Monolayer Cultures for Cytotoxicity Assays (HTD/NR-90). J. Tissue Culture Meth., 9: 7–9.
- 62. Löwik, C. W. G. M., Alblas, M. J., van de Ruit, M., Papapoulos, S. E. & van der Pluijm, G. (1993) Quantification of Adherent and Nonadherent Cells Cultured in 96-Well Plates Using the Supravital Stain Neutral Red. *Anal. Biochem.*, **213**: 426–433.
- 63. Mosmann, T. (1983) Rapid Colorimetric Assay for Cellular Growth and Survival: Application to Proliferation and Cytotoxicity Assays. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **65**: 55–63.
- 64. Cory, A. H., Owen, T. C., Barltrop, J. A. & Cory, J. G. (1991) Use of an Aqueous Soluble Tetrazolium/Formazan Assay for Cell Growth Assays in Culture. *Cancer Commun.*, **3:** 207–212.
- Page, B., Page, M. & Noel, C. (1993) A New Fluorometric Assay for Cytotoxicity Measurements in Vitro. Int. J. Oncol., 3: 473–476.
- Al-Nasiry, S., Geusens, N., Hanssens, M., Luyten, C. & Pijnenborg, R. (2007) The Use of Alamar Blue Assay for Quantitative Analysis of Viability, Migration and Invasion of Choriocarcinoma Cells. *Hum. Reprod.*, 22: 1304–1309.
- 67. Karmazsin, L., Balla, G., Szollosi, J. (1979) Cellular Esterase Activity: Estimation by Fluorescein Diacetate Hydrolysis. *Acta Paediatr. Hung.*, **20**: 249–253.
- Invitrogen Viability/Cytotoxicity. (2005) LIVE/DEAD® Viability/Cytotoxicity Kit *for mammalian cells*, Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/ media/pis/mp03224.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Niles, A. L., Moravec, R. A., Hesselberth, P. E., Scurria, M. A., Daily, W. J. & Riss, T. L. (2007) A Homogeneous Assay to Measure Live and Dead Cells in the Same Sample by Detecting Different Protease Markers. *Anal. Biochem.*, 366: 197–206.
- 70. Promega CellTiter-Fluor. (2009) CellTiter-Fluor[™] Cell Viability Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb371/tb371.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- 71. Campbell, A. K. (1988) *Chemiluminescence Principles and Applications in Biology and Medicine*, Ellis Horwood Ltd.: Chichester, UK, Chapter 5, 267–314.

- 72. Invitrogen ATP. (2005) ATP Determination Kit (A22066), Product Information, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp22066.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- PerkinElmer ATPLite. (2002) ATPLite, Luminescence ATP Detection Assay System, PerkinElmer Life Sciences, Boston, MA, las.perkinelmer.com/content/RelatedMaterials/Brochures/BRO_ ATPlite.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Kikkoman PD-10 and LUCIPAC-W. (2001) ATP Swab Tests Using Lumitester PD-10 & Lucipac-W, Kikkoman Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, www.aboatox.com/luclum.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- 75. Promega CellTiter-Glo. (2009) CellTiter-Glo® Luminescent Cell Viability Assay, Technical Bulletin, Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, www.promega.com/tbs/tb288/tb288.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).
- Interchim Cell Biology. Cell Biology Assays Kits, Cell Counting, Viability and Proliferation, Interchim, Montluçon cedex, France, www.interchim.com/interchim/bio/cat_bio/pdf/Cell_Biology_ Cell_Biology_kits_Cell_counting_viability.pdf (accessed 7/7/2010).
- Lonza ViaLight HS. (2007) ViaLight® HS Kit, High Sensitivity Cell Proliferation/Cytotoxicity Kit, Lonza Rockland, Inc., Rockland, ME, https://bcprd.lonza.com/group/en/products_services/products/ catalog_new.ParSys.0007.File0.tmp?path=eshop/IMS_DOCS/DE/DE187F2CC0DE4BF19B13001A 4B525E10.pdf (accessed 28/10/2010).